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The GROKE Gmup Change
(US GAAP) 2000 2007 2002 in %
Sales € million 855.5 880.8 898.3 2.0
Foreign sales % 69.0 721 74.8 -
Gross profit € million 343.3 ° 368.2 380.9 3.5
Gross profit
as percentage of sales % 40.1 41.8 42.4 -
Operating income” € million 46.4 64.9 102.1 57.3
Operating income as
percentage of sales™ % 5.4 7.3 1.4 -
EBITDA®? € million 156.4 171.5 178.5 4.7
EBITDA as percentage of sales? % 18.3 19.5 20.0 -
Cash flow from
operating activities® € million 57.3 137.9 142.7 3.5
Capital expenditures® £ million 39.6 36.7 44.8 22.1
Depreciation and amortization” € million 114.0 112.5 71.2 -36.7
Totai headcount (annual average} persons 5,865 5,956 5,806 -2.5
1} The operating result for 2002 does not include amortization of goodwill
(€ 35.4 million in 2000 and € 35.8 miltion in 2001)
2) Earnings before interest expense, income taxes, depreciation and emoriization,
extraordinary items, noncash charges and noncash financial incomefioss from derivatives
3) The cash flow from operating activities in 2001 included tax refunds of € 49.3 million
4) Capital expenditures include software
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Brand and innovation becomes a core process
New board function established
PG
GROHE pools core competencies
International manufacturing strategy
optimizes plant operations
P 38

Global presence extended
The GROHE Group's new
sales organization

P25
Excellent prospects for high potentials

A new executive development program
243
GROHE sponsors an international
architecture “Oscar”
GROHE presents the World Architecture Award
B 26




Management Board

The Management Board at GROHE has been restructured and new members have been
appeointed. With clear functional responsibilities assigned te board members, we expect
to benefit from greater efficiency and focused decision-making processes. The newly
established Brand and Innovation function underpins the growing importance of these

two factors for the Company’s future success.

We are worling toward a common goal of further expansion of GROHE as the leading

global brand and will pursue a one world, one brand strategy to achieve this.

>> We will continue to bulic on the succes
We will focus on the innovative develonm

m o

procucts and sysierms and on the rap'd expansion of the ARTICULATICN®
designer Fitings range ernd Showers and Shower Systems. <<

Peter Korfer-Schiin

58, Executive Director Brand and Innovation, Chief Executive Officer

After holding various positions and management roles in the sales and marketing
departments of leading brand name companies, Mr. Kérfer-Schiin was appointed to the
Management Board of GROHE on October 1, 1991 and given responsibility for the sales
and marketing function. In this capacity, he laid the foundation for the dynamic per-
formance of the Company’s sales and earnings by creating the complementary GROHE
Water Technology business system for which GROHE was awarded the German Market-
ing Prize in 1996. On November 1, 1998, Mr. Korfer-Schiin was appointed spokesman of
the Management Board. Since October 1, 1999, he has been the Chief Executive Officer
of the Management Board of Friedrich Grohe AG & Co. KG and of the management of
Grohe Holding GmbH.

Stephan M. Heck,
Peter Korfer-Scnin,
Detlef Spigiel,
Michael Grirm (l.t.r) | ¢




>> Our aim is 0 keep increasing our corporate value through efficient
business processes, for which SAP R/3 is being impiemented. <<

Michael Grimm

43, Executive Director Finance, Controlling and Affiliated Companies

After holding senior positions at an international accounting firm, Mr. Grimm went on
to take up numerous managing roles in the group accounting department of leading
global companies in the chemicals and pharmaceuticals industry from 1997 to 2002, the
last of which was vice president finance, in which capacity he was responsible for group
accounting and financial planning. He has been Executive Director Finance at Friedrich
Grohe AG & Co. KG and Grohe Holding GmbH since May 1, 2002.

>> We will tap further szles potential by extending our distribution net-
work horizontally and vertically. <<

Stephan M. Heck

54, Executive Director Sales

After holding various senior positions and management roles in a leading global chem-
icals company in Germany and abroad, Mr. Heck assumed responsibility for the Euro-
pean business of GROHE in 1994. Since April 1, 2002 he has been Executive Director

Sales at Friedrich Grohe AG & Co. KG and Grohe Holding GmbH, responsible for the
global sales of GROHE products.

>> Qur irternational manufacturing strategy, expansicn of the GROHE
compeience centers and practice-oriented training will allow us 10 oper-
ate even more efficiently in future. <<

Detlef Spigiel

48, Executive Director Technology and Personnel

After holding various positions and management roles in the technical, sales and per-
sonnel departments of leading companies in the automotive supplier industry, Mr.
Spigiel was appointed to the Management Board of Friedrich Grohe AG & Co. KG on
August 1, 2000. In this capacity, he is now responsible for production, logistics, indus-
trial engineering, quality management, procurement and personnel. Mr. Spigiel is the
Executive Director Technology and Personnel at Friedrich Grohe AG & Co. KG and the
Executive Director Technology at Grohe Holding GmbH.
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Fiscal year 2002 was another highly successful year for GROHE. Our global sales rose by

2% to € 898 million against the prior year. EBITDA was increased by some 5% to € 180
million, a significant improvement on the results for 2001. We have every reason to be
delighted with these results in times marked by economic downturn and difficult condi-

tions for industry.

We also achieved most of our strategic objectives in spite of this difficult economic
environment. We continued to expand the presence of the GROHE brand worldwide and
step up our international operations. We grew our business in North America and the Far
East, and generated steady growth in our European markets. Business developed espe-
cially well in the United States, Canada, China, France, Spain, Eastern Europe and the
United Kingdom. Our international success may be measured by the increase in foreign
sales as a proportion of total sales, now some 75% (2001: 72%). Just six years ago, for-
eign sales accounted for a mere 58% of total sales. This increasing globalization of our
business is in line with our strategic objectives, as future growth will primarily be

achieved abroad.

The implementation of our international manufacturing strategy marks another mile-
stone. This medium-term strategy reduces complexity at the plants and increases our
efficiency, thereby contributing to cost cutting. We are already seeing the first results of
concentrating on the core competencies of each plant, optimizing vertical manufactur-
ing, increasing production volume at certain plants and improved processes. The inte-
gration of smaller factories in Germany will also make a significant contribution to the

Company’s long-term competitiveness.

We have been successful in further extending the profitable GROHEART and Showers
and Shower Systems product groups, achieving high double-digit growth rates in both.
We have every confidence in the continued expansion of these product groups. We
achieved another of our objectives with the establishment of the new strategic product
group Kitchen Fittings in 2002 and are now excellently positioned to develop our range
in the future. Further steps to optimize the product range for bathroom fittings and san-

itary systems have been initiated and will improve market penetration.




Given the economic downturn, we were unable to achieve our goal of reporting new
growth in Germany, our home market, in 2002. The crisis-ridden construction industry
slumped further by some 10%. With sales down 7.9% in Germany, GROHE performed
better than the market but was unable to post a return to growth. We expect this situa-
tion to improve now that we have made structural changes to our sales organization in

Germany in an effort to win a greater share of the shrinking market.

GROHE has now positioned itself as a leading global brand and the market leader in
Europe. We have achieved our objective of becoming the world’s most widespread
brand of sanitary products and systems. The uncontestable presence of our products in

all of the world’s key economic areas is unique in the industry.
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Each and every GROHE employee can take pride in this achievement. Qur strength lies

in the continuity and consistency of a unique product offering, which has enabled us to
achieve a global market share of some 10%. We see GROHE as one of a kind with con-
siderable growth potential. Qutstanding quality and design have earned us an unsur-
passed reputation among end customers and professionals alike. We are also heading
toward leadership in innovation. With new products created in the last three years
accounting for more than 25% of sales, this is a goal that is within our reach. The Free-
hander® shower system and the bathroom faucet lines Tenso and Atrio are prominent

examples of such products. Further high-potential products are soon to be launched.

The Management Board completed the pianned reorganization of the Company and the
reallocation of board responsibilities in fiscal year 2002.This included creating the Brand
and Innovation function, optimizing processes and giving international sales and mar-
keting a greater regional focus. These measures form the basis for further growth,
greater profitability, faster and more efficient processes and increased market penetra-
tion. The competitiveness of GROHE has been significantly enhanced by these steps.
The Water Technology concept, which secures GROHE a unigue position in the market
for sanitary products and systems, is also being developed further.

Examples of successful branding show that - driven by high-quality products and per-
formance - strong brands can generate long-term competitive advantage. The GROHE
brand therefore cannot be valued too highly. Based on a “one world, one brand” strat-
egy we have achieved a popularity that cannot be attained by means of multiple brand-
ing strategies in conglomerates. Under the GROHE umbrella brand, we will significant-
ly extend the high-margin GROHEART designer range across other lines, and from 2003
we will establish ARTICULATION® as a premium range which sets the tone for modern
bathrcom design. Our strategy is therefore to focus on an umbrella brand in the
traditional sense. The strongest growth drivers among our product ranges will be
ARTICULATION® and the highly successful Showers and Shower Systems. Reaching our
most important target groups in future will not only depend on how we present indi-
vidual products, but on offering complete bathroom design concepts encompassing afl
sanitary elements under a strong brand. This is what our enhanced brand strategy
offers, with the reputation of GROHE for high-quality products and innovative design.




In 2003, the year of the ISH trade fair, GROHE will launch a number of trend-setting inno-

vations. The most important of these include GROHE Movario®, which brings a whole
new dimension to shower use. Movario®'s 360 degree rota head makes it the “world's
most compact shower system” In the ARTICULATION® range, we have completely
revamped our classic Chiara and can also offer Eurofresh, a new-look, modern bath-
room faucet to customers interested in our high-quality basic range. These offerings are
supplemented by a number of other new products.

The image and strength of our brand, our power of innovation, the skills and flexibility
we have in our plants, the efficiency of our global sales organization and the expertise
and motivation of our people will help us to successfully shape our future as an inde-

pendent company.
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Peter Korfer-Schiin
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>>We will drive the growth of the GROHE global brend further under 2
traditional umbrelia brand strategy. We view brand management as one of
the Company's core processes. Our new ail-encompassing ARTICULATION®

range ofers the customer innovative complete bathrocom design concepts.
np

w

Thanks to innovative R&D and state-of-the-art design, we again presentec &
wide variety of new products at the ISH 2003. <<

Evolution of the GROHE brand strategy

Enhancement of the brand

The global brand GROHE is a significant value driver for the Company. As such, it is
especially important for us to identify market trends at an early stage and to align our
brand profile with these trends for the future.The GROHE brand, which has to date been
presented as a sanitary system range with the GROHEART, GROHETEC and GROHEDAL
brand names, now requires further enhancement due to the change in the competitive
environment and the evolution of our own brand. This involves improving our competi-
tive position, continuing to strengthen the brand throughout the world’s key economic
regions and realizing additional growth.

Brand and Innovation




New umbrella brand strategy

The brands of the 1990s, which played an important role in establishing the brand strat-
egy as a core process, have now fulfilled their function of distinguishing between prod-
uct ranges. GROHEART, our designer range, is synonymous with brand value,
GROHETEC forms the brand’s core, and GROHEDAL’s integration into the GROHE brand
is complete. We have genuine specialist expertise in Kitchen Fittings, and Showers and

Shower Systems is a product portfolio that encompasses all our ranges.

We have therefore prepared to introduce an umbrella brand strategy in the traditional
sense. On the product level, we will use the core brand GROHE - the industry’s most
widespread international brand, recognized as a leading global brand - for the entire
range. At company level, we will be guided by the GROHE Water Technology concept in

all the Group’s business and public activities.

Strategic product groups will continue

In future the product ranges will be classified according to product function, each with

its own specific objective. Each product range will be part of a strategic product group
and will have its own distinctive tag line telling the customer exactly what the range

offers.

Strong growth at GROHEART

The GROHEART strategic product group surpassed our expectations in 2002. lts key
growth drivers in the past year were Atrio and Tenso, two product lines introduced in
2001, and Seabury and Geneva, which were developed especially for the US market.

We increased our sales of designer fittings and accessories by 19% to € 78 million. This --—»———«——»—w
puts this product group at almost 9% of total sales for the GROHE Group. The strongest |
growth impetus came from the United States and Eastern Europe, which now account
for more than one third of GROHEART sales. We also won substantial market shares in
Central and Southern Europe as well as in the Middle and Far East. In
Greatest growth impetus 2003 we will unveil two new products of strategic importance. We have
from the US and Eastern Europe already presented the successor to our Chiara line, which marked the
beginning of GROHEART's success at the beginning of the 1990s, at the
ISH fair. We have responded to the trend toward glass in bathroom furnishings by intro-
ducing the new glass lever models of the Taron line. Well into double-digit sales growth

is forecast for 2003 once again.




The new premium range ARTICULATION® will encompass many different lines

Trend toward complete bathroom design concepts

To an increasing degree, discerning customers not only express their personal style in
the design of their living space but also by individual coordinated bathroom furnishings
and fittings. In this market segment, a product range consisting solely of faucets, fittings
and accessories will not suffice in the long term. It is therefore up to GROHE to offer
new, sophisticated and technically advanced concepts for bathroom design and the use
of bathroom space.

The bathroom as an expression of an individual lifestyle

In 2002, we formuiated a new strategy that starts from the basic concept behind
GROHEART - “fittings to suit all styles, coordinated design with all-round compatibility ” -
and builds on this concept using the product ranges and competencies within the GROHE
Group.

10

ARTICULATION® is the comprehensive, all-encompassing premium range for bathroom
furnishing and fittings that meets the most exacting requirements. It includes designer
fittings, accessories as well as shower and sanitary systems that set standards in terms
of design and technology. By rigorously developing this sales range in the years to
come, we hope to offer our customers innovative concepts with ARTICULATION® that
will open up entirely new dimensions for bathroom furnishing and fittings. Our target
groups include architects, planners and designers as well as the discerning end cus-
tomer.

GROMHE is taking an entirely new approach to attracting customers. In January 2003, we
opened our first ARTICULATION® Plaza at the Stilwerk Disseldorf and introduced the
new concept 1o a wide audience.This met with great interest from members of the trade
and end customers alike, as it did at the I{SH trade fair in March 2003.

1 Brard and innovation




GROHETEC presents a new modern single-lever mixer at the ISH 2003

GROHETEC offers a range of high-quality bathroom fittings and special fittings for com-
mercial and public use. In 2002, GROHE achieved its strategic objective of safeguarding
the competitiveness of GROHE TEC's mass market range and defending its market posi-
tion.

Accounting for 41% of sales, GROHETEC still forms the core business of the GROHE
Group. At € 369 million, sales have remained virtually constant year-on-year, decreasing
by only 1%.The continued weakness of the German market was not fully offset by sales
increases abroad. The declining sales of thermostats and two-handle faucets for bath-
rooms was countered by an increase in sales of the Eurosmart and Eurostyle lines from
the single-lever segment and by a 9.7% increase in sales of special fittings compared
with the prior year.

We expect moderate growth for 2003, of which one of the drivers will be our new single-

lever mixer line Eurofresh, which was launched at the ISH 2003.

SanitarySystems introduces a new generation of flushing cisterns

The growth of the strategic product group SanitarySystems has been driven first and
foremost by installation systems. Alongside the Rapid and Uniset lines, GROHE has suc-

cessfully established the Rapid “Pro” modular system in the market.

Qur activities, dominated by new developments for international markets, focused in
2002 on the introduction of a new generation of flushing systems, GD 2, which is used
in combination with all the Rapid “S”, Rapid “L” and Rapid “Pro” installation systems in

dry installations and with all Uniset models.
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The launch of a number of products adapted specifically for certain countries also con-

tributed to the positive business development in the fiscal year. The strategic product
group SanitarySystems — previously GROHEDAL - can ook back on a successful year
despite the difficult conditions that continue to prevail in Germany, its main market.
Sales remained almost constant and stood at € 88 million (2001: € 89 million) or almost
10% of total sales in 2002. The product group recorded substantial

increases in sales in all foreign markets — especially in the UK, Scandi-

Product innovations
generate solid growth

navia and Eastern Europe. We expect further growth for 2003 thanks to
the ongoing improvement in our product range, additional production

innovations and a significant increase in foreign sales.

Showers and Shower Systems and the product of the year, the Freehander®

With sales up almost 9% to € 142 million, the strategic product group Showers and
Shower Systems further extended the GROHE brand’s leading market position in 2002.
This was achieved both by strengthening the core business and by introducing new
products.

The Freehander®, a perfect example of the innovative strength of GROHE, created sub-
stantial demand in the shower market. By focusing on utility, this convincing product
concept generates wide demand. It offers added convenience through its variable use as
a shower head or body spray which is surprisingly easy to handle as well as the ease of
installation thanks to its compact dimensions. As such, it has been immensely popular
with the trade and end customers alike.

The launch of the Freehander® gave the Shower Systems product group a significant
share of sales. Overall, Showers and Shower Systems account for almost 16% of total
sales for the GROHE Group. Outside Germany, all markets contributed to the upward
trend, particularly those beyond Europe’s borders. We expect to see more significant
sales growth with the Movario® shower line presented at the ISH 2003. Coupled with the
shower arm, this easily installed hand shower with a pivoting head offers new uses and
sets standards in terms of convenience and handling. It is another example of the Com-

pany’s innovative strength.

13 Brand and Innovation




New product group Kitchen Fittings with many new products

We have grouped our range of elegant and functional fittings designed for ease of han-
dling in the kitchen into one strategic product group, Kitchen Fittings. GROHE success-
fully launched a wide variety of new products in 2002: the Minta line with its fresh,
youthful design; the Eurodisc Biflow designed especially for the Middle East with a sep-
arate drinking water outlet; the Alira line catering to the continuing trend for stainiess
steel, especially in North America, and the supplementary product Europlus which offers
the option of turning off the hot or cold water, reflecting the increasing need to save time
and energy: when connected to the hot water supply, the water for the dishwasher no
longer has to be heated at great expense.

The strategic product group Kitchen Fittings, which was separated from GROHETEC in
October 2002, increased its sales by almost 6% to € 104 million, contributing 11.5% to
total sales for the GROHE Group.

Substantial sales growth was reported in North America and the Far East, the United
States being the biggest single market for kitchen fittings. Alongside the generally posi-
tive performance in most western European markets, we were able to improve our market

Sales by sirategic product group (in %)

Others (-5.5%)

Kitchen Fittings (+5.8%) /

|

\

GROHEART (+18.2%)

Showers and Shower Systems (+8.8%) \ g

SanitarySystems (-0.8%)

position in Eastern Europe, especially in Russia. We plan to introduce a new product line
in a traditional design developed especially for the North American market in 2003
and are working on further innovative product solutions that will secure growth in
kitchen fittings.

GROHETEC (-1.2%)
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State-of-the-art design through new software

Product design for the future

Design demonstrates the true value of the brand. Hence constantly enhancing the design
of our products is an important competitive factor — not least because a substantial pro-
portion of subsequent production costs are determined by the design.

We have reorganized our product development processes and redefined the points of
contact within the Company in order to meet future demands on product design. Pro-
cesses which were previously carried out in strict order, from product definition to pre-

development, design and engineering have been synchronized so that

problems can be identified and eliminated faster. High-quality design is .
one of our major competitive
In order to develop products efficiently from the outset, we have advantages

revised and considerably improved the process from conception to
product - the first time and cost-saving effects have already been achieved by closely

involving marketing and technology units in the design process at an early stage.

Investment in technology and people

Around the globe, the GROHE brand stands for the highest quality in technology and
design. In order to consolidate and build on this position, we invested not only in mod-
ernizing our entire IT structure in 2002 but also in new software and in motivating and
training our employees. The creative environment is especially important for our people:
in our GROHE Design Center, we are now one of the first companies in the world to have
new 18-inch Wacom boards on which our designers can draw in the same way as they
would be using a pen and paper. With this and our new Alias Wavefront software - the
industry standard for 3D design of complex surfaces — our staff are equipped with state-
of-the-art resources. Our clear advantage lies in connecting design, engineering and

production.

Having the courage to embark on new projects

“Soft factors” - innovation workshops and round table meetings, contacts with archi-
tects, artists and designers from various fields — always contribute fresh perspectives
and creative ideas. We cultivate openness to other views and opinions and the courage
to devise and act on new ideas as part of our corporate culture. Outstanding examples
are the Movario® hand shower and the Freehander® Jaunched in 2001, an ingenious, eas-
ily installed shower system which attracted significant attention from the market and
received a number of design prizes.

15 Brand and nnovation




Greater competitiveness achieved through reorganization of the innovation process

The market calls for flexible R&D
Globalization and an increasingly competitive market demand fast and flexible research &
development. GROHE is on the right track: we are already seeing the results from the

measures taken in the past few years, such as the reorganization of the innovation

process.

Rigorous optimization of product development

In order to maintain our innovative strength, we conduct various research projects for
the development of basic technologies — such as in the field of nanotechnology/new sur-
face properties — mainly with external institutes and universities. We keep track of new
materials developments systematically and conduct extensive testing with partners, in
order, for instance, to ensure that we meet drinking water standards, which are becom-

ing more stringent around the world.

The standardization that we continued to pursue in 2002 by using tested components,
materials and methods resuited in the desired cost improvements and reduced the risks
to the projects in guestion. Risks were further minimized by strict segregation of pre-
development and series development to meet our high demands on quality, e.g. on

product life and surface quality.

Our strategy for the selection and integration of system suppliers will provide us with
information on technological trends at an early stage so that we may take these into
account in subsequent product development. Suppliers may also be involved in the

early stages of development projects to make use of their specific expertise.
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Establishment of a knowledge management system

To optimize internal communication we have taken the first steps toward promoting
knowledge sharing and more intensive use of existing synergies, e.g. the annual R&D
meeting that was first held in 2001, attended by staff from all relevant internal develop-
ment units at GROHE. We aim for ongoing exchange of technology and experience and
the establishment and maintenance of a communication network as the fundamental

element for setting up a comprehensive knowledge management system.

Strengthening our brand profile with integrated communication

The realignment of our communication strategy plays an important role in the enhanced
brand architecture. Following the creation of the Brand and Innovation board function,
GROHE has created the organizational basis for the implementation of integrated com-
munication within the GROHE Group with the establishment of the Corporate Commu-
nication function. The functions of marketing communication, public relations and new
media are pooled in Corporate Communication. The new brand management function
will soon be added to these disciplines and will support overall communication and the
strategic alignment of brand management. Brand management will therefore become
one of the Company’s core processes.

For the benefit of the Company, the longstanding GROHE brand must be presented to
our target groups in the best possible form in this media-dominated age. Our next tasks
will be to communicate our enhanced brand strategy, to revise and implement public
relations for our target groups, to standardize the presentation of the companies of the
GROHE Group in our online communication and to establish systematic internal com-
munication structures catering to the needs of different groups of employees.

17 Brand and Innovation
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Markets
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>> While the German economy stagnated and the Eurcpean economy was
subdued in 2002, economies overseas grew strongly. Cur new sales crgani-
zation therefore focused on tapping the markets in Eastern Zurops, the US

and East Asia. We consolidated our market leadershin in Cermany with rigorous
branding and expanded our market share in all the major European countries. <<

General economic trends vary

Slight recovery possible in Germany
The German economy stagnated in 2002 with 0.2% growth in gross domestic product
(Federal Statistical Office). A slight economic upturn may be in view for 2003.

Given high unemployment and little prospect of real economic improvement, con-
sumption remains low. In the year of the introduction of the euro, consumer expendi-
ture dropped by 0.5%, reaching its lowest level since 1990. In a climate of general uncer-

tainty, investment in the building industry slumped by 5.9%.

New political decisions such as the cuts to the buyers’ grant for owner-occupied homes
and higher taxation on profits from the sale of multiple-family units had a negative

impact on the building industry.

The driving force behind the German economy continued to be exports, which grew by
2.9% in 2002.

19 Markets




Economic growth in Europe, the United States and the Far East

Other countries in Europe recorded better growth. In the euro area (including Germany),
GDP grew by 0.7%. While overall economic growth is forecast to slow down in 2003, we
expect that the effects on the building industry will be negligible. In contrast, the US

economy continued growing after a 2.3% increase in GDP in 2002.

. Growth of 2.7% is forecast for 2003.
Expansion of global

distribution led to The economy in the Far East also shows strong growth and increasing
growing foreign sales investment in the buiilding industry. GDP grew by 5.6% in Asia, with
growth in China especially high at 8.0%. The economic situation in the
Middle East has stabilized thanks to high oil prices in 2002. The emerging markets in
East Asia continue to be a high-growth region, with China as its driving force. Japan is

tagging somewhat behind with growth at a mere 1.3%.

GROHE performance by region

Increasing globalization

Overall, GROHE performed very well in a difficult global economic climate in 2002, We
were able to achieve our growth targets with constant and focused marketing. We
pushed ahead with the expansion of our global distribution, enabling us to gain a greater
share in sales abroad. While Germany's share in sales has dropped from 44% to 25%
since 1995, the share of foreign sales rose to 75% in 2002, of which non-German Euro-

pean markets accounted for 48% and overseas markets for 27%.

GROHE already has a high level of brand recognition among end customers around the
world.The GLOCAL concept for global branding consistency aims to further increase this
brand recognition. Branding, corporate design and layout will be fixed on a global level
by the head office, while copy, visuals and tag lines will be country specific, i.e. the
responsibility of local subsidiaries.

Our marketing activities focus on the horizontal and vertical expansion of distribution,
with special emphasis on Eastern Europe, the United States and our markets in East

Asia.The negative market trend in Germany has been countered by appropriate product
and brand concepts.
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Germany

The industry declines

The German market for sanitary fittings saw an unexpectedly pronounced slump of
some 10% in 2002. Industry, the specialist trade and specialist wholesalers expect little
recovery for 2003. A slight upturn in commercial properties provides a glimmer of hope.
A positive trend is also apparent in non-residential construction, while remodeling
demand is likely to dwindle further. We expect the consolidation of sanitary technology
wholesalers to continue.

GROHE builds on its market position
Thanks to the strength of the GROHE brand, we won new market shares in faucets, fit-
tings and showers in 2002. In Germany we recorded consolidated sales of over € 225

million.

We consider the reorganization of our sales and marketing to be another factor in our
success. Reorganization commenced with the formation of GROHE Deutschland Ver-
triebs GmbH in 2000 and has since been completed. We have significantly improved our
customer service and support by setting up a customer service center which fields some
1,700 calis a day. We have also

begun to target specific groups T e i o s e s

more intensively. Sales by region (in € million)

Rigorous branding
GROHE intends to extend its

market leadership in Germany | 2002 7 488 | 8o8
in 2003.To this end, we are plan- ‘ '
ning measures targeted at spe- 2001 | o 497 793 J 881
cific groups to strengthen the ‘
| | |
- . i e . !
GROHE brand, including an em- i 2000 ) o 856
i T ’ P v

phasis on architects and plan-
ners. Our new ARTICULATION®

concept is aimed at the end cus-

tomer - a lifestyle product con-

[J Germany [ Rest of Europe [0 Overseas

cept tailored especially to this

target group that we have presented at the Stilwerk Disseldorf since the inauguration of
the ARTICULATION® Plaza. Our media campaign scheduled for 2003 is directed at all
potential customers. The key elements of the campaign will be a coordinated market

and brand concept.

21 Markets



Europe

Market subdued

We expect around 2% growth in sanitary products in our European markets. The high
speed of growth seen in Eastern Europe over the last few years has flattened out,
although individual markets are still showing good rates of growth. Poiand is an excep-
tion, with growth under 1%.

The trend toward stock optimization in the wholesale trade continues.

GROHE is successful in the premium segment

GROHE achieved sales in excess of € 430 million in Europe in 2002. We won new market
shares in all major European countries. As in prior years, we were able to build on our
position as the market leader — especially thanks to our success in the premium seg-
ment. The strategic product groups of GROHEART, SanitarySystems and Showers and
Shower Systems were also the growth drivers in this region.

Having built a reputation for a high-quality brand with design-oriented and innovative
products, we have been able to stabilize prices. We were able to increase our brand
recognition among end customers and architects by making targeted use of mass media

- e.g. television commercials for the launch of Atrio.

R

Growth spurt in several western and eastern European countries

We were especially successful in Switzerland (+59%) and recorded double-digit growth
in other countries including Scandinavia {+14%) and the United Kingdom (+10%). We
also further extended our market leadership in France with 6% growth achieved by tar-
geted marketing. In Spain and Portugal, where we achieved significant growth of 9% and
7% respectively thanks to local production, the focus was on the premium segment.

We won market shares with showers and installation systems in the Netherlands and
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Belgium. In Greece, the preparations for hosting the 2004 Olympic Games have proven

to be growth drivers in project business. We recorded substantial growth of 20% in East-
ern Europe. The Russian Federation was the driving force behind this trend, while the

Ukraine and the Baltic states also saw growth.

Success to continue

The good strategic position of GROHE makes for a positive outlook for

Positive outlock for 2003
2003. We will achieve our objective of growing at a faster rate than the - GROHE to grow more

market by differentiated positioning of the brand and our success in strongly than the market

the premium segment. We will emphasize our product innovations in
the Showers and Shower Systems strategic product group. The classical success factors
of brand recognition and a strong distribution network will also be key factors.

Overseas

Highest growth rates at GROHE

In 2002, GROHE achieved the highest growth rates and sales of almost € 240 million in
its overseas business. In view of this development, the overseas market will again be
the focus of the Group's market-related investments in 2003. We are paving the way for
further growth by introducing market-specific product lines and intensifying distribution
in the United States, China and Japan.

Higher-than-average growth in North America

Market situation positive
The US market for sanitary technology performed very well, with a rise in new con-
struction and remodeling activities. The Canadian market is just as buoyant.

Geneva and Seabury exceedingly successful

GROHE generated over USD 100 million in sales in the year under review — an achieve-
ment attributable above all to the high proportion of growth in business with top cus-
tomers. The faucet lines Geneva and Seabury developed for the American market and
launched in 2001 and stainless steel kitchen fittings continued to be immensely suc-
cessful.

We intend to increase brand recognition in 2003 by targeting planners, architects and
end customers in our marketing. The IT systems were converted to SAP at the end of
2002/beginning of 2003 in order to reinforce our success factors to date - customer care
and service.
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Stable growth in the Far East

Change in consumer behavior
In the Far East, the trend has been moving toward higher-quality products since con-

sumers have begun to value bathrooms more. The combination of function, quality and

design influences the decision to buy a certain product.

Leading position for GROHE

GROHE is growing steadily in this region. The good economic conditions — coupled with

the successful expansion of our distribution network — promise even higher growth in
2003.The new GROHEART lines and the Freehander® have been very well received.They
add to the reputation of GROHE as a leading brand for top-quality innovative and design-

oriented products.

Japan’s biggest foreign brand

GROHE continued to grow robustly in Japan and significantly underpinned its position

as Japan'’s biggest foreign brand. Our brand is established as trendsetter and is the most

prestigious in Japan's high-quality designer faucet segment. This has contributed to our
gaining further market shares and is one of the main reasons why GROHE is becoming

more and more prominent in the Japanese market.

New GROHEART product lines are on display at the GROHE Design Square - our exclu-
sive showroom opened in 2002. This venue offers end customers, planners and archi-
tects a fresh look at creative bathroom design. We plan to extend distribution to Hokkai-
do, Kyushu, Aichiken and Hiroshima in 2003.

China - a highly competitive market for GROHE

China’s stable economic environment makes it the region’s growth driver. In 2002, we
recorded high double-digit growth rates in the Middle Kingdom - our most competitive
market worldwide. During the fiscal year, we commissioned our assembly plant in
Shanghai, extended the Chinese distribution network and increased our market share in

new housing construction projects.

We anticipate even stronger growth in the Chinese market in 2003. We are determined
to make full use of this growth and to enhance our brand recognition by targeted mar-
keting, for instance by increasing the number of showrooms. We also plan to expand
distribution in the Shanghai, Beijing, Chongqing and Chengdu regions, and are aiming
to lead the market in high-quality imported fittings in Hong Kong.

Successful business in the ASEAN countries
We successfully expanded our business in the countries of the ASEAN region.The econ-
omy has stabilized in this region, and demand for high-quality designer fittings and

shower systems continues to grow.




24

Volume growth in the Middle East

GROHE achieved substantial volume growth in the Middle East in 2002, with growth
driven by the GROHEART and SanitarySystems product groups. To further penetrate the
market, we have stepped up our customer relationship management activities, e.g. by
sponsoring sports events. We have established Grome Egypt in order to strengthen our
distribution in selected markets, and have boosted our operations in Turkey by opening
another branch.

New sales organization with global responsibility established

In order to expand our global presence, we have organized our sales function into seven
international sales regions. The division heads are responsible for building on our mar-
ket leadership in highly competitive markets and acquiring significant market shares in
emerging markets. In Germany, their main task is to generate more growth.

The regional division heads will work closely with an international, interdisciplinary
management team from marketing, market service, key accounts and controlling. In this
way, we will achieve greater consistency in our brand strategy and improve coordina-
tion between the subsidiaries worldwide and the central functions of the GROHE Group.

GROHE hopes that the new sales structure will bring employees closer to the market,
increase market penetration, improve staff skills and increase profitability.
Professional customer relationship management

In 2002, GROHE continued its successful marketing for specific target groups. We stan-
dardized our internet site www.grohe.com worldwide and increased our global contact
with wholesalers and retailers, the trade, planners and architects, especially in the Unit-
ed States.
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Working with the best
Our partnership with MclLaren Technology, which we continued in the year under review,

plays a key role in communication with our customers. In the MclLaren Technology Cen-
tre, GROHE has taken up the challenge posed by the architects Norman Foster & Partners,
which is to combine cutting-edge technology, functionality and aesthetic design. This
partnership enables GROHE to demonstrate its extraordinary professionalism as a com-
plete provider of sanitary products and systems. It not only involves delivering flawless
products on time but also providing expert advice for the projects. At the new head-
quarters of the McLaren Group, currently one of Europe’s largest privately financed
building developments, GROHE is responsible for the entire ultramodern water man-

agement system.

Sponsoring activities for architects and planners
Architects and planners number among the key decision-makers in construction-related
projects. We focused on this target group in 2002 by sponsoring architectural awards

and conferences:
— The World Architecture Award is presented for the world’s best new building.

— The créme de la créeme of the international architectural scene met at the World Con-
gress of Architecture 2002 in Berlin, sponsored by GROHE.

— GROHE is also the official partner of the international exhibition “New German Archi-

tecture” where outstanding building projects from the last few years are on display.

Expanding in the hotel business

Increasing consolidation means that the hotel market is dominated by fewer and fewer
large international chains. In this dynamic environment, GROHE is well on the way to
securing and extending its position as an internationally recognized hotel partner.
GROHE products have become the standard in this industry due to the brand’s reputa-
tion for exceedingly high quality. Our partners also benefit from our sales strength, our

global presence and our all-round services.

GROHE provides water supply solutions for bathrooms and public areas for hotels of
international repute. We concluded further framework agreements with international
hotel chains in 2002.
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Domestic subsidiaries

Effects of the deteriorating market trend in Germany

The business of the domestic subsidiaries AQUA, Rotter and Eggemann, which mainly
operate in the German market with 90% domestic sales, was shaped to a large extent by
the continuing decline in the German building industry. Investment in industrial con-
struction tended to be cautious, while public building was hit by massive cost cutting
measures. The consolidation of federal, state and local government budgets also pro-
duced a sharp drop in sales on the German market which the introduction of new, inno-
vative products failed to offset. We responded to the decrease in sales at our domestic
subsidiaries, down by a total of 8.5% to € 57,199 thousand (2001: € 62,492 thousand), by
making adjustments to production capacity — such as at AQUA - and cutting costs in
almost all the functions of every company.

Despite the poor economic conditions - above all in Germany - we
expect to see a certain measure of positive business development,
especially thanks to product innovations. We also plan to merge the
two companies AQUA and Rotter to pool sanitary systems expertise for
public/commercial use.

We integrated the Eggemann product series in GROHE Germany’s range at the begin-
ning of 2003, while retaining the Eggemann brand familiar to members of the trade and
specialist dealers. GROHE Germany’s distinct brand presence has thus been extended

to the business areas of protective combinations and combination service valves.

H.D. Eichelberg is responsible for the GROHE Group’s private label business. It also mar-
kets Eichelberg branded products in selected regions in Germany and abroad. Eichel-
berg was also unable to escape the poor state of the economy in Germany. Sales
dropped by a total of 5.1% to € 19,106 thousand {2001: € 20,128 thousand).

We will achieve synergies with the integration of H.D. Eichelberg’s production as a “fac-
tory within a factory” in the GROHE production at the plant in Hemer and the shipping
of Eichelberg products by the GROHE logistics center. The flexibility of production to
customer order with fast through-put times will remain. We expect positive effects on
business development from tapping new customer potential and from technical inno-

vations and extensions to existing series.
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sanitary competencies
by merging AQUA and Rotter







28

Business Development

>> Despite difficult market conditions, we achieved a further increase
in consolidated sales and EBITDA. We see future growth coming from
our Toreign markets in particular. <<

Business year 2002

Further growth in consolidated sales

Fueled by growth in our European markets outside Germany and overseas, GROHE
Group's sales grew by 2.0% to € 898 million in fiscal year 2002 despite the difficult eco-
nomic climate.The strategic product groups GROHEART, Showers and Shower Systems
and Kitchen Fittings accounted for much of the increase in consolidated sales.

Foreign sales contributed 75%. Although economic growth slowed, GROHE increased
sales by 5.5% to € 433 million in its European markets. € 371 million of this sum relates
to sales of our European marketing subsidiaries and € 62 million to direct exports from

Germany. Qur Eastern European markets performed particularly well, growing by 20.3%.

Outside Europe, GROHE increased sales by 6.4% to € 239 million, of which foreign mar-
keting subsidiaries contributed € 181 million, while direct exports, mainly to the Middle
East, accounted for € 58 million. Overseas growth was driven mainly by sales increases
in the United States.
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Operating income (in € miltion)
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Sales in Germany dropped by 7.9% to € 226 million - this decrease is largely the result
of the unexpectedly strong, continuing slump in the market. Including direct exports,
total sales for Germany and direct exports from Germany were only 2.9% down on the

prior year at € 346 million.

Further improvement in the Group's results of operations

In fiscal year 2002 GROHE achieved a gross profit of € 380.9 million, up 3.5% on the prior
year.The gross profit margin increased by 0.6%, a combined result of quantity and price
effects. Both rationalization measures and lower raw material prices had a positive effect

on margins. The strong decrease in the US dollar against the euro had a negative impact.

GROHE increased its operating income by 57.3% to € 102.1 million. Selling, general and
administrative expenses rose by 3.1% to € 235.3 million, slightly higher as a percentage
of sales (26.2%) than in the prior year (25.9%).The increase in research and development
expenses by € 4.1 million to € 24.2 million is largely due to additional staff to step up
R&D activities. Tradename amortization continues to reduce operating income by € 19.3
million. In contrast, the absence of scheduled amortization of goodwill due to a change
in accounting principles — which accounted for €35.8 million in the prior year — had a

positive impact.

Our EBITDA™ again grew at a higher rate than sales, up 4.7% to € 179.5 million, thanks
to improving operating activities — in particular through the improvement in the gross

profit margin and income from currency hedges.

* Please see page 61 for the definition of EBITDA.
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Net cash used for investing activities increased by € 7.6 million year-on-year to € 41.2

million — mainly as a result of the implementation of SAPR.

Net cash used for financing activities mainly consists of scheduled and unscheduled
repayments of bank debt. This net cash decreased to € 79.5 million {2001: € 100.0 mil-
lion) due to a special repayment made from a tax refund.

Cash flow is discussed in detail in the chapter entitled “Operating and Financial Review

and Prospects”

2001 _ 2002

Cash flow (in € million) 2000
Net cash provided by operating activities 57.3 1379 142.7
- Net 'cé'sh:used for lnvest;ﬁg activities (57.6) (33.6) 7 (41.2)
"Net cash used for financing activities (48.2) (100.0) (79.5)
Net increase (decrease) in cash
and cash equivalents (48.4) 4.0 21.0
Cash and cash equivalents as of Dec. 31 46.2 50.3 ‘ 71.3
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Net assets and financial position — scund balance sheet structure

The GROHE Group's balance sheet total decreased by € 30.2 million to € 1,322.9 million
in fiscal year 2002. Noncurrent assets decreased by a total of € 37.6 million to € 927.4 mil-

lion. This decrease was primarily due to amortization on the fair value step-up in con-

nection with the acquisition of the shares in Friedrich Grohe AG by Grohe Holding. Cur-

rent assets (excluding cash and cash equivalents) decreased by a total of € 15.0 million,

while unrestricted cash rose by € 21.0 million to € 71.3 million.
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Beaiamce sheet structure (in %), balance sheet total in £ million
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Current and noncurrent liabilities decreased during the fiscal year, down € 42.0 million
to € 1,169.5 million, due above all to the repayment of bank debt of € 79.7 million. An
increase in shareholder loans from accrued interest by € 17.8 million and a rise in trade
payables, other current liabilities and accrued expenses by a total of € 18.0 million had

the opposite effect.

Equity increased by € 11.6 million to € 151.4 million, and the equity ratio rose to 11.4%
(2001: 10.3%).

In March and April 2003 GROHE refinanced bank toans and operating credit lines grant-
ed to certain subsidiaries, and shareholder loans to Grohe Holding, including those from
related parties, of a total volume of € 600 million. € 550 million of this amount involved
the repayment of existing loans and shareholder loans and € 50 million related to the

provision of a new operating credit line.

We took this step partly in preparation for a potential stock market flotation within the
next two years. Apart from better interest margins, the refinancing ailso increases our

flexibility for acquisitions or further borrowings.

Qutlook and forecast for 2003

Foreign business secures moderate growth

In a global economic climate that is expected to remain difficult, we are confident that
GROHE will achieve moderate sales growth and satisfactory results in 2003 thanks to its

international presence.
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Our strategic steps in 2003 will focus on the expansion of our international organization.

We are paving the way for further growth with the regional realignment of our global
network, which commenced in 2002. We will pursue the expansion of our product distri-
bution, concentrating on the United States, Eastern Europe, Japan, China and India. We
will tap the Chinese market in particular by opening new sales offices. We are working at
top speed with our sales partners in India to launch our products on the subcontinent.
We also plan to extend our range by developing further product lines for specific mar-
kets. This will allow us to meet the increasing demands of discerning customers and to

set ourselves apart from the competition.

We will pool the core competencies of our production plants — and achieve optimized
vertical manufacturing — by pressing ahead with the implementation of our medium-
term international manufacturing strategy. This will increase the volume of production
abroad. We intend to more than double production capacity at our Portuguese plant from

2003.This should help to secure future growth in a highly competitive environment.

We will use GROHE as an umbrelia brand in future, significantly extending the high-mar-
gin designer range GROHEART across the board and launching the premium range
ARTICULATION® from 2003. Within the product ranges themselves, we expect to see
higher-than-average growth continue for designer fittings and accessories, Showers and
Shower Systems and the new strategic product group Kitchen Fittings, established in
2002.

Investments, R&D and ongoing training for future success

To secure our growth we plan to invest some € 45 million in 2003. In addition to invest-
ments in replacement tangible assets, we will channel significant levels of funds into
rationalization and extension of capacity. We will also invest in the recrganization of our
IT systems.

In response to tougher competition as a result of globalization, we will undertake exten-
sive research and development activities, particularly with a view to continuously devel-
oping our product ranges.To boost our innovative strength further, we will continue with
basic development, working to an increasing degree on product applications that will

meet water standards that are becoming increasingly stringent around the world.

Well-trained people are the key to our success. We will continue our successful training
policy in 2003 - as part of the personnel development plan introduced in 2002 and the
GROHE qualification model - and give our employees both theoretical and practical
training to prepare them for the challenges that lie ahead.
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Production

Central foundry Machining using NC technology

0.

>> GROHE increased procuction by 8.6% in 2002, cnce again achieving higHhuor
productivity at the same time. The restructuring of manufacturing under the
international manufacturing strategy secures our future growth. We have also
introduced many optimization measures - from a general process-oriented
management system to the certification of all major planis in Cermany and
the strategic realignment of procuremeant. <<

Increase in production

During the fiscal year, GROHE, with its 2,977 plant employees (down 170 on 2001) once
again increased production, by 6.6% compared to 2001. We manufactured more than
9 million fittings: 3.5 million traditional faucets, 4.6 million one-hand mixers, almost one
million thermostats, 3.5 million showers and shower systems and almost 3 million units
for filling systems, WC flushing valves, discharge valves and urinal flush valves.

Increase in productivity continues

GROHE continued to build on the progress made in productivity in prior years by con-
stantly optimizing processes and product engineering. Rationalization effects came to
around € 12 million in 2002 and we have achieved rationalization effects of almost € 81
million over the last eight years. The additional contribution made by our motivated
employees deserves special mention: over 7,100 suggestions were submitted as part of

the employee suggestion scheme, saving us € 2.4 million - an all-time record.
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We make targeted investments in our rationalization programs - in 2002 we invested
€ 36.5 million (2001: € 32.5 million) in tangible assets, focusing on new products and the
modernization and expansion of production facilities. Further major rationalization pro-
jects have been initiated, and we plan to invest some € 39 million in tangible assets in

2003. We also plan to continue with the successful restructuring of the IT systems.

International manufacturing strategy promotes future growth
In order to secure future growth for GROHE in an environment characterized by increas-
ing international competition, we have ~ supported by the Boston Consulting Group

(BCQG) - initiated the strategic reorganization of our manufacturing.

The new GROHE international manufacturing strategy is essentially based on the core
competencies of the plants, optimized vertical manufacturing and the segmentation of

the product range which has already taken place. The processes within and between the

plants are enhanced by the concentration of production processes at specialized locations.

We effectively implemented this long-term strategy during the third quarter of 2002 and
successfully completed the integration of H.D. Eichelberg’s production as a “factory
within a factory” at the Hemer plant. In doing so, we were able to offer all of the former
Iserlohn employees new positions in Hemer.

We plan to invest over € 34 million in total in all our plants as part of the reorganization
of our international manufacturing strategy. Most of this investment will be spent on

employee training.

New focus for our group plants

The GROHE Group had twelve plants worldwide in 2002, of which eight were located in
Germany. In addition to the three large plants in Hemer, Lahr and Porta Westfalica, our
plant in Portugal plays a special role in our strategic considerations: we aim to more
than double production capacity here from 2003 onwards.

While we are expanding the plants in Canada, Thailand and China in
Strategic realignment order to underpin our growth in these markets by means of a broad and
eptimizes production customer-oriented production base, we are integrating the production of

the smaller Haldensleben and Eggemann factories with the large plants.



Pre-production casting and machining for the entire Group are concentrated in the main

plant in Hemer and in Portugal, with the Hemer plant focusing on the production of
GROHE TEC products. The Lahr plant plans to build on its surface work and plastic pro-
cessing competencies - above all for GROHEART products, the Kitchen Fittings product
group and showers.

The Herzberg plant will assume sole responsibility in future for supplying the growth
market of shower systems due to the high level of assembly competency at this loca-
tion. Porta Westfalica will remain our center of competency for sanitary systems and the
assembly of electronic fittings.

Tool management Part of the |uily autome.2d giinding line

36

Certification, best practice and KAIZEN for top quality

The quality of our products and services is a fundamental strength of the GROHE brand.
In order to further expand our position as a global brand, we initiated a comprehensive
process-oriented management system for the entire organization in 2002 and received
certification under the new ISO 9001:2000 standard for all our major German plants. The

international plants are being prepared for the extended certification of the Group in 2003.

We use the “best practice” concept to further optimize quality: this involves a continu-
ous improvement process within the team which, also under the umbrella of quality

management, aims to achieve flawless production processes as far as possible.

37 Production



Following the indisputable successes of the first projects initiated under the “just-in-

time” concept, we decided to set up a central coordination unit to supervise larger

KAIZEN projects for all production locations.

Nonconformance cost ratio down 10% thanks to Q 2000+

For the third year running, excellent suggestions were made by an ever-increasing num-
ber of participants in the GROHE quality promotion program Q 2000+. In spring 2002,
the Management Board awarded three prizes in the “Clever ldea’; “High Benefit” and
“Best Team”categories. The cross-divisional and cross-plant working group “foundry
processes” was named best team. Ten employees in this group reduced the nonconfor-

mance costs in their division in 2001 by some 30% or € 600 thousand.

Thanks to the projects and measures initiated for process and product improvement, the

nonconformance cost ratio in the plants was down 10% on the prior year.

Automatea grinding and brushing of stainless sieel componenis

Fully automated assembly ¢/ ong-hand . ~ixer cariridges

Logistics - faster material flow reduces costs

In spite of the increase in sales and the simultaneous improvement in customer service,
we managed to reduce inventories by an annual average of 5% in the production sites
and global distribution warehouses thanks to a faster direct material flow.

Logistics work in 2002 centered on the preparation of our processes for the forthcoming
implementation of SAP R/3, the tapping of rationalization potential which will allow the
distribution centers to increase sales on the basis of existing resources, and the highly
successful implementation of the KAIZEN project in the shipping department of the

logistics center.

We are confident that the measures introduced to improve volume planning will pro-
duce positive results. A team from sales and logistics has succeeded in presenting our
projections on a new systematic basis. This will allow us to improve product availability

in future and will also give us new scope in terms of reducing inventories.
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Strategic realignment of procurement

We have realigned our procurement strategy in order to support all the plants, locations
and division with “best in class” purchasing decisions for all materials, products,
machinery, equipment, investments and services required.

This strategy is based on the four pillars of organization, cost optimiza- Optimal utilization

tion, supplier co-development and quality assurance and strengthens of synergies for
procurement velumes

the connection between the decentralized units and the central pro-
curement function. With a view to establishing a smaller and optimized
supplier base, we plan to introduce a standard evaluation process which will allow us to
select the partners to collaborate with on simultaneous engineering to develop new
technologies. This will allow us to develop the organization in a global environment and
ensure that GROHE will be able to optimally exploit synergies for the procurement vol-
ume of € 400 million.

We have already initiated the first projects on supplier co-development and process
qualification with our A suppliers.

We have started to implement a standard e-procurement process to support and integrate
the procurement processes in the GROHE Group. GROHE employees may now, in accord-
ance with defined guidelines and instructions based on the framework agreements
concluded by the central procurement function, independently buy certain products.

Shorter internal lead and procurement times and lower process costs ensure that value
added is high and that the entire procurement process can be managed centrally. In line
with our procurement strategy, this system is due to be introduced at all locations.

Apart from stepping up our procurement activities in low-wage countries and in the
emerging markets of Asia, we have created a new “total cost management” function in
order to optimize costs further. The aim of this new function is to implement a system-
atic process enabling us to analyze the entire value-added chain in conjunction with our
suppliers.

During the fiscal year, we reduced procurement costs by 3.8% - especially for metallic

raw materials — through targeted measures and long-term agreements with suppliers.
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Employees
and Environmental
Protection

>> GROHE is commitied to the concept of sustainabkility ~ abeove all, this

©

means providing employees with extensive welfare services anc conserving
natural rescurces. <<

Employees

Our employees are our greatest asset

Our employees are our greatest asset — GROHE owes its success to their commitment,
creativity and expertise. The successful implementation of our corporate strategy

depends on our ability to recruit and develop qualified and motivated staff.

In aiming to further expand our excellent market position, we develop and support our
employees through various means - for example, by our company pension scheme
based on employee contributions and by promoting their health and continuous pro-

fessional development.

Metal workers’ company pensicn scheme

The social security reform gives all employed persons in Germany, GROHE employees
included, the opportunity to supplement their state pension with an additional personal
pension. GROHE offers its employees the option to join a metal workers’ pension
scheme under which they contribute a percentage of their pay to the scheme. We have
set out the terms of this pension scheme in a group works agreement prepared in col-
laboration with the works council.
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Our employees can choose the type of pension best suited to their personal circum-
stances from the direct insurance and pension fund alternatives - the first metal work-

ers’ pension agreements were concluded at the end of 2002.

Absenteeism down significantly thanks to the employee health promotion scheme

With advice from external consultants, GROHE initiated an employee health promotion
scheme at the Hemer plant at the end of 1999.This scheme is designed to reduce absen-
teeism and increase employee maotivation. Around 1,000 employees took part in the
scheme, of which 360 were from the assembly department. This scheme has produced
encouraging results: the rate of absenteeism has fallen from an average of 7.3% in 1999

to a mere 5.4% in fiscal year 2002.

The success of the scheme is based on a concept developed with the full support of all
management members and the works council. It offers employees with few or no days
of absence a financial incentive on the one hand, and explores the reasons for absen-
teeism in structured, individual return to work interviews on the other. In order to incor-
porate this process into our company policy, we have concluded a works agreement on

health management.

The “employee health promotion” project group now implements these measures with-
out external assistance in order to make employees fully aware of the objectives of this

scheme and to ensure its long-term success.

Successful structured personnel development

In line with our aim of developing our employees’ skills as best we can, we introduced
a new personnel development program for all the salaried staff at the German sub-
sidiaries in January 2002. This program will raise the level of professionalism for suc-

cession planning, internal recruitment and staff development planning.
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The management of all of the GROHE companies conducted structured interviews with

their employees for the first time to agree on individual goals. In addition to this, we
installed new software which compares each job requirement profile with the employ-
ee’s qualifications. In conjunction with the first employee interviews, we were able to
determine and implement further development measures using IT systems. Around
70% of the profile comparisons generated are stored in a database that is growing con-
stantly. Apart from targeted planning of staff development, the database is an important
source of information which enables us to effectively fill internal positions at group

level.

The rate of absaniesism among Wage earners
at the Hemor plant 1

2002 | 5.4% !

200 | o .

2000 | e | | ,

1999 | 5% | | }

New cornerstones of personnel development

We initiated the next round of employee interviews at the beginning of 2003 using two
new cornerstones: the GROHE Potential System (GPS) and the GROHE promotion budg-
et for trainees. Both of these schemes are designed to systematically develop high
potentials to fill management roles and to offer them prospects and scope for develop-
ment at GROHE.

GPS - accelerating the in-house development of high potentials

Management trainees and managers with high potential are the target group for GPS.
Employees may apply themselves or be put forward by management. High-potential
employees are divided into the following three groups: Promising Youngsters (23-31
years of age, 1-3 years of experience), Young Professionals (26-36 years of age, 3-5 years
of experience) and Advanced Middle Managers (33-45 years of age, over 5 years of

experience).
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Continuous employee

The two-year program involves a change in location, foreign postings and project work

for all participants. This is supplemented by training in business administration, produc-
tion, communication and presentation skills and self-management for Promising Young-
sters. For Young Professionals and Advanced Middle Managers the focus is on creating
and improving leadership skills as well as on improving their management, profession-
al, social and methodological competencies.The program is rounded off by one-on-one

coaching sessions.

GROHE promotion budget for successful trainees

The development of young employees who complete our training program with very
good or good grades is supported by the GROHE promotion budget. We assist employ-
ees pursuing full-time or part-time degrees, vocational high school certificates, further
training and specialist courses by paying the course fees and costs of textbooks as well

as providing maintenance grants.

Qualifications are the basis of success

We offer our employees theoretical and practical training on the basis of a standard con-
cept. We conduct in-house and external seminars under the GROHE qualification model.
With the support of the human resources function and their managers, employees
acquire the relevant professional, methodological and social skills which include coop-

eration and conflict resolution, openness to changes in roles and team working abilities.

Nationwide training program

At GROHE, personnel development commences on the first day of training: we prepare

our new recruits for the tasks ahead of them through an induction week in which we pro-
vide them with extensive IT and communications training and key infor-

mation on the Company. Training also involves placements at other

training ensures our success locations, preparatory training courses for the final examinations and

seminars for employees throughout the Group to help prepare them

for professional life.




Environmental protection

Improvements in environmental protection

Group-wide environmental management system

As planned, GROHE made considerable progress with the establishment of a group-
wide environmental management system in accordance with ISO 14001, and will be
ready for certification in 2003.

We have enhanced the Company’s legal security on all operating levels by systemati-
cally determining the relevant provisions and corresponding action plans and by con-
ducting the first legal compliance audits at all German locations.
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Using a bottom-up approach, we analyzed the environmental aspects of all of the
Group’s relevant functions and identified improvements which are incorporated in the
planning for the operating units.

Recycling of residual and waste materials
The disposal partnership entered into many years ago with a leading non-ferrous recy-
cling company also proved its worth in 2002. GROHE now recycles almost all of its met-

aliferous residual and waste materials.

Energy management

Efficient energy use boosts earnings and increases the contribution to environmental
protection made by GROHE. Consumption analyses for our large German plants show
considerable savings of some € 1 million per year. We plan to use this potential effec-
tively. We have already invested some € 500 thousand in the Hemer plant, which led to
a lasting reduction of 25% {4.5m kWh) in natural gas consumption. We plan to reduce
consumption by a further 10% to 15% in 2003.
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Grohe Holding GmbH

Operating and Financial Review and Prospects

OVERVIEW

The discussion and analysis below provides information that we believe is relevant to an
assessment and understanding of our consolidated financial position and results of oper-
ations. This discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the consolidated

financial statements and related notes.

The following discussion and analysis contains statements reflecting our views about our
future performance and constitutes “forward-locking statements”. These views may in-
volve risks and uncertainties that are difficult to predict and may cause our actual results
to differ materially from the results discussed in such forward-looking statements. Read-
ers should consider that various factors, including changes in general economic condi-
tions, nature of competition, developments in distribution, industry trends, influence of
currency fluctuations and inflation, and other factors discussed below, may affect our pro-
jected performance. For example, events such as the war in Irag, and any further actions
which may ensue, could influence the global economical environment substantially and
therefore could have a significant impact on our projected performance. We undertake no
obligation to update publicly any forward-locking statements, whether as a result of new

information, future events or otherwise.

The foliowing discussion and analysis is based on historical financial statements for the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, which we prepared in accordance with
US GAAP

All references to euro in the following discussion are in thousands; except where stated.

Qur business

We are Europe’s largest manufacturer of sanitary fittings, based on both volume and
value, concentrating on the medium- and high-end of the sanitary products market,
according to a report by Consult GB for the year 2002, and, on the basis of publicly avail-
able annual reports of our competitors, one of the world’s three largest manufacturers of
sanitary faucets. We design, manufacture and market an extensive range of (1) sanitary
fittings, such as faucets, showerheads and related accessories, and shower systems, and
(2) sanitary technology products, such as flushing and installation systems and water
management systems. We sell our water technology products principally to sanitary prod-
ucts wholesalers who sell them to plumbers and retailers who, in turn, sell them to pri-
vate residential and commercial end-users. We have a global presence, and we have the
largest market share, by value, in Germany, France, the Benelux countries and Austria,
our core European markets. Our extensive distribution system includes 19 marketing sub-
sidiaries and relationships with approximately 40 unaffiliated agent companies and allows
us to sell our products in approximately 140 countries. Our main production facilities are
located in Germany, but we also have production sites in Portugal, Thailand and Canada

as well as an assembly plant in China.
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We sell most of our products worldwide. Due to different dynamics across geographic

areas, management segments our business into the following individual geographic
regions.

o Germany and direct exports. This segment comprises our activities in Germany and
direct exports through our German subsidiary Friedrich Grohe AG & Co. KG to foreign
customers mainly in Eastern Europe and the Middle East.

o European subsidiaries. This segment covers operations in Europe outside Germany
where we have subsidiaries.

o Overseas subsidiaries. This segment comprises our activities outside Europe where
we have subsidiaries.

Formation of Grehe Holding

Grohe Holding was formed in 1999 and acquired 96.9% of its predecessor Friedrich Grohe
AG in that year. In 2000, subsequent to the acquisition, Friedrich Grohe AG was converted
from a stock corporation into a limited partnership carrying on business under the name
Friedrich Grohe AG & Co. KG. By December 31, 2002 Grohe Holding increased its share-
holding in Friedrich Grohe AG & Co. KG to 99.6%.

Since the date of the acquisition, our consolidated earnings have been affected by interest
on the acquisition financing and by charges for amortization of goodwill, tradename and
depreciation of the fair value step-up of fixed assets. Due to the change in tax status from
the conversion of Friedrich Grohe AG and five of our other subsidiaries, certain expenses
for amortization and depreciation are tax-deductible in Germany. Since January 1, 2002,
we have not recognized goodwill amortization in accordance with SFAS No. 142. This
accounting change does not have an impact on the amortization of goodwill for tax pur-

poses,

We received corporate income tax refunds amounting to € 49.3 million on July 24, 2001
as a result of the conversion of Friedrich Grohe AG and five subsidiaries into limited
partnerships which we recognized as a current asset in the course of the purchase price
allocation for Friedrich Grohe AG. We used these tax refunds to repay principal on our
senior credit facility in July and August 2001.

impact of new accounting standards on our financial statements
and results of operations

We adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations” and SFAS No. 142,
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” as of July 1, 2001 and January 1, 2002, respec-
tively. SFAS No. 142 required us to evaluate our existing intangible assets and goodwill
and to make any necessary reclassifications in order to conform with the new separation
requirements at the date of adoption.

SFAS No. 142 also prohibits the scheduled amortization of goodwill and indefinite life

intangible assets. Instead, goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets will be tested for
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impairment at least annually and on an interim basis when an event occurs or circum-

stances change between annual tests that would more likely than not result in impair-
ment. Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill is assessed for impairment by using a fair value
based method. We determine fair value by utilizing discounted cash flows. The fair value
test that SFAS No. 142 requires for goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets includes
a two-step approach. Under the first step, companies must compare the fair value of a
“reporting unit” to its carrying value. A reporting unit is the level at which goodwill
impairment is measured, and it is defined as an operating segment or one level below it
if certain conditions are met. If the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying
value, goodwill is impaired and companies must proceed with step two. Under step two,
the amount of goodwill impairment is measured by the amount that the reporting unit’s

P

goodwill carrying value exceeds the “implied” fair value of goodwill. The implied fair
vatue of goodwill can only be determined by deducting the fair value of all tangible and
intangible net assets, including unrecognized intangible assets, of the reporting unit from
the fair value of the reporting unit as determined in step one. In the second step, com-
panies must allocate the fair value of the reporting unit to all of the reporting unit's assets

and liahilities as in a hypothetical purchase price allocation.

We amortized goodwill acquired in business combinations compieted before July 1, 2001
through December 31, 2001. As of January 1, 2002, we stopped amortizing goodwill. In
connection with the transitional impairment evaluation required by SFAS No. 142, we per-
formed an assessment of whether there was an indication that goodwill was impaired as
of January 1, 2002. We completed the first step of the transitiona! assessment for all of
our reporting units and determined there was no indication that goodwill had been
impaired as of January 1, 2002. Accordingly, no transitional goodwill impairment charge
was necessary. We performed the first annual goodwill impairment test required by
SFAS No. 142 as of July 1, 2002, and there was no indication of goodwill being impaired
as of that date. An adverse development of operations in any of our reporting units or in
the business environment in which the reporting units operate could require us to revise
our expectations about future cash flows on which the computation of fair value is based.
In that case, there may be an impairment charge in future periods that could significant-
ly affect our operating income and financial position. As of the date of this report, we are
not aware of any events or circumstances that could result in the recognition of an impair-

ment charge in any of our reporting units.

Since we ceased amortizing goodwill as of January 1, 2002 due to the changes in account-
ing principles described above, our results for the year ended December 31, 2002 are not
directly comparable with our results for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, in
which we recorded charges for goodwill amortization in the amount of € 35,758 and
€ 35,397 respectively. Taking into account income tax effects of € 5,105 each year, our net
loss would have improved by £ 30,653 and € 30,292 to a net income of € 540 and € 8,352
for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively, if SFAS No. 142 had

already been in effect in those years.
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Critical accounting policies

We prepare our financial statements in accordance with US GAAP. US GAAP requires us
to make estimates and assumptions which underlie the preparation of our financial state-
ments. These estimates and assumptions, and the accounting methods that we select,
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. We regularly review our estimates
and assumptions underlying the reported amounts, which are based on historical experi-
ence and on various other factors and assumptions which results could differ from those
estimates. For a summary of our significant accounting policies, please refer to Note 3 to
our consolidated financial statements. In addition to the accounting for goodwill described
above, we believe that the following critical accounting policies are affected by significant
judgments and estimates that we use in preparing our consolidated financial statements.
You should consider the related judgments and uncertainties affecting the application of
these policies when evaluating our results of operations and our financial condition.

Impairment of other long-lived assets

SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”, requires
us to recognize an impairment loss when the carrying amount of long-lived assets to be
held and used is not recoverable from their expected undiscounted future cash flows.
SFAS No. 144 requires all long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale to be recorded at the
iower of their carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell and to cease depreciation or
amortization. We evaluate the recoverability of the carrying amount of long-lived assets
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of a long-
lived asset may not be recoverable. In 2002 management approved a new international
manufacturing strategy described below under “Trend information - Manufacturing -
New international manufacturing strategy”. One element of the new manufacturing strat-
egy is to centralize production of some smaller plants at our larger facilities. We have test-
ed for impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 144 three properties that we will no
longer use for production. We classified these properties as held and used, as we still use
the properties to some extent, and SFAS No. 144 does not allow classification of these
properties as held for sale until they are available for immediate sale in their present con-
dition, subject only to terms that are usual and customary for sales of such assets. We
recorded an impairment loss of £ 2,328 on two of these properties in the year 2002. We

determined the fair values of these properties on the basis of expert appraisals.

Accounting for income taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, "Accounting for Income
Taxes”. In accordance with SFAS No. 109, deferred taxes are provided for temporary dif-
ferences between the respective accounting and tax base for assets and liabilities.
Further, we recognize deferred tax assets for net operating loss carryforwards and tax
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credit carryforwards, and, if it is more likely than not that such deferred tax assets will not
be realized in future periods, we reduce them by a valuation allowance. Particularly in

Germany, we have accumulated significant loss carryforwards for corporate income tax

purposes.

We have realized and continue to realize tax benefits from the conversion of Friedrich
Grohe AG to Friedrich Grohe AG & Co. KG and the conversion of five other subsidiaries
from limited liability companies to limited partnerships. Such benefits relate primarily to

increases in the tax base of certain assets for amortization and depreciation purposes. We
cannot assure you that the German tax authorities will accept the valuation and the amort-
ization and depreciation period allocation. We and our German subsidiaries are currently
subject to a tax field audit by German tax authorities which will cover, among other
things, the benefits resulting from the conversion. If the expected tax benefits from the
conversion are not fully realized, this change ultimately would result in reduced loss carry-
forwards for corporate income tax purposes and require us to write down the deferred
tax asset set up for these loss carryforwards. Currently, there is no limitation on the length
of time and the amount of losses that may be carried forward in Germany for corporate
income tax purposes. Should the tax laws be changed in that respect, this change also
may require us to write down our deferred tax assets that we established for loss carry-

forwards in Germany and could affect our income adversely.

Pension and similar obligations

We maintain a number of unfunded pension plans covering substantially all our German
employees who joined the Company before January 1, 2001. As of that date, new hires
are not entitled to participate in these plans.The plans provide for the payment of retire-
ment benefits and certain disability and survivor benefits. After meeting certain qualifica-
tions, an employee acquires a vested right to future benefits. Generally, the benefits
payable are determined on the basis of an employee’s length of service, earnings and
ranking. In addition, we maintain a funded pension plan for our employees in the United
States. The actuarial computation of pension liabilities recognized in our consolidated bal-
ance sheet for our German pension plans is based on assumptions about discount rates,
rates of compensation increase, increases in the social security ceiling, increases in the
cost of living, mortality rates and retirement rates. Changes in the actuarial assumption
can have a significant impact on the projected benefit obligation which amounted to
€ 167,309 as of December 31, 2002. For instance, a reduction in the discount rate would
result in a significant increase in the projected benefit obligation. According to SFAS
No. 87, "Employers’ Accounting for Pensions”, the assumed discount rate reflects the
rates at which the pension benefits could be settled effectively. While we used a discount
rate of 6.0% in the actuarial calculations for German pension plans in 2001, we used a dis-
count rate of 5.5% in 2002. The reduction reflects the general decline in interest rates in
the capital markets. This change, as well as the other changes in actuarial assumptions,
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resulted in actuarial losses of € 7,715 in the year 2002. In accordance with SFAS No. 87,

we defer gains and losses resuiting from changes in actuarial assumptions. Qur total
unrecognized actuarial losses at December 31, 2002 amounted to € 13,729, We amortize
any unrecognized gain or loss as a component of our net periodic pension cost for a year
if, as of the beginning of the year, such unrecognized net gain or loss exceeds 10% of the
greater of the projected benefit obligation or the market-related value of a plan‘s assets.
If amortization is required, the amount of amortization that we recognize is the resulting
excess divided by the average remaining service period of active employees expected to
receive benefits under the plan.

Our total net periodic pension cost for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000
recognized in the income statement amounted to € 14,208, € 8,543 and € 13,509, respect-
ively. In 2001 net periodic pension cost included a one-time curtailment gain of € 5,358.
Excluding this one-time gain, our net periodic pension cost for 2001 would have been
€ 13,901. Service cost included in net periodic pension cost amounted to € 4,975, € 5,151
and € 5,233 in the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively. Interest
cost included in net periodic pension cost amounted to € 9,096, € 8,770 and € 8,387 for
the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively.

Contingencies

We recognize accrued liabilities for contingencies when we incur an obligation to a third

party, the payment is probable, and we can reasonably estimate the amount of the liability.

Due to the conversion of Friedrich Grohe AG into Friedrich Grohe AG & Co. KG, some
minority shareholders have appealed the conversion into a limited partnership and cer-
tain resolutions of the shareholders meeting of Friedrich Grohe AG and Friedrich Grohe
AG & Co. KG. However, we consider it remote that these claims will prevail.

Also, some minority shareholders are seeking to have the amount of the cash settlement
offer examined in an arbitration procedure. if the court determines a higher amount is
payable, this would apply to 50,185 shares of minority shareholders. The corresponding
cash payment required would be deemed additional acquisition costs for these shares of
Friedrich Grohe AG and, consequently, result in the recognition of additional goodwill.

We believe that the remediation activities in the years 2001 and 2002 significantly reduced
identified environmental risks. However, we are not in a position to estimate total maxi-
mum possible remediation costs as of the date of this report due to changes in environ-
mental laws, uncertainties surrounding the nature and application of environmental regu-

lations, and the possible discovery of previously unidentified contamination.

We refer to Note 17 of our annual consolidated financial statements for further details.
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OPERATING RESULTS

The following table sets out certain information with respect to our net income (loss):

Sales
Cost of sales
Gross profit

Selling, general
and administrative expenses

Research and development expenses
Amortization of goodwill
Amortization of tradename

Operating income

Interest expense, net

Income from equity method investees

Financial income (lossj
from derivatives

Other expense, net

Income {loss) before income taxes,
mingrity interests
and extracrdinary items

Income tax (expense) benefit

income {ioss) before minority interests
and extracrdinary items

Minority interests

Net income (loss)
before extracrdinary items

Extraordinary loss,
net of applicable income taxes

Net income {loss)

|
1

[
|

!
|

}

(517,321) |

¢

Year ended |

|

December 31, “
2002 |

€ '000 ¢

898,262 -

. 380,241

; (235,314) -

(24,190)
0.

D

102,096

(67,083) .

| 23,557 |

938 |

23,696 |
(8,588) '

i
'

51,059
(26,332) !
24,727 |
(1,176) |

0
23,551

Year ended
Dacember 31,
2001

£ 000

880,781
(512,549)
368,232

(228,196)
{20,066)
(35,758)
{(19,341)
64,871
{76,961)
216

{20,494)
{2,650}
{35,018}

5,828

{29,180}
(923}

{30,113}

0
(30,113}

Year ended
December 31,
2000

€ 000
855,474
(512,163}
343,311

{221,498)
{20,873}
(35,397)
{19,124)

46,418
(84,012)
579

(4,734)
(2,559)
(44,307)

28,353

{15,954)
(2,978)

(18,832)

{3,008}
{(21,840)
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The following table sets out certain information with respect to our net income {loss) as

a percentage of sales:

Sales

Cost of sales
Gross profit

Selling, general
and administrative expenses

Research and development expenses
Amortization of goodwill
Amortization of tradename

Operating income

Interest expense, net

Income from equity method investees

Financial income (loss)
from derivatives

Other expense, net

income {loss) before income taxes,
minority interests
and extraordinary items

Income tax (expense) benefit

Income (loss) before minority interests
and extracrdinary items

Minority interests

Net income {loss)
before extraordinary items

Extraordinary loss,
net of applicable income taxes

Net income (loss)
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‘ Year ended '
‘ December 31, ,
! 2002 |
‘ % |
100.0
(57.6) |

42.4

(26.2)

(2.7)

0.0 |
2.1 |

5.7
i (3.0) |

2.7
{0.1)

2.8

Year ended
December 31,
2001

%

100.0
(58.2}
41.8

{25.9)
{(2.3)
(4.0)
(2.2)

7.3
(8.7)
0.0

(2.3)
{0.3)
(4.0)

0.7

(3.3)
0.7

(3.4)

0.0
{3.4)

Year ended
December 31,
2000

%

100.0
(69.9)
40.1

(25.9)
(2.4)
(4.1)
(2.3)

5.4
{9.8)
0.1

{0.6)
{0.3)
{5.2)

3.3

(1.9)
{(0.3)

(2.2)

(0.4)
(2.3)




YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002 COMPARED WITH YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001

Sales

Our total sales increased by € 17,481 or 2.0% from € 880,781 in the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2001 to € 898,262 in the year ended December 31, 2002. We attribute this growth
in total sales to:

o anincrease in sales volume of a total of € 24,561 or 2.8%;
O anincrease in sales prices of € 6,250 or 0.7%; and

o unfavorable currency fluctuations of € 13,330 or 1.5% as a consequence of invoicing

in foreign currencies.

Total sales in our Germany and direct exports segment decreased by € 10,160 or 2.9%
from € 356,227 in the year ended December 31, 2001 to £ 346,067 in the year ended
December 31, 2002.Total sales in Germany decreased by € 19,443 or 7.9% from € 245,382
in the year ended December 31, 2001 to € 225,939 in the year ended December 31, 2002,
We attribute this decrease to an ongoing difficult economic environment and continuing
weak market conditions. We estimate that the German sanitary products market declined
by approximately 10% in 2002. Thus, in Germany, we performed slightly better than the
market. Direct exports increased from € 110,845 in the year ended December 31, 2001 to
£ 120,128 in the year ended December 31, 2002. This increase was largely due to an
increase in direct exports to Eastern Europe by € 8,627 or 20.7% from € 41,664 in the year
ended December 31, 2001 to € 50,291 in the year ended December 31, 2002.Total sales in
Eastern Europe, including sales by our European subsidiaries, increased by € 9,022 or
20.3% from € 44,460 in the year ended December 31, 2001 to £ 53,482 in the year ended
December 31, 2002. Direct exports to the Middle East increased only slightly by € 214 to
€ 56,784 in the year ended December 31, 2002 as volume growth was offset by unfavor-
able currency fluctuations of € 3,831.

Total sales in our European subsidiaries segment increased from € 357,232 in the year

ended December 31, 2001 by € 13,380 or 3.7% to € 370,612 in the year ended December

31, 2002.This development was primarily attributable to:

o sales increases in France by € 4,910 or 5.5% from € 88,848 in the year ended
December 31, 2001 to € 93,758 in the year ended December 31, 2002;

o salesincreases in Spain by € 3,793 or 8.8% from € 43,192 in the year ended December
31, 2001 to € 46,985 in the year ended December 31, 2002;

o sales increases in the United Kingdom by € 2,348 or 10.4% from € 22,488 in the year
ended December 31, 2001 to € 24,836 in the year ended December 31, 2002;

o stable sales in ftaly, where sales amounted to € 52,511 in the year ended December
31, 2002 compared to € 52,254 in the year ended December 31, 2001; and
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o lower consumer confidence in the economic development in certain countries which

resulted in sales decreases mainly in:

— the Netherlands, by € 2,643 or 3.7% from € 71,928 in the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2001 to € 69,285 in the year ended December 31, 2002; and

— Austria, by € 1,122 or 4.8% from € 23,266 in the year ended December 31, 2001 to
€ 22,144 in the year ended December 31, 2002.

including direct exports to European markets of € 62,435 in the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2002, total sales in Europe increased by € 22,432 or 5.5% from € 410,615 in the
year ended December 31, 2001 to € 433,047 in the year ended December 31, 2002.

Total sales in our Overseas subsidiaries segment increased by € 14,261 or 8.56% from
€ 167,322 in the year ended December 31, 2001 to € 181,583 in the year ended December
31, 2002.This increase was primarily due to increases in sales in:

o the United States of € 11,754 or 11.4% from € 103,064 in the year ended December 31,
2001 to € 114,818 in the year ended December 31, 2002. Sales in this period were
impacted by unfavorable foreign currency fluctuations of € 5,206; and

o the Far East, excluding Japan, of € 2,271 or 7.4% from € 30,664 in the year ended
December 31, 2001 to € 32,935 in the year ended December 31, 2002.

Sales in overseas markets, including direct exports to this region of € 57,693 in the year
ended December 31, 2002, increased by € 14,492 or 6.4% from € 224,784 in the year
ended December 31, 2001 to € 239,276 in the year ended December 31, 2002.

As a result of the different sales trends in Germany and abroad, sales in foreign markets,
which increased by € 36,924 or 5.8% from € 635,399 in the year ended December 31, 2001
to € 672,323 in the year ended December 31, 2002, represent 74.8% of our total sales in
the year ended December 31, 2002 compared to 72.1% in the year ended December 31,
2001. Sales in Europe, excluding Germany, accounted for 48.2% and in overseas markets
for 26.6% of total sales in the year ended December 31, 2002. Accordingly, sales in
Germany decreased to 25.2% of our total sales in the year ended December 31, 2002.

Cost of sales

Our cost of sales includes the costs of raw material, purchased parts and direct labor, as
well as manufacturing overheads and depreciation. The main raw material that we use is
brass which is also a significant component of purchased parts.

Cost of sales increased by € 4,772 or 0.9%, from € 512,549 in the year ended December
31, 2001 to £ 517,321 in the year ended December 31, 2002.

The cost of sales to sales ratio of 58.2% for the year ended December 31, 2001 decreased
1o 57.6% in the year ended December 31, 2002.

In addition to the factors described under "Sales”, better fixed cost absorption due to
higher production volume, cost-cutting rationalization measures in production and a sig-
nificantly lower brass price compared to the year 2001 favorably influenced the cost of
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sales to ratio. Also reduced step-up depreciation in the six months ended December 37,
2002 compared to the same period in 2001 positively impacted cost of sales. Costs relat-
ed to the reorganization of our plants which we primarily incurred in the three months

ended December 31, 2002 partially offset these effects.

Selling, general and administrative expenses
Seiling, general and administrative expenses consist of employee compensation, adver-
tising and sales promotions, commissions and freight, as well as information technology

related expenses.

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased by € 7,118 or 3.1%, from £ 228,196
in the year ended December 31, 2001 to € 235,314 in the year ended December 31, 2002.
Selling expenses increased due to higher personnel and freight expenses as well as one-
time expenses related to the reorganization of our sales organization. This increase was
partially offset by lower advertising expenses. Higher general and administrative expens-
es were primarily due to increased costs for professional services in the year ended
December 31, 2002, partiaily offset by a decrease in provisions for doubtful accounts and
lower personnel expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage
of sales remained stable at 26.2% in the year ended December 31, 2002 compared to
25.9% in the year ended December 31, 2001.

Amortization of goodwill and tradename

In accordance with SFAS No. 142, we stopped amortizing goodwill as of January 1, 2002
as described above under “Impact of new accounting standards on our financial state-
ments and results of operations”. Amortization of goodwill amounted to € 35,758 in the
year ended December 31, 2001. Taking into account income tax effects of € 5,105, our net
loss of € 30,113 would have been improved by € 30,653 to net income of € 540 for the year
ended December 31, 2001, if SFAS No. 142 had been in effect for that year and we had not
amortized our goodwill. Compared to 2001, amortization of tradename remained un-
changed at € 19,341 in the year ended December 31, 2002.

interest expense, net

Net interest expense decreased by € 9,878 or 12.8% from € 76,961 in the year ended De-
cember 31, 2001 to € 67083 in the year ended December 31, 2002. This decrease was
mainly due to principal payments on our long-term debt to banks in the second half of
2001 and in July 2002 and to lower interest rates on our long-term debt to banks in 2002.
The reduction of our interest charge from these effects was partially offset by an increase
in accrued interest on loans from related parties and shareholders. The interest expense
that we recorded on these loans increased by € 1,848 due to compound interest. We
incurred virtually afl of our interest expense at the holding company level or through our

Germany and direct exports segment.
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Financial income (loss) from derivatives

We conduct business on a worldwide basis in various international currencies and are
exposed to adverse movements in foreign currency exchange rates. Furthermore, we use
financial instruments such as bonds and long-term debt to banks. As a consequence, we
may be exposed to risks from changes in interest rates. We use derivative financial instru-
ments to reduce such risks. Without the use of these instruments we would face even
higher market risks. We do not enter into financial instruments for trading or speculative
purposes. We record derivative instruments at fair value in our consolidated balance

sheets with the change in fair vaiue reflected in our statement of operations.

We incurred net losses from derivatives of € 20,494 in the year ended December 31, 2001.
This changed by € 44,190 to net income from derivatives of € 23,696 in the year ended
December 31, 2002.

Foreign currency derivatives

We reduce the risk on cash flows from anticipated sales and accounts receivable in for-
eign currencies by entering into foreign currency derivative contracts to sell foreign cur-
rency amounts which we expect to receive in US dollars, Japanese yen, British pounds
and Canadian dollars, at a fixed euro to foreign currency exchange rate. Untit Decem-
ber 31, 2002, we did not designate our foreign currency derivatives as accounting hedges
and included all gains and losses on these instruments resuiting from the mark to market
at the balance sheet date or realized upon settlement of these instruments in financial in-

come from derivatives on a net basis.

Our net loss from currency derivatives of € 15,438 in the year ended December 31, 2001
improved by € 43,390 to net income from currency derivatives of € 27,952 in the year
ended December 31, 2002. Most of the net foss in 2001 and the net gain in 2002 relates to
our US dollar foreign currency derivatives. Generally, if the US dollar falls against the
euro, we make gains from changes in fair market value of our US dollar forward curren-
cy contracts, and, if the US dollar rises against the euro, we incur losses from changes in
fair market value of our US dollar forward currency contracts. In 2002 the US dollar fell
against the euro by approximately 15% and we earned € 25,313 from US dollar derivative
contracts. Of these gains in 2002, £ 17,472 related to changes in fair market value result-
ing from the mark to market of contracts at the respective balance sheet dates, and € 7,841
related to gains realized upon the settlement of contracts. In 2001, the US dollar rose
against the euro by approximately 5%, and we lost € 15,433 from our US dollar forward
contracts. Of these losses in 2001, € 7,934 related to changes in fair market value result-
ing from the mark to market of contracts at the respective balance sheet dates, and € 7,499
related to losses realized upon the settlement of contracts.

Interest rate derivatives

We hold interest rate swap and collar agreements. With our swap agreements, we
exchange the short-term variable rate related to our long-term debt to banks for a long-

term variable rate with a capped total interest. Qur interest rate derivatives do not meet
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the requirements for hedge accounting, and, consequently, we include changes in fair
market value at balance sheet date as well as interest differentials paid or received under

our interest rate derivative instruments in financial income from derivatives.

Our net loss from interest rate derivatives of € 5,056 in the year ended December 31, 2001

decreased by € 800 to € 4,256 in the year ended December 31, 2002. We incurred losses

from our interest rate derivatives in both periods because of the ongoing decline in short-

term interest rates and the relatively low level of short-term interest rates compared o

long-term interest rates.

Other expense, net

Net other expense increased by € 5,938 from € 2,650 in the year ended December 31, 2001
to € 8,588 in the year ended December 31, 2002. We attribute this increase to:

o an increase in foreign currency transaction losses of € 7,346 from € 3,314 in the year
ended December 31, 2001 to € 10,660 in the year ended December 31, 2002;

a decrease in foreign currency transaction gains of € 1,639 from € 4,365 in the year
ended December 31, 2001 to € 2,826 in the year ended December 31, 2002;

o areal estate transfer tax of € 1,300 in the year ended December 31, 2002. We incurred

no such real estate transfer tax in the year ended December 31, 2001;

o professional services of € 4,071 in the year ended December 31, 2001 which were
mainly related to the financing of the acquisition of Friedrich Grohe AG, the imple-
mentation of US GAAP reporting procedures, the filing of a registration statement with
the US Securities and Exchange Commission and the syndication of the supplemen-
tary facility. We recorded no expenses for such services as other expense in the year
ended December 31, 2002; and

o anincrease in other miscellaneous income, net, of € 176 from € 370 in the year ended
December 31, 2001 to € 546 in the year ended December 31, 2002.

income tax (expense) benefit

Our income tax benefit of € 5,828 recorded for the year ended December 31, 2001 chang-
ed by € 32,160 to an income tax expense of € 26,332 for the year ended December 31,
2002. We mainly attribute the increase in income tax expense to the change in our pretax
results from a pretax loss of € 35,018 in the year ended December 31, 2001 to pretax
income of € 51,059 in the year ended December 31, 2002. In addition, the following fac-
tors influence the amount of our income tax charge/benefit in the years 2002 and 2001.

Our theoretical income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2002 determined
using the 2002 statutory tax rate of 38.2% would have been € 19,507 compared to an
actual income tax expense of € 26,332. The difference of € 6,825 is mainly due to the tax
effect of € 4,386 from non tax-deductible expenses, an increase of € 1,899 in valuation
allowances on deferred tax assets and additional German income taxes and foreign with-
holding taxes of € 1,559 provided for the future payout of foreign retained earnings as divi-
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dends.These effects were partially offset by a foreign tax rate differential of € 2,737, as the

average effective tax rate on foreign income was lower than the German statutory tax rate.

Our theoretical income tax benefit for the year ended December 31, 2001 determined using
the 2001 statutory tax rate of 38.2% would have been € 13,377 compared to an actual
income tax benefit of € 5,828. The difference of € 7,549 is mainly due to the tax effect of
€ 13,488 from amortization of non tax-deductible goodwill and other non tax-deductible
expenses, which was partly offset by tax benefits of € 2,855 from a change in tax status of
subsidiaries and tax effects of € 2,228 from dividend distributions by German subsidiaries.

Minority interests

Minority interests increased by € 253 from € 923 in the year ended December 31, 2001 to
€ 1,176 in the year ended December 31, 2002,

Net income (loss)

Our net income increased by € 53,664 from a net loss of € 30,113 in the year ended De-
cember 31, 2001 to net income of € 23,551 in the year ended December 31, 2002.

Our net loss for the year ended December 31, 2001 included goodwill amortization
charges of € 35,758. Pursuant to SFAS No. 142, we recorded no goodwill amortization
charges for the year ended December 31, 2002. Net of income tax effects of € 5,105, our
net loss of € 3C,113 for the year ended December 31, 2001 would have been improved by
€ 30,653 to a net income of € 540 if SFAS No. 142 had already been in effect in that year.

Adjusted consclidated EBITDA

Our adjusted consolidated EBITDA increased by € 8,002 or 4.7% from € 171,501 in the
vear ended December 31, 2001 to € 179,503 in the year ended December 31, 2002. We
define adjusted consolidated EBITDA as earnings before interest expense, income taxes,
depreciation and amortization, noncash charges (charges not resulting in cash outflows
in the current or future periods), income from equity method investees not received as a
cash distribution, extraordinary items and noncash financial income/loss from deriva-
tives. We consider adjusted consolidated EBITDA as an important indicator of the oper-
ational strength and performance of our business, including our ability to provide cash
flows to service debt and finance capital expenditures. However, as not all companies
calculate EBITDA or similarly titled financial measures in the same manner, other com-
panies’ disclosures of EBITDA may not be comparable with adjusted consolidated EBITDA
as presented here. You should consider adjusted consolidated EBITDA in addition to, not
as a substitute for, our operating income (loss), net income (loss), cash flow or other
measures of financial performance reported in accordance with US GAAP Adjusted
consolidated EBITDA as presented here differs from EBITDA as defined in the indenture

governing the notes.
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YEAR ENDE

A reconciliation between adjusted consolidated EBITDA and net income (loss) as report-
ed in the consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2002 and
2001 is as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2002 2001
€ '000 £ '000

Net income (loss) as reported

in the consolidated statements ; g

of operations 23,551} {30,113}

Income from equity method investees :
not received as a cash distribution | (540) : 0

Income tax expense {benefit) 1 26,332 (5,828}

Interest expense as reported
in the consolidated statements : (

of operations 70,407 . 80,328
Depreciation expense ? 47872 54,078
Amortization of software ‘ 4,020 . 3,372
Amortization of goodwill and tradename | 19,341 55,099
Noncash charges ; 4,639 | 765
Noncash financial {income) ‘

loss from derivatives . {18,M9) 13,800
Adjusted EBITDA 179503 171,501

DECEMBER 31, 2001 COMPARED WITH YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000

Sales

Qur total sales increased by € 25,307 or 3.0% from € 855,474 in the year ended December
31, 2000 to € 880,781 in the year ended December 31, 2001. This growth in total sales was
attributable to:

o anincrease in sales volume of a total of € 8,866 or 1.0%;

o favorable currency fluctuations of € 1,572 or 0.2% as a consequence of invoicing in

foreign currencies; and
o anincrease in sales prices of € 14,869 or 1.8%.

Total sales in our Germany and direct exports segment decreased by € 4,989 or 1.4% from
€ 361,216 in the year ended December 31, 2000 to € 356,227 in the year ended December
31, 2001. Total sales in Germany decreased by € 19,486 or 7.4% from € 264,868 in the year
ended December 31, 2000 to € 245,382 in the year ended December 31, 2001 We attribute
this decrease to ongoing unfavorable market conditions and a reduction of inventories by
wholesalers. Direct exports increased by € 14,497 or 15.0% from € 96,348 in the year
ended December 31, 2000 to € 110,845 in the year ended December 31, 2001. This increase

was largely due to an increase in sales in Eastern Europe by € 15,282 or 57.9% from
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€ 26,382 in the year ended December 31, 2000 to € 41,664 in the year ended December 31,
2001. Also our direct exports to the Middie East increased by 2,317 or 4.3% from € 54,253
in the year ended December 31, 2000 to € 56,570 in the year ended December 31, 2001.

Total sales in our European subsidiaries segment increased by € 16,981 or 5.0% from
€ 340,251 in the year ended December 31, 2000 to € 357,232 in the year ended December
31, 2001. The growth in sales was primarily attributable to sales increases in the following

countries:

o France by € 3,736 or 4.4% from € 85,112 in the year ended December 31, 2000 to
€ 88,848 in the year ended December 31, 2001;

o the Netherlands by € 3,544 or 5.2% from € 68,384 in the year ended December 31, 2000
to € 71,928 in the year ended December 31, 2007;

o Spain by € 3,665 or 9.3% from € 39,527 in the year ended December 31, 2000 to
€ 43,192 in the year ended December 31, 2001; and

o the United Kingdom by € 3,314 or 17.3% from € 19,174 in the year ended December
31, 2000 to € 22,488 in the year ended December 31, 2001.

Including direct exports to European markets, which amounted to € 53,383 in the year
ended December 31, 2001, our total sales in Europe increased by € 29,940 or 7.9% from
€ 380,675 in the year ended December 31, 2000 to £ 410,815 in the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2001.

Total sales in our Overseas subsidiaries segment increased by € 13,315 or 8.6% from
€ 154,007 in the year ended December 31, 2000 to € 167,322 in the year ended
December 31, 2001. This increase was primarily due to increases in sales in:

o the United States by € 7,951 or 8.4% from € 95,113 in the year ended December 31,
2000 to € 103,064 in the year ended December 31, 2001. This increase is largely attri-
butable to price increases of € 3,630 and favorable foreign currency fluctuations of
€ 3,280 and, to a lower extent, to volume increases;

o Far East, excluding Japan, which was influenced by a very strong fourth quarter 2001,
by € 2,200 or 7.8% from € 28,318 in the year ended December 31, 2000 to € 30,518 in
the year ended December 31, 2001; and

o Japan by € 1,446 or 7.1% from € 20,260 in the year ended December 31, 2000 to
€ 21,706 in the year ended December 31, 2001 with the sales being strongly influ-
enced by unfavorable foreign currency fluctuation of € 1,949 in 2001.

Sales in overseas markets, including direct exports to this region amounting to € 57,462

in the year ended December 31, 2001, increased by € 14,853 or 7.1% from € 209,931 in the

year ended December 31, 2000 to € 224,784 in the year ended December 31, 2001.

63



As a result of the different sales trends in Germany and abroad, our sales in foreign mar-
kets, which increased by € 44,793 or 7.6% from € 590,606 in the year ended December 31,
2000 to € 635,399 in the year ended December 31, 2001, represent 72.1% of our total sales
in the year ended December 31, 2001 compared to 69.0% in the year ended December 31,

2000. Sales in Europe excluding Germany accounted for 46.6% and in overseas markets

for 25.5% of total sales in the year ended December 31, 2001. Accordingly, sales in

Germany decreased to 27.9% of our total sales in the year ended December 31, 2001.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales increased by € 386 or 0.1% from € 512,163 in the year ended December 31,
2000 to € 512,549 in the year ended December 31, 2001.

The cost of sales to sales ratio of 59.9% for the year ended December 31, 2000 decreased
to 58.2% for the year ended December 31, 2001,

In addition to the factors described under “Sales” above, the cost of sales to sales ratio

was favorably influenced by cost-cutting rationalization measures in production. These

positive effects overcompensated for increases in manufacturing costs per unit, which

mainly resulted from a lower production volume compared to the previous year, the

increase in raw material prices, and changes in product mix.

Selling, generai and adminisirative expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased by € 6,698 or 3.0% from € 221,498
in the year ended December 31, 2000 to € 228,196 in the year ended December 31, 2001.
Selling expenses increased due to higher personnel and higher advertising expenses.The
increase in advertising expenses was largely due to additiona! costs related to the ISH in
2001, the most important biennial internationa! trade fair for the sanitary industry in
Europe. On the other hand, commissions for agents decreased considerably mainly due
to our new sales organization in Germany that uses cnly its own employees rather than
sales agents. Higher general and administrative expenses resulted from higher person-
nel expenses due to additional staff, a one-time compensation effect in the second quar-
ter and an increase in provisions for doubtful accounts. Selling, general and administra-
tive expenses as a percentage of sales remained stable at 25.9% in the year ended
December 31, 2001 compared to the year ended December 31, 2000.

Amortization of goodwill and tradename

Amortization of goodwill and tradename was nearly unchanged in 2001 compared to
2000 as there were no significant acquisitions during the vear ended December 31, 2001.
Amortization of goodwill amounted to € 35,397 in the year ended December 31, 2000
compared to € 35,758 in the year ended December 31, 2001. Amortization of tradename
amounted to € 19,124 in the year ended December 31, 2000 compared to € 19,341 in the
year ended December 31, 2001.
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interest expense, net

Net interest expense decreased by € 7051 or 8.4% from € 84,012 in the year ended
December 31, 2000 to € 76,961 in the year ended December 31, 2001. This decrease was
mainly due to the refinancing measures taken in November 2000 and principal payments
in 2001. We incurred virtually all of our interest expense at the holding company level or
through our Germany and direct exports segment.

Financial loss from derivatives

Qur financial loss from derivatives increased by € 15,760 from € 4,734 in the year ended
December 31, 2000 to € 20,494 in the year ended December 31, 2001. The net loss from
currency derivatives increased by £ 13,523 from € 1,915 in the year ended December 31,
2000 to € 15,438 in the year ended December 31, 2001. This development was mainly due
to changes in the fair market value of US dollar forward exchange contracts caused by
fluctuations in the US dollar to euro exchange rates. The net loss from interest rate deriva-
tives increased by € 2,237 from € 2,819 in the year ended December 31, 2000 to € 5,056
in the year ended December 31, 2001.

Other expense, net

Net other expense increased slightly by € 91 or 3.6% from € 2,559 in the year ended
December 31, 2000 to € 2,650 in the year ended December 31, 2001. We attribute this
increase to:

@ an increase in foreign currency transaction losses of € 2,470 from € 844 in the year
ended December 31, 2000 to £ 3,314 in the year ended December 31, 2001;

o a decrease in foreign currency transaction gains of € 308 from € 4,673 in the year
ended December 31, 2000 to € 4,365 in the year ended December 31, 2001;

o areal estate transfer tax of € 3,579 in the year ended December 31, 2000. We incurred
no such real estate transfer tax in the year ended December 31, 2001;

o a minor increase in professional services of € 9 from € 4,062 in the year ended De-
cember 31, 2000 to € 4,071 in the year ended December 31, 2001. In the year ended
December 31, 2000 these professional services were indirectly reiated to the acquisi-
tion, related to the financing of the acquisition and related to the conversion of
Friedrich Grohe AG. In the year ended December 31, 2001 these professional services
were also related to the implementation of US GAAP reporting procedures, the filing
of a registration statement with the US Securities and Exchange Commission, and the
syndication of the supplementary facility; and

o adecrease in miscellaneous income of € 883 from € 1,253 in the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2000 to € 370 in the year ended December 31, 2001.
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income tax (expense) benefit

Our income tax benefit for the year ended December 31, 2001 of € 5,828 is not directly
comparable to the income tax benefit for the year ended December 31, 2000 of € 28,353
because the actual statutory tax rate decreased to 38.2% in the year ended December 31,
2001 compared to 51.4% in the year ended December 31, 2000. This decrease was due to
a reduction of the German corporate income tax rate from 40.0% to 25.0% effective
January 1, 2001.

Our theoretical income tax benefit for the year ended December 31, 2001 determined

using the 2001 statutory tax rate of 38.2% would have been € 13,377 compared to an act-
ual income tax benefit of € 5,828.The difference of € 7549 was mainly due to the tax effect
of € 13,488 from amortization of non tax-deductible goodwill and other non tax-deductible
expenses, which were partly offset by tax benefits of € 2,855 from a change in tax status
of subsidiaries and tax effects of € 2,228 from dividend distributions by German subsid-

jaries.

Qur theoretical income tax benefit for the year ended December 31, 2000 determined
using the 2000 statutory tax rate of 51.4% would have been € 22,773 compared to an ac-
tual income tax benefit of € 28,353. The difference of € 5,580 was mainly the resuit of the
change in German tax laws in 2001 resulting in a tax benefit of € 13,304, tax effects from
dividend distributions by German subsidiaries of € 2,621 and a foreign tax rate differen-
tial of € 3,041, which were partly offset by the tax effect of € 14,523 from amortization of

non tax-deductible goodwill and other non tax-deductible expenses.

Minority interests

Minority interests decreased by € 2,055 or 69.0% from € 2,978 in the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2000 to € 923 in the year ended December 31, 2001. We attribute this decrease
mainly to a reduction of minority shares in Friedrich Grohe AG in the first haif of the year 2000.

Net loss

The net loss increased by € 8,173 or 37.3% from € 21,940 in the year ended December 31,
2000 to € 30,113 in the year ended December 31, 2001.
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Adjusted consolidated EBITDA

Qur adjusted consolidated EBITDA increased by € 15,136 or 9.7% from € 166,365 in the
year ended December 31, 2000 to € 171,501 in the year ended December 31, 2001.

A reconciliation between adjusted consolidated EBITDA and net loss as reported in the

consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 is as

follows:

Year ended December 31,

Net loss as reported in the consolidated
statements of operations

Extraordinary loss, net of applicable
income taxes

Income from equity method investees
not received as a cash distribution

Income tax benefit

interest expense as reported in the
consolidated statements of operations

Depreciation expense

Amortization of software

Amortization of goodwill and tradename
Noncash charges

Noncash financial loss from derivatives
Adjusted EBITDA

Overview

2000
€ 'C00

(21,940)

3,008

{579)
(28,353)

88,437
55,890
3,688
54,621
1,793

0
156,365

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESCURCES

In 1999 we purchased our predecessor Friedrich Grohe AG in several transactions. We

originally financed these transactions with equity, loans provided by shareholders and

related parties and various bank loans. We refinanced part of the bank loans in November

2000 with the proceeds from issuing € 200,000 of 11.5% senior notes, which notes we also

refer to as bonds. The bonds mature in November 2010 and bear interest at a fixed rate of

11.6%. We refinanced our senior bank loans in March 2003 as described below. We have

entered into interest rate swap and collar agreements to mitigate the interest rate risk from

our long-term debt to banks. We believe that our operating cash flows will be sufficient to

service interest and scheduled repayments of our debt. Detailed information about the

maturity of our long-term obligations is provided below under “Tabular disclosure of con-

tractual obligations”.
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Refinancing of debt in March and April 2003

In March 2003 we entered into an agreement with a syndicate of banks for a new senior
credit facility. The new senior facility consists of four facilities, three term loan facilities, A1,
A2 and B, in an aggregate amount of up to € 550,000, and the new revolving facility, in
an aggregate amount of up to € 50,000. Principal payments on facilities A1 and A2 are due
semi-annually, with the final payment due on December 20, 2009. The principal amount
of facility B is due in one bullet payment on July 20, 2010. Interest on all facilities is
payable at EURIBOR or, in relation to any loan in a currency other than euro, LIBOR plus
margin at the end of each interest period or, if the interest period should exceed six
months, at the end of six months. The initial margin per year is 2.25% for facilities A1 and
A2 and the new revolving facility and 2.75% for facility B. The margin will be reduced if
we achieve certain ratios of total net debt to EBITDA, as defined in the new senior credit
facility. In addition, we pay a commitment fee of no more than 0.625% for the amount

available under the revolving credit facility.

We used the new senior credit facility to repay the senior credit facility and a portion of
the outstanding loans from related parties and shareholders.The loans from related par-
ties and shareholders are subordinated to our 11.5% senior notes. Certain provisions of
the new senior credit facility required amendments to and waivers of provisions of the
indenture under which we issued our 11.5% senior notes. We obtained the required con-
sent in March 2003. In April 2003, we paid the noteholders who consented to the amend-
ments and waivers a fee of 7.25% of the nominal value of the bonds that they held.The
aggregate fee amounted to approximately € 12.9 million. We will include the consent fee
and any expenses related to the consent solicitation process in other expense in our con-

solidated statements of operations as incurred.

We will charge unamortized debt issuance costs related to the refinanced senior credit
facility and the repaid portion of the loans from shareholders and related parties to inter-
est expense at the respective repayment dates of these debt instruments. We will capital-
ize and amortize debt issuance costs related to the issuance of the new senior credit facil-

ity to interest expense pursuant to the effective interest method.

As the contractual interest rate of 5% on the loans from related parties and shareholders
was below market rate at the inception of the loans, we imputed interest at a rate of 11.5%
for accounting purposes. We credited the difference between the net present value of the
loans at their inception and the cash amount received from sharehoiders and related par-
ties against additional paid in capital and deferred taxes at inception of the loans. As of
December 31, 2002, the total amount accrued in the balance sheet for these loans

amounted to € 172,674, which approximates fair market value.

As required by applicable accounting standards, we will account for the partial repayment
of the loans from shareholders and related parties as a capital transaction.
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Working capital

As in previous years, we intend to finance working capital requirements from funds that
our operations generated. We believe that the existing financing of working capital is suf-
ficient for our current working capital requirements. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, we
had available € 70,058 and € 30,051 lines of credits with several banks. An amount of
£ 51,129 of the credit lines as of December 31, 2002 represents senior bank loan facility E.
Under the respective credit arrangements we and our subsidiaries have the option to bor-
row amounts for general purposes.

Capital expenditures

We finance our capital expenditures primarily from operating cash flows, except for cap-
ital expenditures on the expansion of our production facilities. Investment in new plants
has, in the past, partly been financed by bank loans, supported by government subsidies.
We intend to finance further capital expenditures primarily from operating cash flows. We
believe that our manufacturing facilities are generally in good condition. We do not antici-
pate that exceptional capital expenditures exceeding depreciation will be needed to
replace existing facilities in the near future.
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Historical cash flows

The following table sets out certain information with respect to our cash flows:

Year ended | Year ended Year ended

‘ December 31, |, December 31, December 31,
2002 | 2001 2000
‘ €000 £ '000 € '000
Cash flows from operating activities: ; ‘
Net income (loss) ‘ 23,551 (30,113) (21,940)
Minority interests in income ‘ ‘
of subsidiaries : 1,176 923 2,978
Extraordinary loss 0. 0 4,775
Adjustments to reconcile net '
income to net cash provided
by operating activities | 72,059 . 118,710 86,108
Changes in operating ‘
assets and liabilities : 45,962 48,332 (14,640)
Net cash provided by operating activities; 142,748 137,859 57,281
Net cash used for investing activities (41,184) : (33,574) (57,649)
Net cash used for financing activities 3 (79,498) : (100,076) (48,163)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ‘
on cash and cash equivalents - _,(1'044) 7 (234) 159
Net increase (decrease) in cash ‘ ‘
and cash equivalents L 2;?@%27 4,035 (48,372)
Cash and cash equivaients ! ‘
At beginning of year 50,277 46,242 94,614
At end of year 71,299 . 50,277 48,242

Net cash provided by operating activities

Net cash provided by operating activities increased by € 4,889 or 3.5% from € 137,859 in
the year ended December 31, 2001 to € 142,748 in the year ended December 31, 2002.

in July 2001 we received an income tax refund of € 49,340 which we included in other cur-
rent assets at December 31, 2000. We used this tax refund to repay long-term debt to
banks. Not including the one-time effect from this tax refund, our cash flow from operat-
ing activities improved by € 54,229 in the year ended December 31, 2002 compared to the
year ended December 31, 2001. In addition to the ongoing positive development of our
operations, we attribute this increase mainly to:
o adecrease in interest payments of € 17,710 from € 67,098 in the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2001 to € 49,388 in the year ended December 31, 2002.This decrease is main-

ly due to principal payments on long-term debt to banks in the second half of 2001
and July 2002 and lower interest rates on our bank debt;
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o working capital requirements for accounts receivable, inventories and accounts pay-

able were also reduced in the year 2002 compared to 2001. Due to better inventory
management, we significantly reduced our inventories in 2001. This positive effect on
working capital requirements in 2001 was almost completely offset by an increase in
accounts receivable and decreased accounts payable in 2001. Though our sales vol-
ume increased by 2.8% in 2002, inventories remained almost at the same level in
2002 compared to 2001. Decreases in accounts receivable and increases in accounts
payable, which were at an exceptional high at year end 2002, were the main factors

for the reduction in working capital requirements in 2002;

o movements in prepaid expenses and other assets which decreased by € 4,796 in 2001
(€ 54,136, net of the one-time effect of tax refunds of € 49,340) compared to a
decrease of € 9,217 in 2002; and

o movements in other accrued expenses and liabilities, which decreased by € 12,342 in
2001 and increased by € 11,097 in 2002. The decrease in 2001 related primarily to
accruals for interest payments. The increase in 2002 relates primarily to accrued pay-
rolf and personnel-related expenses.

These positive effects on our operating cash flows in the year ended December 31, 2002
compared to the year ended December 31, 2001 were partly offset by higher income tax
payments, which increased by € 6,654 from € 14,931 (net of the one-time effect of tax
refunds of € 49,340) in the year ended December 31, 2001 to € 21,485 in the year ended
December 31, 2002. Income tax payments mainly increased because of higher operating
results of group companies.

Net cash from operating activities increased by € 80,578 or 140.7% from € 57,281 in the
year ended December 31, 2000 to € 137,859 in the year ended December 31, 2001. We
attribute this development to an increase in cash flow provided by current operations of
€ 17599 and a movement in operating assets and liabilities of € 62,979. Net operating
assets increased by € 14,640 in the year ended December 31, 2000 and decreased by
€ 48,339 in the year ended December 31, 2001.

We attribute the increase in cash flows from current operations of € 17599 in the year
ended December 31, 2001 compared to the year ended December 31, 2000 to a € 6,875
reduction of interest payments from € 73,973 in the year ended December 31, 2000 to
€ 67,098 in the year ended December 31, 2001 and to the continuing positive development
of current operations in the year ended December 31, 2001.

The decrease in net operating assets of € 48,339 in the year ended December 31, 2001 was
mainly caused by decreases in prepaid expenses and other assets of € 54,136 and de-
creases in inventories of € 22,287 which were partly offset by increases in accounts receiv-
able of € 15,678 and decreases in other accrued expenses and liabilities of € 12,342.

We attribute the increase in accounts receivabie in the year ended December 31, 2001
compared to the year ended December 31, 2000 to increased export sales as payment
terms for the export business are longer than for domestic sales. The increase in accounts
receivable was further impacted by higher sales in the fourth quarter of 2001 compared
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to the fourth quarter of 2000. We reduced inventories at year end 2001 in order to
decrease net working capital and related financing costs. The decrease in prepaid expens-
es and other assets in the year ended December 31, 2001 was mainly due to a tax refund
of € 49,340 received in July 2001. We used this refund to repay long-term debt to banks.

Net cash used for investing activities

Our investing activities comprise investments in tangible and intangibie assets. in the
year ended December 31, 2000, our investing activities also included purchases of shares
from minority shareholders. We also refer to investments in property, plant and equip-
ment and in intangible assets as capital expenditures. Investments in intangible assets

relate essentially to software.

Net cash used for investing activities increased by € 7,610 or 22.7% from € 33,574 in the
vear ended December 31, 2001 to € 41,184 in the year ended December 31, 2002. Cash
used for investments into property, plant and equipment increased by € 4,039 and cash
used for investments in intangible assets increased by € 4,057. The increases mainly relate
to the introduction of a new standard software system (SAP R/3) and the necessary com-
puter hardware systems required for this software. In 2002, about 84% of our capital
expenditures related to our Germany and direct exports segment, 7% to our European
subsidiaries segment and 9% to our Overseas subsidiaries segment. In 2001, 77% of our
capital expenditures related to our Germany and direct exports segment, 10% to our Euro-

pean subsidiaries segment and 13% to our Overseas subsidiaries segment.

Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment increased by € 668 from € 2,727
in the year ended December 31, 2001 to € 3,395 in the year ended December 31, 2002.
These proceeds include cash received for the sale of former production sites and training

centers of the Company.

Net cash used for investing activities decreased by € 24,075 or 42.0% from € 57,649 in the
year ended December 31, 2000 to € 33,574 in the year ended December 31, 2001. We
attribute this decrease mainly to a reduction in cash used for purchases of shares from
minority shareholders by € 23,333. Capital expenditures decreased from € 39,551 in the
vear ended December 31, 2000 to € 36,675 in the year ended December 31, 2001. In 2000,
76% of our capital expenditures related to our Germany and direct exports segment, 14%
to our European subsidiaries segment and 10% to our Overseas subsidiaries segment.

Net cash used for financing activities

Net cash used for financing activities decreased by € 20,518 or 20.5% from € 100,016 in
the year ended December 31, 2001 to € 79,498 in the year ended December 31, 2002. Qur
principal payments on long-term debt decreased by € 28,494 from € 108,216 in the year
ended December 31, 2001 to € 79,722 in the year ended December 31, 2002. In 2001 prin-
cipal payments were partly financed by a tax refund of € 48,340. The decrease in cash
used for principal payments was partly offset by movements in restricted cash, which
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decreased by € 7,667 in 2001 and increased by € 1,324 in 2002. Under the contracts with
the financing banks, we have agreed to deposit certain cash amounts into a bank account

from which no withdrawals can be made without consent from the financing banks.

In the year ended December 31, 2001 net cash used for financing activities amounted to
€ 100,016 compared to net cash used for financing activities of € 48,163 in the year ended
December 31, 2000.

We attribute net cash used for financing activities in the year ended December 31, 2001 to:
o principal payments on long-term debt to banks of € 108,216; and

o a decrease in restricted cash of € 7,667

We attribute net cash used for financing activities in the year ended December 31, 2000 to:

o principal payments on long-term debt to banks of € 314,147. These payments relate to
the refinancing through the issuance of bonds in November 2000 in an amount of
€ 261,432 and scheduled principal payments of € 52,715;

o proceeds from the issuance of bonds in an amount of € 200,000 in November 2000;

o proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt to banks of € 98,522. These proceeds
mainly relate to the refinancing in November 2000 of € 76,694; and

o an increase in restricted cash by € 30,295.

Net cash flow

Cash and cash equivalents amounting to € 50,277 as of December 31, 2001 increased by
£ 21,022 or 41.8% to € 71,299 as of December 31, 2002.

Cash and cash equivalents amounting to € 46,242 as of December 31, 2000 increased by
€ 4,035 or 8.7% to £ 50,277 as of December 31, 2001.

Cash and cash equivalents amounting to € 94,614 as of December 31, 1999 decreased by
€ 48,372 or 51.1% to € 46,242 as of December 31, 2000.

Under the senior credit facility, we agreed to deposit at the request of the lenders, cash
that we received from subsidiaries, whose shares were pledged to the lenders, into a
bank account from which no withdrawals could be made without their written consent.
The lenders agreed to permit withdrawals from the bank account provided that they had
not declared an event of default under the credit agreements. No events of default had
occurred. We refinanced the senior credit facility in March 2003 as described above.

Investment of surplus cash

We invest any surplus cash in euro deposit accounts held with financial institutions.
Under the senior credit facility, we have agreed to deposit certain cash amounts into an
account from which no withdrawals can be made without their consent.
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RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

We consider research and development a major factor in securing our future competitive-

ness. In an environment characterized by increasing levels of innovation and a shortening

of product life cycles, innovation in functions, styles, materials and processes has gained

further importance for differentiating our brand and enhancing our premium brand status.
Our research and development efforts generally concentrate on:

o creating new and innovative products;

o improving and expanding existing product lines;

o developing new components; and

o using innovative materials and processes.

in recent years the development of modular and integrated systems, such as shower pan-

els and bathroom systems, has also become increasingly impartant.

In order to maintain our innovative strength, we conduct various research projects for the
development of basic technologies such as in the field of nanotechnology/new surface

properties mainly with external institutes and universities. We keep track of new mater-
ials developments systematically and conduct extensive testing with partners, in order,
for instance, to ensure that we stay below the permitted levels of metal leaching into
drinking water, which are becoming more stringent around the world. We used tested
and standardized components, materials and methods to a greater extent in our research
and development projects in 2002 which resulted in the desired cost improvements. We
segregate pre-development and series development to meet our high quality standards
such as those for product life and surface quality. We expect our strategy for the selection
and integration of system suppliers to provide us with information on technological
trends at an early stage so that we may take these trends into account in subsequent
product development. Suppliers also may be involved in the early stages of development

projects in order to provide their specific expertise.

To optimize internal communication, we have taken the first steps toward promoting
knowledge sharing and more intensive use of existing synergies. We aim for ongoing
exchange of technology and experience and the establishment and maintenance of a
communication network as the fundamental element for setting up a comprehensive knowl-

edge management system.

Our research and development activities in the year ended December 31, 2002 included
the enhancement of our product ranges which were presented at the ISH fair 2003 and the

adaptation of products for international markets. Also in 2002, we synchronized processes
that we previously performed in sequence to accelerate the development of new prod-
ucts. In 2001 and 2000, our research and development projects particularly included the
development of a new shower program such as the innovative Freehander® and Taron
shower panel and the development of preproduction samples and pilot lot production for
the new Tenso and Atrio product lines. We presented these product lines at the ISH fair
2001. In the year 2000 we implemented an engineering data management, or EDM, sys-
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tem throughout the group in order to access existing product data from all locations and

to use this data to continue the development of new products.

Research and development expenses amounted to € 24,190, € 20,066 and € 20,873 in the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. We attribute the increase in
the year ended December 31, 2002 mainly to expenses for additional personnel in re-
search and development. As a percentage of sales, research and development expendi-
tures increased slightly from 2.4% and 2.3% in the years ended December 31, 2000 and
2001, respectively, to 2.7% in the year ended December 31, 2002.

TREND INFORMATION

Industry trends. Although it is difficult to assess growth rates in the worldwide sanitary
products industry, we estimate that the sanitary fittings segment has achieved an average
compound annual sales growth rate of approximately six percent over the past ten years
in Western Europe, North America and Japan, measured by value of demand. Major fac-
tors which have contributed to growth in the sanitary products industry in Western
Europe and North America would appear to include changing demographics, changing
consumer preferences to favor more expensive products with higher design standards
and more advanced technological features, an increasing trend towards a greater num-
ber of water delivery points per dwelling and increasing renovation activity. Growth in the
sanitary products industry in emerging markets generally results from population
growth, greater disposable income and increasing penetration of western sanitary stand-
ards. We believe that growth in tourism in emerging markets has also contributed to
demand for higher quality sanitary products in those markets.

Regional trends. During the year ended December 31, 2002 sales in Germany and direct
exports decreased by 2.9%, sales by European subsidiaries increased by 3.7% and sales
by Overseas subsidiaries increased by 8.5%.The decrease of 2.9% in Germany and direct
exports results from a decrease in sales in Germany by 7.9% partly offset by an increase
in direct exports of 8.4%, especially related to exports to eastern European countries. We
attribute the decrease in sales in Germany to ongoing unfavorable market conditions. We
estimate that the German sanitary products market declined approximately 10% in 2002.
For 2003, the industry, specialist trade and specialist wholesalers expect little recovery.
While remodeling demand is likely to decrease further, a positive trend is becoming
apparent in non-residential construction. However, we do not expect a fundamental
recovery of the German sanitary products market any time before 2004. We expect
around 2% growth in sanitary products sales in our European markets for 2003. The high
growth in Eastern Europe over the last few years has flattened out, although individual
markets are still showing strong growth rates. We will attempt to increase sales at a rate
faster than the market rate within our European subsidiaries segment. We also expect fur-
ther growth in our overseas markets including in the United States. Provided a stabiliza-
tion of the political situation in the Middle East and a positive development of the econ-
omy in Japan, we expect a positive development in our Middle and Far East markets.
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Manufacturing - New international manufacturing strategy. In 2002 our management ap-
proved a new international manufacturing strategy aimed at cutting costs and further
stream’ining operations. This strategy will involve all our plants. We expect that the strate-
gy will allow our plants to focus on their core competencies and improve the workflow
within and among our plants. We intend to shift production volume of some of our small-
er production sites in Germany to our larger manufacturing facilities. We have already
integrated the production of our subsidiary H.D. Eichelberg at our plant in Hemer, and we
will move production from our plant in Haldensleben to Hemer and Lahr during the first
half of 2003. Additionally, we plan to integrate the production of our subsidiary
Eggemann at our plant in Hemer in the second half of 2003. Our plant in Portugal plays
an important role in our strategic considerations, and beginning in 2003 we intend to

increase production capacity there.

Distribution. Qur distribution system generally follows the three-step process common to
the sanitary products industry in most developed markets: from the manufacturers to the
sanitary products wholesalers, from the sanitary products wholesalers to the installers
and retailers and from the installers and retailers to private residential and commercial
end-users. Further developments in distribution, including a growing level of sophistica-
tion in retail distribution, will favor premium brands like GROHE, which can offer an
extensive range of products and solutions. Furthermore, consolidation in wholesale dis-
tribution will create larger wholesale companies which concentrate on key brands which

have superior product and system innovations and special logistical capabilities.

Economic conditions and construction activity. The demand for cur products is directly
affected by general economic conditions, including gross domestic product growth, inter-
est rates and labor costs in those countries in which we operate. We are particularly ex-
posed to fluctuations in Germany and the rest of Western Europe.

Our business is dependent on construction activity in the markets in which we operate.
For example, approximately 30% of our annual sales are attributable to the new con-
struction segment of the construction industry, while the remainder is attributable to the

building repairs, maintenance and improvement segment of the construction industry.

Effects of currency fluctuations and inflation. We transact business around the world,
including in 130 countries outside the European Union and in more than ten currencies.
During the year ended December 31, 2002, we generated approximately 30% of our
revenues in currencies other than the euro and we expect this percentage to increase in
the future. Changes in foreign currency exchange rates, therefore, can affect our ability to
sell our products at satisfactory prices and can affect the value of our foreign assets, rev-
enues, liabilities and costs when reported in euros and, therefore, our financial condition

or results of operations.

Price of certain raw materials. During the year ended December 31, 2002, approximately
62% of our raw material costs related to brass and brass machining and forging parts and
approximately 32% of our raw material costs related to plastic components. Accordingly,
our production costs are directly impacted by fluctuations in the price of these raw mate-

rials. Particularly, prices for brass have been volatile in the past.
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Future acquisitions. We will continue to explore acquisitions of related businesses to

enhance our existing products and expand the geographic and industry scope of our
business as an important element of our growth strategy. We cannot assure you that we
will be able to identify and acquire suitable companies on acceptable terms. However,
any businesses that we acquire, together with any indebtedness that we incur, would

have an impact on our resuits of our operations.

New products. In 2002, we earned more than 25% of our revenues through the sale of
products launched after January 1, 2000. Our results of operations depend upon our abil-
ity to continue to introduce new products with attractive performance and design char-

acteristics at competitive prices in order to compete successfully in our markets.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

We do not have any material off-balance sheet arrangements except for the following. As
is customary in the industry, we sell our products to some customers against bills of
exchange. A bill of exchange provides legal evidence of the debt and orders the drawee,
who can be the customer or, a financial institution acting on its behalf, to pay a specified
amount against the bill of exchange at maturity. If we endorse these bills of exchange to
our bank, we receive its value in cash after deduction of a discount. Should the drawee
default upon maturity of the bill of exchange, we are liable for the debt. At December 31,
2002, the maximum possible recourse against us upon default of the drawee on these
transactions was to € 4,300.

TABULAR DISCLOSURE OF CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations existing as of December 37,
2002:

!

Payments due by period ! ‘

2004 2006 ! |

2003 to 2005 to 2007 Thereafter | |

£ '000 £ '000 € 000 €000 ;

Long-term debt ‘ |
to banks 73,184 162,051 114,402 3,501 353,138
Bonds 0 0 0 200,000 200,000
Long-term debt to related 1 ‘
parties and shareholders 0 0 0 172,674 . 172,674
Capital lease obligations 656 460 58 0 1174
Operating leases 4,820 6,494 1,009 5,057 | 17,380 !
Unconditional purchase ‘
obligations 132,640 1,676 0 0 134,316 |
Total 211,300 170,681 115,469 381,232 878,682 |

|

]
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Grohe Holding GmbH

Independent Auditors’ Report

To Grohe Holding GmbH:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Grohe Holding GmbH
and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2002 and the related statements of operations, cash
flows and changes in shareholders’ equity for the year then ended. These financial state-
ments are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. The financial state-
ments of Grohe Holding GmbH and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and for the
years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 were audited by other auditors who have
ceased operations as a foreign associate of the Securities and Exchange Commission
Practice Section of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those auditors
expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements in their report dated
April 23, 2002.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain rea-
sonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstate-
ment. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly,
in all material respects, the financial position of Grohe Holding GmbH and subsidiaries
as of December 31, 2002 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the
year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States.

Eschborn/Frankfurt, Germany
April 4, 2003

Ernst & Young AG

Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft

GroR Vof3
Wirtschaftspriifer Wirtschaftsprifer
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denendent Aucitors’ Report

To Grohe Holding GmbH:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Grohe Holding GmbH
and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and the related statements of operations, cash
flows and changes in shareholders’ equity for the years ended December 31, 2001 and
2000. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our

audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain rea-
sonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstate-
ment. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable

basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in
all material respects, the financial position of Grohe Holding GmbH and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2001 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years
ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States.

Eschborn/Frankfurt, Germany
Aprit 23, 2002

Arthur Andersen
Wirtschaftsprifungsgeselischaft

Steuerberatungsgesellschaft mbH

Grof3 Vol
Wirtschaftsprifer Wirtschaftsprifer

This independent auditors’ report is a copy of the previously issued report, the predecessor
auditor has not reissued the report.




Consolidated Statements of Operations

Sales
Cost of sales
Gross profit

Selling, general and administrative expenses
Research and development

Amortization of goodwill

Amortization of tradename

Total operating expenses

Cperating income

Interest income

Interest expense

Income from equity method investees
Financial income {loss) from derivatives
Other income

Other expense

Income (loss) before income taxes,
minority interests and extraordinary items

Income tax {(expense) benefit

Income (loss) before minority interests
and extraordinary items

Minority interests
Net income (loss) before extraordinary items

Extraordinary loss, net of applicable income taxes of

€ 1,767 for the year ended December 31, 2000

Net income {loss)

80 81

Year ended |

December 31,

2002

€ '000
898,262
(517,321}

380,941 |
-
|

3 (235,314}

Note

{19,341)

(278,845)

~102,036 |

3,324 |
{70,407) !
938 !
23,696 |
5,000
4 ;_—W

51,059

I
(26,332) ¢

{(1,176)

I

‘r

|

| 24,727
}

|

|

| 23,551
|

i

23551 |

Year ended
December 31,
2001

€ '000

880,781
(512,549)
368,232

{228,196)
(20,066)
(35,758)
{19,341)
(303,361)

64,871

3,367
(80,328)
216
{20,494)
7,178
(9,828)

(35,018}

5,828

{29,190}

(923)
(30,113}

{30,113}

Grohe Holding GmbH

Year endad
December 31,
2000

€ '000

855,474
(612,163}
343,311

(221,498)
(20,873)
(35,397)
{19,124}

(296,892}

46,479

4,425
(88,437}
579
(4,734)
9,915
(12,474)

(44,307)

28,353

(15,954)

(2,978)
(18,932)

(3,008)

(21,840)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.




Grohe Holding GmbH

Consolidated Ralance Sheets

ASSETS

Curreht assets
C;:ash and cash equivalents
Réstricted cash
Aizcounts receivable

Trade accounts receivable less allowance for
doubtful accounts of € 6,455 and € 6,708
at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively

Due from equity method investees

InVentories

D‘faferred income taxes

Pijepaid expenses

Lz“md and buildings held for sale
Qpher current assets

Total ”cmrrent assets

Enves{:menﬁs in equity method investees
Doﬁcucm income texes

@thez‘ji noncurrent assets

Pmpeﬁ‘y, plant and ecuipment
LiSnd, buildings and improvements, net
Efquipment and machinery, net
dfher factory and office equipment, net
Advances and construction in process

ﬂmamgjibﬂe a2ssets
Tl‘iadename, net
SS::oftware and other intangible assets, net
Intangible pension asset

i

"
Goodwill, net

'

Total assels

Note

o

10

December 31, :
2002

71,289
31,274

143203
1,810

145,013

108,195

395,475

5,146

1,498

0
33,050

1,510

22,321

129,162

28,309
48,274
13,261

T 219,006

226,817 .

11,226
202

238,245 -

T 445,011

1,322,897

December 31,
2001
€ 000

50,277
29,850

154,608
2,997
157,605
109,580
8,081
2,685
5,881
24,067
388,126
870
1,868
1,844
136,123
41,757
49,375
7231
234,486
246,004
6,980
286
253,270

452,555

1,353,117



LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities
Current maturities of long-term debt to banks
Current maturities of capital leases
Short-term debt to banks
Trade accounts payable
Current tax liabilities
Other accrued expenses and current liabilities

Total current liabilities

Noncurrent liabilities
Long-term debt to banks
Long-term debt to related parties
Long-term debt to shareholders
Bonds
Capital leases
Pension and similar obligations
Other accrued expenses and noncurrent liabilities
Deferred income taxes

Total noncurrent liabilities

Commitments and contingencies

Minority interests in consolidated subsidiaries
Shareholders’ equity

Share capital

Additional paid in capital, net of subscription receivable of € 283
and € 267 at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively

Deferred compensation
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

Total shareholders’ equity

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

82 83

Note

14
14
14
14

15

17

16

December 31,
2002 -
€000 '

73,184

656

4,054 .

34,599

16,780 -

! 142,910

| 272,183 |

279,954

133,148

39,626 .
’ 200,000

t 518 |
152,400 -
16,435 |

| 76,297 |

2,068

51,374

163,204

(567,510)
(3,912) -

151,368

1322897

(1,788) .

Dacember 31,
2001
£ '000

52,707
1,519
4,313

26,5M

12,254

137,491

234,795

379,201
119,415
35,449
260,000
657
143,436
15,514
83,037

976,709

1,845

51,003

158,472
0
(81,061)
11,354

139,768

1,383,117

The accompanying notes are an integral part of
these consolidated financial statements.




Grohe Holding GmbH

Consolidated Statements of Changes

Balante at December 31, 1992
Incresse in additional paid in capital related

to the modification of long-term debt to shareholders

and rélated parties
Comh?rehensive income (loss):

Net loss

iforeign currency translation adjustment
Total ‘fcomprehensive {oss

Balance at December 31, 2000

Capital increase
Subscription receivable
Treasury share transaction

Increéise in additional paid in capital related
to long-term debt
to shareholders and related parties

Comgrehensive income (loss):
Net loss
I“:oreign currency translation adjustment
iMinimum pension liability adjustment
Total comprehensive loss

Baﬂan“ce at December 31, 2001

Capitéﬂ increase
Defer;"ed compensation charge
Amortization of deferrad compensation
Comﬁ;rehensive income (loss):
Net income
i:oreign currency transiation adjustment
iMinimum pension liability adjustment
Total ::::omprehensive income

Balante at Decamber 31, 2002

o

10

Shareholders” Ecuit

Share capital

Note £ '000
50,893
14
50,893
16 10
16
14
15
51,003
16 371
16
51,374

Additional
paid in capital
£ '000

122,639

28,626

158,265
267

(267)
97

110

158,472

1,163
3,569

163,204



Accumulated other comprehensive income
Foreign currency

Deferred Accumulated translation Minimum
compensation deficit adjustment pension liability
€ '000 € '000 € '000 € ‘000
0 {29,008) 5,912 0
(21,940)
3,902
0 (50,948} 9,814 0
(30,113)
1,765
(225)
0 (81,081) 11,579 (225)
(3,569)
1,781
23,551
{15,008)
(258)
{1,788) (57,510} (3,423) (483)

Total
shareholders’

: |
-
h

equity
€ '000

a6

28,626

| (30,13)

1,765

| 139,768 |

1,634
0
1,781

ll

! 23,551

' {15,008)

{258) |
8,285 |

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Grohe Holding GmbH

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss)
Minority interests in income of subsidiaries
EXtraordinary loss

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash
provided by operating activities

Depreciation of fixed assets

Amortization of goodwill and tradename
Amortization of software and other intangibles
Impairment of long-lived assets

Deferred income taxes

Income from equity method investees
Noncash compensation

Gains from disposal of long-lived assets, net

Changes in fair market value of derivative
financial instruments without impact on cash, net

Accrued interest on long-term debt
to shareholders and related parties

C‘Thanges in operating assets and liabilities
| Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable
Pension and similar obligations
- Other accrued expenses and liabilities
Net qash provided by operating activities

Note

19

14

Year ended
December 31,
2002

23,5651
1,176
0

47872
18,341
4,020
2,858
(4,418)
(938)

1,781
{148)

(16,119)

9,910
(1,297)
9,217
8,088
8,947

11,097
142,748

£ '000

17810

Year ended
December 31,
2001

€ ‘000

{30,113}
923
0

54,078
55,099
3,372
765
(24,116)
{216)

0

(34)

13,800

15,962

{15,578)
22,287
54,136
(3,835)

3,671

(12,342)

137,859

Year ended
December 31,
2000

€ '000

(21,940)
2,978
4,775

55,890
54,621
3,688
1,793
(47,437)
(57%)

0

(408)

0

18,741

(23,417)
{6,937)
(19,287)
4,413
9,347
21,241
57,281



Cash flows used for investing activities:

I
I
f Year ended
December 31, .
2002

Note | € ‘000

|
i

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (36,549) .

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1,435 .

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment

to related parties
Purchases of intangible assets

1,960 |

| (8,222) -

Purchases of shares from minorities ! (206) |

Dividends received from equity method investees 398

Net cash used for investing activities ! (41,184) -
1

Cash flows used for financing activities: ’

{Increase) decrease in restricted cash 3 (1,324) .

Increase (decrease) in short-term debt to banks 12 36 .

Decrease in short-term debt to related parties 12 i 0.
\

Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt

to shareholders and related parties 14 | 0
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt to banks T 0
Principal payments on long-term debt to banks 14| (79,722) -
Proceeds from issuance of bonds 14 3
Proceeds from issuance of shares 16 | 1,634 -
Purchase of treasury shares 16 ‘ 0.
Sale of treasury shares 6 0
Dividends paid to minorities | (22)
Net cash used for financing activities ﬁ {(79,498)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes f 3
on cash and cash equivalents ; {1,044)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1_— 21,()?27271
Cash and cash equivalents :
At beginning of year ! 50,277
At end of year 71,299 .
|
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Interest paid 49,388
Income taxes paid {(benefits received), net 21,485
Other payments to related parties 1,273

Year ended

December 31,

2001
€ '000

(32,510)
2,727

0
(4,165)
(209)
583
(33,574)

7,667

378

0
(108,216}
0

110

(905)
1,002
(52)
(100,016}

(234)

4,035

46,242
50,277

67,098
(34,409)
1,153

Year ended
December 31,
2000

£ '000

(35,774)
5,444

0
(3,777)
(23,542}
0
(567,649)

(30,295)
(196)
(1,301)

0

98,522
(314,147)
200,000
0

0

0

(748)
(48,163)

169

(48,372)

94,614
48,242

73,973
18,870
3,348

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.




Grohe Holding GmbH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

All arnounts in thousands of euro; except where stated

1.

2.

THE COMPANY

Grohe Holding GmbH (“GROHE" “Grohe Holding” or “the Company”) with its corporate
headquarters in Hemer (Germany) was formed as a limited liability company under Ger-

man law and registered with the Commercial Register on July 9, 1999 (date of inception).

GROHE and its subsidiaries form a group of companies {("GROHE Group”) engaged in the
manufacturing and distribution of sanitary fittings, concentrating on the medium- and
high-end of the sanitary products market. GROHE designs, manufactures and markets an
extensive range of {1} sanitary fittings, such as faucets, showerheads and related acces-
sories, and shower systems, and (2) sanitary technology products, such as flushing and

installation systems and water management systems.

GROHE's brand strategy focuses on a single global brand, GROHE, under which it markets
the product ranges: GROHEART, GROHETEC, SanitarySystems, Showers and Shower
Systems, and Kitchen Fittings. The GROHEART product range consists of high-end sani-
tary fittings and accessories. The GROHE TEC product range consists of medium-end sani-
tary fittings and accessories. SanitarySystems consists of flushing and installation
systems.

The Company’s main customers are sanitary wholesalers who sell sanitary products to
the respective retailers. GROHE’s major markets are Germany, rest of Europe, North
America, the Middle East and the Far East.

FORMATION AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Grohe Holding was formed in 1999 to acquire Friedrich Grohe AG. At December 31, 1999
Grohe Holding had acquired 96.9% of the shares of Friedrich Grohe AG. Subsequently,
Friedrich Grohe AG was converted into Friedrich Grohe AG & Co. KG in the year 2000.
Grohe Holding acquired further nonvoting preferred shares from minority shareholders
in different transactions in 2000. The purchase price paid for the acquisitions in 2000
totaled € 23,542. Goodwill arising from the acquisitions in 2000 totaled € 9,348 and as a
result the economic ownership of Friedrich Grohe AG & Co. KG increased from 96.9% as
of December 31, 1999 to 99.6% as of December 31, 2000.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared
in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles (“US GAAP”).

The Company maintains its financial records in accordance with the German Com-
mercial Code, which represents accounting principles generally accepted in Germany
(“German GAAP"). Generally accepted accounting principles in Germany vary in certain
significant respects from US GAAP Accordingly, the Company has recorded certain
adjustments in order that these financial statements are in accordance with US GAAP.
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The assets, liabilities and resulits of operations of entities in which the Company has a

controlling interest have been consolidated. Investments in which the Company exer-
cises significant influence, but which it does not control (generally 20-50% ownership
interest) are accounted for under the equity method of accounting. All significant inter-
company accounts and transactions have been eliminated. Minority interests represent
the shares held by outside shareholders in the fully consolidated companies.

Minority interests represent the 0.4% separate ownership in Friedrich Grohe AG & Co.
KG and Friedrich Grohe AG & Co. KG’s wholly owned subsidiaries, the 26.3% separate
ownership in Grohe Siam Ltd., Klaeng, the 0.8% separate ownership in AQUA Butzke
GmbH (formerly Aqua Butzke-Werke AG), Ludwigsfelde, and the 30.3% separate owner-
ship in Rotter GmbH & Co. KG and Rotter Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Berlin, as of
December 31, 2002 and 2001.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with US GAAP requires the man-
agement of the Company to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities
at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Reporting currency and foreign currency transiation

The Company’s previous reporting currency was the deutsche mark (“DM”). On January 1,
2001 it determined that its reporting currency should be the euro. it has therefore restat-
ed all periods ended prior to January 1, 2001 as if the euro was its reporting currency
prior to that date.

Effective January 1, 1999 the exchange rate between national currencies of the euro par-
ticipating countries, inciuding Germany, were irreversibly fixed against the euro. Bal-
ances at January 1, 1999 have been restated into euro using the fixed exchange rate of
DM 1.95583 to the euro and the financial statements for the year ending December 31,
2000 have been restated into euro using that fixed exchange rate.
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The Company follows the translation policy as provided by Statement of Financial Ac-

counting Standards Board SFAS No. 52, “Foreign Currency Translation”. The functional
currency of each of the subsidiaries is the currency of the primary economic environ-
ment in which the subsidiary operates, generally the local currency of the country in
which the subsidiary is located. Accordingly, assets and liabilities of the foreign subsidia-
ries are translated at the rate of exchange at the balance sheet dates. Income and
expense items are translated at the average exchange rate prevailing throughout the
year. Adjustments to prior year’s translation of assets and liabilities and translation dif-
ferences between the balance sheet and the income statement are included in accumu-
lated other comprehensive income in the consolidated financial statements.

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are recorded in euro at the rate of ex-
change in effect at the date of the transaction and are subsequently adjusted to the ex-
change rate in effect at the balance sheet date or settlement date, if earlier, which re-
suited in foreign currency transaction gains of € 2,826, € 4,365 and € 4,673 and losses of
€ 10,660, € 3,314, and € 844 for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively. These gains and losses have been included in other income or other
expense of the respective periods. Net gains and {losses) from currency derivatives of
€ 27,952, € (15,438) and £ (1,915) are recognized in financial income from derivatives for
the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Total net currency
gains or {losses) amounted to € 20,118, € (14,387) and € 1,914 in the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

The exchange rates of the currencies of the European Monetary Union member states
used in the consolidated financial statements correspond to the fixed euro conversion
rates since January 1, 1999. The exchange rates of other significant currencies reflected

in the consolidated financial statements are as follows:

Euro exchange rates at : December 31, December 31,
2002 2001

1 US dollar 0.96 113

7 Canadian dollar ‘ 0.61 - 0.71

1 pound sterling 153 1.64
100  Singapore dollar ‘ 55.11 60.98
100  Thailand baht ‘ 2.12 2.44

100  Japanese yen ‘ 0.80 . 0.86




[ ) I

Euro average exchange rates ( Year ended Year ended Year ended

0.85 | 0.92 1.01

i December 31, | December 31, December 31,

; 2002 | 2001 2000

1 US dollar 1.06 . 1.1 1.08

1 Canadian dollar | 0.68 . 0.72 0.73

1 pound sterling 2 1.59 ! 1.61 1.64

100 Singapore dollar } 59.27 | 62.27 62.44

100 Thailand baht i 2.36 2.39 2.58
100 Japanese yen w
|

Cash and cash equivalents

All highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less are consid-
ered to be cash equivalents. The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents approx-

imate fair value due to the short maturity of these investments.

Restricted cash

Pursuant to the Company’s senior credit facility agreement, the Company has agreed to
deposit certain cash amounts into a bank account, from which no withdrawals can be
made by the Company other than in accordance with the above agreements without

written consent from the bank administering the above credit facility.

Allowance for doubtful accounts

Management regularly assesses collectability of accounts receivable and an allowance
for doubtful accounts is provided for risk of non-collectability of receivables. The
allowance for doubtful accounts, deducted from accounts receivable in the balance

sheet, developed as follows:

|

Additions \}

Balance at charged to Balance at i

beginning costs and end i

of period expenses Beductions ‘ of period 1

€ '000 £ '000 €000 €000

Year ended December 31, 2000 5,195 1,250 (690) 5,755 |
Year ended December 31, 2001 5,755 2,558 (1605) 6708
Year ended December 31, 2002 6,708 1,927 (2,180) 6,455

Deductions comprise of uncollectable accounts written off, less recoveries of accounts

written off in prior years.



inventories

Inventories consist of raw materials and supplies, work in process, finished goods, and
goods purchased for resale. Inventories are shown at the lower of cost or market. Actual
cost, using the weighted average method, is used to recognize raw materials and sup-
plies, and goods purchased for resale. Manufacturing cost is used to value finished
goods and work in process. Manufacturing cost includes direct labor, raw materials and
manufacturing overhead. Obsolete, damaged and excess inventories are carried at the

lower of cost or net realizable value.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at acquisition cost and depreciated using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the assets, ranging from 3 to 7
years for computer hardware, 3 to 8 years for plant and machinery, 3 to 10 years for other
factory and office equipment and 25 to 40 years for buildings.

Cost includes major expenditures and replacements which extend useful lives or in-
crease capacity; maintenance and repair costs are expensed as incurred. When assets
are sold or retired, their cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from
the appropriate accounts. Any gains or losses on disposition of such assets are record-
ed as other income/expenses. Fully depreciated assets are retained in tangible fixed
assets and depreciation accounts until they are removed from service.

Property, plant and equipment with immaterial acquisition cost are expensed as in-
curred.

Property held for future development, which consists of land intended to be used for fur-

ther expansion of existing plants, is recorded at the lower of cost or market, amounting
to € 1,824 as of December 31, 2002 and 2001.




intangibles

Purchased intangible assets, other than goodwill, are initially recognized at acquisition
cost. Intangible assets with a definite useful life are amortized over their respective esti-
mated useful lives and reviewed for impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 144,
“Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (see below). The use-
ful life is determined separately for each asset and ranges from 3 to 5 years for software
and 15 years for tradename.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 142 “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”, goodwill
derived from acquisitions that were completed before July 1, 2001, was capitalized and
amortized over a period of 15 years. Goodwill acquired in business combinations after
June 30, 2001, and intangible assets determined to have an indefinite useful life acquired
after June 30, 2001, are not amortized in accordance with SFAS No. 142, Goodwill
acquired in business combinations that were completed before July 1, 2001, and intan-
gible assets with an indefinite useful life acquired before July 1, 2001, were amortized
until December 31, 2001. The recoverability of goodwill is evaluated at {feast annually or
when significant events occur or there are changes in circumstances that indicate the fair
value of one of GROHE’s reporting units is less than its carrying value. GROHE deter-
mines the fair value of each of its reporting units by estimating the present value based
on cash flows.

The Company consistently applies AICPA Statement of Position {(SOP) 98-1, “Accounting
for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use”. External
direct costs of material and services consumed in developing or obtaining internal use
computer software, payroll and payroll related costs for employees associated with the
internal use software project incurred in the development stage have been capitalized and

are amortized on a straight-line basis over 3 to 5 years.

Other noncurrent assets

Cost related to the issuance of debt are treated as a deferred charge and classified as a
noncurrent asset. Debt issuance costs are amortized over the lives of the related debt
using the effective interest method and classified as interest expense in the statement of
operations.

Accrued liabilities

The valuations of pension liabilities and other post-retirement benefit obligations are
based upon the projected unit credit method in accordance with SFAS No. 87,
“Employers’ Accounting for Pensions” and SFAS No. 106, “Employers” Accounting for
Postretirement Benefits OtherThan Pensions”, respectively.

Accrued liabilities for contingencies are recognized when an obligation to a third party

has been incurred, the payment is probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated.



income taxes

The Company utilizes the liability method of accounting for income taxes in accordance
with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes”. Under the liability method, deferred
taxes are determined based on the differences between the financial statements and tax
basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect in the years in which the
differences are expected to reverse. Valuation aliowances are recorded to reduce defer-

red tax assets when it is more likely than not that a tax benefit will not be realized.

Share-based compensation

The Company follows Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 “Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees” (APB 25) and the related interpretations in accounting for share-
based employee compensation. The Company includes pro forma information in Note 16,
as required by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation” (SFAS No. 123).

Per share information

Under a limited liability company in accordance with German law (“GmbH") the equity
interests of the shareholders in the Company are not represented by a number of equal
shares. Accordingly there is no per share amount assignable to Grohe Holding GmbH for
the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000.

Fair value of financial instruments and accounting for derivative financial instruments

and hedging activities

SFAS No. 105, “Disclosure of Information about Financial Instruments with Off-Balance-
Sheet Risk and Financial Instruments with Concentration of Credit Risk} SFAS No. 107,
“Disclosures About Fair Value of Financial Instruments”, and SFAS No. 119, “Disclosures
About Derivative Financial Instruments and Fair Value Financial Instruments”, require
disclosure of information with respect to fair values and nature and terms of financial
instruments whether or not recognized in the consolidated balance sheets. SFAS No. 105
and SFAS No. 119 have been superseded by SFAS No. 133 “Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities” for all fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2000.
Effective January 1, 2001 GROHE adopted SFAS No. 133 as amended by SFAS No. 137
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities — Deferral of the Effective
Date of FASB Statement No. 133” and SFAS No. 138 “Accounting for Certain Derivative
Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities”. SFAS No. 133 requires that all derivative
instruments be recorded in the consolidated balance sheet at fair value. Changes in the
fair value of derivatives shall be recorded each period in earnings or other comprehen-
sive income, depending on whether a derivative is designated as a part of a hedge trans-
action and, if it is, the type of hedge transaction. The adoption of SFAS No. 133 and SFAS

No. 138 did not have a material effect on the Company’s financial statements.

Information about the fair value of our financial instruments is set forth in Note 19

“Financial instruments”.




The Company is exposed to risks from changes in interest rates due to its use of finan-
cial instruments such as bonds and long-term debt to banks. GROHE uses interest rate

derivatives to reduce the risk of interest rate changes on the Company’s cash flow.

The Company is in business in approximately 130 countries outside the European Union
and operates in more than 10 currencies. During the year ended December 31, 2002,
GROHE generated approximately 30% of its revenues in currencies other than the euro.
Since production costs are mainly measured in euro the risk from foreign currency expo-
sure is essentially related to sales denominated in foreign currencies. The currency ex-
posure relates primarily to the US dollar and to a lesser extent to the Japanese yen and
British pound, resulting from sales to the United States, the Middle and Far East, Japan,

and the United Kingdom. Currency exposure from sales in other currencies is insignificant.

It is the Company’s exchange risk management policy to mitigate the economic risk from
exchange rate fluctuations on foreign currency denominated sales by entering into hedg-
ing transactions. The Company reduces the risk on cash flows from anticipated sales and
accounts receivable in foreign currencies by entering foreign currency derivative con-
tracts to sell the foreign currency amounts which will be received from sales in foreign
currencies at a fixed euro to foreign currency exchange rate. This policy has been set up
to enable management to plan future euro cash flows from sales and related accounts
receivable. The maximum fength of time to hedge the exposure from forecasted sales is
twelve months. The derivative contracts entered by us may exceed this twelve months
period by the expected collection period of up to six months for the related accounts
receivable as we may use the same contract to hedge the currency expaosure from sales
transactions and the currency exposure from accounts receivable resuiting from that
sales transactions. In the year 2002 management decided to economically hedge 12
months of anticipated sales as actual exchange rates were higher than budgeted ex-

change rates.

Derivative instruments are not designated as accounting hedges of specific assets, lia-
bilities, or firm commitments. Derivative instruments are therefore marked to market

and any resulting gain or loss was recognized in income.

Revenue recognition

Revenues are mainly generated through sales of finished products and further through
sales of goods purchased for resale.

Revenues from the sales of finished products and goods purchased for resale are rec-
ognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery of the products has
occurred, the price for the transaction is fixed or determinable, and collectability is rea-
sonably assured. Revenues are recognized net of sales incentives such as discounts, cus-
tomer bonuses and rebates granted. Sales incentives are recognized as a reduction of
revenue at the later of (1) the date at which the related revenue is recorded or (2} the date
the sales incentive is offered. Shipping and handling fees billed to customers, if any, are
recognized as revenues when the goods are shipped. Shipping costs are classified as
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selling costs and amounted to € 16,202, € 14,458 and € 13,828 for the years ended De-
cember 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Costs incurred for handling are recorded
as selling expense and amounted to € 9,810, € 10,100 and € 9,228 for the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Advertising costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising costs were € 38,746, € 40,618
and € 36,212 for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Concentration of credit risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrated credit risks
consist primarily of cash and trade receivables. Concentration of credit risk with respect
to accounts receivable is limited because a large number of customers in the individual
sales regions make up the companies customer base, thus spreading the credit risk. The
counterparties for financial instruments are major financial institutions. Although in case
of failure of these financial institutions the theoretical risk is the replacement cost of the
estimated fair value of the financial instruments, management believes, that the risk of

incurring losses is remote and that such losses, if any, would be immaterial.

Recent accounting pronouncements

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 141,
“Business Combinations”, and SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”.
SFAS No. 141 requires that the purchase method of accounting be used for all business
combinations initiated after June 30, 2001.

GROHE adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 141 and SFAS No. 142 as of July 1, 2001 and
January 1, 2002, respectively. SFAS No. 142 required GROHE {o evaluate its existing
intangible assets and goodwill and to make any necessary reclassifications in order to

conform with the new separation requirements at the date of adoption.

SFAS No. 142 also prohibits the scheduled amortization of goodwill and indefinite life
intangible assets. Instead, goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets will be tested for
impairment at least annually and on an interim basis when an event occurs or circum-
stances change between annual tests that would more-likely-than-not result in impair-
ment. Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill is assessed for impairment by using a fair value
based method. The Company determines fair value by utilizing discounted cash flows.
The fair value test required by SFAS No. 142 for goodwill and indefinite fived intangible
assets includes a two-step approach. Under the first step, companies must compare the
fair value of a “reporting unit” to its carrying value. A reporting unit is the level at which
goodwill impairment is measured and it is defined as an operating segment or one level
below it if certain conditions are met. If the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its
carrying value, goodwill is impaired and companies must proceed with step 2. Under
step 2, the amount of goodwill impairment is measured by the amount that the report-
ing unit's goodwill carrying value exceeds the “implied” fair value of goodwill. The




implied fair value of goodwill can only be determined by deducting the fair value of all

tangible and intangible net assets (including unrecognized intangible assets) of the
reporting unit from the fair value of the reporting unit (as determined in step 1). In this
step, companies must allocate the fair value of the reporting unit to all of the reporting

unit's assets and liabilities (a hypothetical purchase price allocation).

Goodwill acquired in business combinations completed before July 1, 2001 was amor-
tized until December 31, 2001. Beginning January 1, 2002, goodwill is no longer amor-
tized. In connection with the transitional impairment evaluation, SFAS No. 142 required
GROHE to perform an assessment of whether there was an indication that goodwill is
impaired as of January 1, 2002, GROHE completed the first step of the transitional
assessment for all of the Company's reporting units and determined there was no indi-
cation that goodwill had been impaired as of January 1, 2002, Accordingly, no transi-
tional goodwill impairment charge was necessary. GROHE performed the first annual
goodwill impairment test as of July 1, 2002 and there was no indication of goodwill
being impaired as of that date.

SFAS No. 142 requires pro forma disclosure as if SFAS No. 142 had been in effect in 2001
and 2000. GROHE's income before extraordinary items and net income would have been

as stated below due to reduced goodwill amortization:

Year ended { Year ended Year ended
December 31, ‘ Decembder 31, Becember 313,
2002 ; 2001 2000

£ °000 | £ 000 £ *000
Reported net income (loss) before ;

extraordinary items 23,551 [ (30,113) (18,932)
Add back: Goodwill amortization,

|
net of income tax effects ! ‘
of € 5,105 and £ 5,105 in the years ] )

[

ended December 31, 2001 and 2000,

respectively \ 0 30,653 30,292
Adjusted net income

before extraordinary items 23,551 | 540 11,360
i

97




Year ended Year ended Year ended

December 31, Jecember 31, December 31,
2002 - 2001 2000

, € ‘000 £ '000 £'000
Reportad net income (loss) 23,551 (30,113} (21,940)
Add back: Goodwill amortization,
net of income tax effects
of € 5,105 and € 5,105 in the years
ended December 31, 2001 and 2000,
respectively 0.

Adjusted net income L E3,§5i

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obli-
gations”. The statement applies to legal obligations associated with the retirement of
tangible long-lived assets that result from the acquisition, construction, development
and (cr) the normal operation of a long-lived asset, except for certain obligations of
lessees. SFAS No. 143 requires that the fair value of a liability for an asset retirement
obligation be recognized in the period in which it is incurred if a reasonable estimate of
fair value can be made. The associated asset retirement costs are capitalized as part of
the carrying amount of the long-lived asset and subsequently allocated to expense over
the asset’s useful life. GROHE adopted SFAS No. 143 on January 1, 2003. The adoption
of SFAS No. 143 did not have a material impact on GROHE’s financial statements.

Until December 31, 2001 the Company periodically evaluated the recoverability of the
carrying amounts of its long-lived assets including goodwill in accordance with SFAS
No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets
to be Disposed Of”. SFAS No. 121 was superseded by SFAS No. 144 "Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (excluding goodwill) which the Company
adopted on January 1, 2002. The adoption of SFAS No. 144 did not have a material
impact on GROHE's financial position or results of operations. SFAS No. 144 retains the
requirement to recognize an impairment loss only if the carrying amounts of long-lived
assets to be held and used are not recoverable from their expected undiscounted future
cash flows. An impairment of assets to be held and used is measured as the amount by
which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. SFAS No. 144
requires that a long-lived asset to be abandoned, exchanged for a similar productive
asset, or distributed to owners in a spin-off be considered held and used until it is dis-
posed. SFAS No. 144 requires the depreciable life of an asset to be abandoned be
revised. SFAS No. 144 requires all long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale be record-
ed at the lower of its carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell and to cease depre-
ciation (amortization). Therefore, discontinued operations are no longer measured on a
net realizable value basis, and future operating losses are no longer recognized before
they occur. Fair values of assets have been determined on the basis of comparable trans-

actions or expert appraisals.
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In the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2000 the Company recorded impairment

losses related to land and buildings to be held and used of € 2,328 and € 1,793, respec-
tively, which were included in cost of sales. Impairment losses related to land and
buildings to be disposed of by sale amounted to € 530 and € 765 in the years ended
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, and were included in general and adminis-
trative expenses. Impairment charges relate to decreases in market value associated
with two former production sites and training centers of the Company. One of these sites
was sold in January 2001, the other in June 2002 {(Note 18}. In 2002 the Company adopt-
ed a plan to centralize production of three smaller production sites at its larger facilities.
In 2002 impairment charges also relate to two of these three smaller production facili-
ties, which are still recorded as to be held and used at year end 2002. impairment loss-
es in all periods presented relate only to the Germany and direct exports segment of the
Company.

In May 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44,
and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, andTechnical Corrections”. SFAS No. 145
rescinds the automatic treatment of gains or losses from extinguishment of debt as
extraordinary unless they meet the criteria for extraordinary items as outlined in APB
Opinion No. 30, “Reporting the Results of Operations, Reporting the Effects of Disposal
of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events
and Transactions”. SFAS No. 145 also requires sale-leaseback accounting for certain lease
modifications that have economic effects that are similar to sale-leaseback transactions
and makes various technical corrections to existing pronouncements. The provisions of
SFAS No. 145 related to the rescission of FASB Statement 4 are effective for fiscal years
beginning after May 15, 2002, with early adoption encouraged. All other provisions of
SFAS No. 145 are effective for transactions occurring after May 15, 2002, with early adop-
tion encouraged. GROHE adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 145 related to the rescis-
sion of FASB Statement 4 as of January 1, 2003. All other provisions of SFAS No. 145
were adopted as of January 1, 2002 and did not have a material impact on GROHE's
financial statements.

In June 2002 the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit
or Disposal Activities”. SFAS No. 146 requires companies to recognize costs associated
with exit or disposal activities when they are incurred rather than at the date of a com-
mitment to an exit or disposal plan. Examples of costs covered by the standard include
lease termination costs and certain employee severance costs that are associated with a
restructuring, discontinued operation, plant closing, or other exit or disposal activity.
Previous accounting guidance was provided by EITF Issue No. 94-3, “Liability Recogni-
tion for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (in-
cluding Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring)”. Statement 146 replaces EITF Issue
94-3. The principal effect of applying SFAS No. 146 will be on the timing of recognition

of costs associated with exit or disposal activities. In many cases, those costs will be
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recognized as liabilities in periods following a commitment to a plan, not at the date of

the commitment. The Company is required to adopt the provisions of SFAS No. 146 for

exit or disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002.

In November 2002, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation (FIN) No. 45, “Guarantor’s

Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees

of Indebtedness of Others — an interpretation of FASB statements 5, 57, and 107 and re-

scission of FASB Interpretation 34". This interpretation elaborates on the disclosures to

be made by a guarantor in its financial statements about its obligations under certain

guarantees that it has issued. It also clarifies that a guarantor is required to recognize, at

the inception of a guarantee, a liability for the fair value of the obligation undertaken in

issuing the guarantee.The initial recognition and initial measurement provisions of FIN 45

are applicable on a prospective basis to guarantees issued or modified after Decem-
ber 31, 2002. GROHE does not expect that FIN 45 will have a material impact on the

Company’s financial statements. The disclosure requirements in FIN 45 are effective for

financial statements of interim or annual periods ending after December 15, 2002 and

have been adopted by the Company.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Com-
pensation — Transition and Disclosure - an amendment of FASB Statement No. 123"
SFAS No. 148 amends SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” to
provide alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based

method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. in addition, SFAS No. 148

requires more prominent disclosures in both interim and annual financial statements

about the method of accounting used for stock-based employee compensation and the

effect of the method used on reported results. GROHE applies APB 25 that uses an intrin-

sic value based approach to measure compensation expense.

Other expense is comprised of the following:

Professional services
Real estate transfer tax
Currency losses
Miscellaneous

Year ended | Year ended

December 31, ‘ December 31,
2002 . 2001

€000 £ 000

0 4,071

1,300 ! 0
10,660 | 3,314
1628 2,443

" 13,588 9,828

Year ended
Dacember 31,
20¢0

£ '000
4,062
3,579

844

3,989
12,474



5. INCOME TAXES

The geographic components of income {loss) before income taxes, minority interests

and extraordinary items are as follows:

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31, Becember 313,
2002 2001 2000
€ '000 € '000 £ 7000
Income {loss) before income taxes,
minority interests
and extracrdinary items
!
Germany (10,057) | (76,8486} (66,582)
Foreign ‘ 61,116 | 41,828 22,275

51,059 | {35.018) (44,307)

The income tax expense (benefit) consists of the following:

| |

|
Year ended | Year ended Year snded
December 31, [ December 31, Becember 31,
2002 | 2001 2000

€ '000

Current taxes
Germany 9,628 1,348 6,231

€ ’000 £ '000

Foreign ! 21,121 16,942 10,858
\ 30,749 | 18,290 17,089

Deferred taxes ‘: |
Germany | (4,387) | (25,490) (47,279)
Foreign | (30) | 1,372 1,837
| (4,417) | (24,118) (45,442)

{ 26,332 {5,828) (28,353}

f
| ;
|
I
I

Until December 31, 2000 German corporate tax law applied a split-rate with regard to the
taxation of the income of a corporation. A higher “undistributed” tax rate was applied to
income generated but not distributed to shareholders. In accordance with the tax law in
effect for the year ended December 31, 2000 income was initially subject to a federal cor-
porate tax rate of 40.0% plus solidarity surcharge of 5.5% on federal taxes payable.
Taking the impact of the surcharge into consideration the federal corporate income tax
rate amounted to 42.2%. Upon distribution, the Company was entitled to a tax refund for
the difference between the undistributed and the lower “distributed” tax rate of 30.0%.
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Accordingly, a tax credit was recorded for differences between the undistributed and dis-

tributed tax rates in the period in which income was distributed to shareholders, and the
retated deduction was claimed on the Company'’s tax return.Taking the impact of the sur-
charge into consideration the federal corporate income tax rate amounted to 31.7% for

distributed earnings in fiscal year 2000.

Prior to calculating corporate tax, trade tax on income is to be deducted from the taxable
income. Trade tax rates vary from city to city. The weighted average tax rate for trade
taxes applicable for GROHE is 16.0%. Including the expense effect of the trade tax on cor-
porate income tax the combined tax rate amounted to 51.4% for undistributed income
and 42.6% for distributed income for the year ended December 31, 2000.

In Qctober 2000, the German parliament passed a new legislation that reduced the cor-
porate income tax rate for all corporations in Germany from 40.0% to 25.0% effective
January 1, 2001. The lower rate for distributed profits was abolished. Including the im-
pact of the solidarity surcharge the enacted federal corporate income tax rate amounts
to 26.4% effective January 1, 2001. Including trade tax the total income tax rate for years
subsequent to December 31, 2000 is assumed to be 38.2%.

in the third quarter 2002 the tax laws were changed to increase the corporate tax rate for
the year 2003 to 26.5%. This tax rate only applies to fiscal year 2003, thereafter, the tax
rate will be reduced to 25% again.The increase of the corporate tax rate for 2003 results
in an effective tax rate including trade tax and solidarity surcharge of 39.5% for fiscal
year 2003.

The tax rate of 38.2% was applied to determine applicable deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities of German GROHE Group companies as of December 31, 2001 and
2000.The tax rate of 39.5% was applied to determine applicable deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities of German GROHE Group companies as of December 31, 2002 if
those tax assets and liabilities are expected to be realized within the year 2003 and the
tax rate of 38.2% was applied to determine applicable deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities if those tax assets and liabilities are expected to be realized in fiscal year
2004 cr thereafter.



For foreign Group companies the applicable effective foreign tax rates are used to deter-

mine deferred taxes.

A reconciliation of income taxes determined using the German corporate tax rate of
26.4% plus the rate for trade taxes of 11.8% taking the respective tax deductibility for cor-
porate taxes into consideration resulting in a combined statutory rate of 38.2% for the
years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 and a reconciliation of income taxes deter-
mined using the German corporate tax rate of 42.2% plus the rate for trade taxes of 9.2%
taking the respective tax deductibility for corporate tax benefits into consideration result-
ing in a combined statutory rate of 51.4% for the year ended December 31, 2000 is as fol-

lows:
} Year ended Year ended Year ended
“ December 31, | December 31, Dacember 31,
i 2002 2001 2000
: €000 | £ ‘000 € '000
Expected income tax expense (benefit) 19,507 - (13,377) (22,773)
Effects of changes in German ! ‘
tax rates ; 367 | 0 {13,304)
Tax benefit from change
in tax status of subsidiaries i 0. (2,855) 0

Tax effects from dividend distributions

from German subsidiaries 0 {2,228) (2,621)

Amortization of non tax- ! !

deductible goodwill | 0 i 9,343 11,198
Effect of other non tax- \

deductible expenses { 4,386 . 4,145 3,326
Changes in valuation allowances 1 f

on deferred tax assets i 1,999 | 652 0
Foreign tax rate differential, net (2,737) (976) (3,041)
Tax on undistributed retained earnings | J

in foreign subsidiaries 1 1,559 ‘ 510 115
Other 1,251 (1,042) (1,252)

Actual income tax expense (benefit) 26,3327 (5,828) (28,353}




Deferred tax assets and liabilities are summarized as follows:

December 31, 1

December 31,

| 2002 2661

| £ '000 £ 000
Inventories 8,398 ¢ 7,184
Pension liabilities ‘ 8,553 | 8,409
Other accrued liabilities ; 5,549 . 4,587
Derivatives | 2,632 3,663
Net operating loss carryforwards i 49,656 ‘ 39,353
Receivables ‘ 1,705 0
Property, plant and equipment 2,014 103
Other 1,306 1,389
Deferred tax assets - 7@}8313 64,688
Valuation allowances ! (6,710) | (4,711
Deferred tax assets, ; T |
net of valuation allowance [ 73,103 59,977
Property, plant and equipment (13,672) (13,068)
Intangible assets : (65,730) - (63,476)
Derivatives (5,390} : (548)
Debt issuance cost 1 (2,695) (3,234)
Loans } (50,423) | (52,199)
Other accrued liabilities } (1,326) {(171)
Receivables : (717) 0
Other ‘ (2,072) (371)
Deferred tax liabilities © (1e1,925) . (133,067)
Net deferred tax liabilities

] (68,822) (73,090)

At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the GROHE Group had German corporate tax net aper-
ating loss carryforwards of € 174,882 and € 137,228 and foreign corporate tax net oper-
ating loss carryforwards of € 11,091 and € 9,951 and German trade tax net operating loss
carryforwards of € 1,728 and € 6186, respectively.The deferred tax assets, which have been
set up for these net operating loss carryforwards, have been reduced by a valuation
allowance if it is more likely than not, that some portion or all of the deferred tax asset
will not be realized in the future. Depending upon changes in tax laws or the financial
results of the respective Group companies, management’s estimate of the amount of
realizable tax assets may change, and accordingly, the valuation allowance may increase

or decrease.

Various income tax years of the GROHE Group are unresolved with taxing authorities
and are either currently under review or will be subject to review by taxing authorities.
While the ultimate results cannot be predicted with certainty, the Company’s manage-
ment believes that the examination will not have a material adverse effect on its con-

solidated financial condition and results of operations.
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Net deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets are as

follows:

December 31, |

I
E
f
|

20023

€ '000 |

Deferred tax assets L
Current | 5,146
Noncurrent 1,329 |

g 6,475 |

Deferred tax liabilities | l

(75,297} |

Noncurrent i
Net deferred tax liabilities f (68,822) |
—
“ |

The income tax expense {benefit) consists of the following:

Year ended
December 31,
2002
£ '000
Income tax expense (benefit)
before extraordinary items 26,332
Income tax benefit
of extraordinary items 0
Income tax benefit on additional \
minimum pension liability (155) |
; 26,177 |

!
1

December 31,
2001
€ ’'000

8,081
1,866
9,847

(83,037)
(73,090)

Year ended
December 31,
2001

€ '000

(5,828)

(142)
(5,970)

Year ended
December 31,
2000

€ ‘000

(28,353)

{1,767)

0
(30,120)

As of December 31, 2002 and 2001 GROHE provided additional German income taxes
and foreign withholding taxes of € 1,559 and € 510 on undistributed retained earnings of

£ 29,198 and € 17,528, respectively, in foreign subsidiaries on future payout of these for-

eign earnings as dividends because these earnings are not intended to be permanently

reinvested in those operations.

As of December 31, 2002 and 2001 GROHE did not provide income taxes or foreign with-
holding taxes on € 42,987 and € 41,880, respectively, in retained earnings of foreign sub-

sidiaries because these earnings are intended to be indefinitely reinvested in those sub-

sidiaries. To estimate the amount of unrecognized deferred tax liabilities for these undis-

tributed earnings is impracticable.
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6. EXTRAORDINARY LOSS

The extraordinary loss of € 3,008 (€ 4,775, net of applicable income taxes of € 1,767)
recorded for the year ended December 31, 2000, relates to the early extinguishment of
long-term debt to banks in November 2000. There were no extraordinary items to be
recorded for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001.

7. INVENTORIES

Inventories at December 31, 2002 and 2001 were comprised as follows:

December 31, December 31,
2002 2001
€000 £ '000
Raw materials and supplies 27,581 28,598
Work in process 24,439 24,804
Finished goods and goods
purchased for resale . 56175 56,178
108,198 109,580
8. UTHER CURRENT ASSETS
Other current assets consist of the following:
December 31, December 31,
2002 ; 2001
‘ € '000 £ '300
Tax receivables 1 14,112 . 17,313
Currency and interest rate derivatives : 15,485 - 1,435
Prepayments and receivables ‘ :
from vendors ' 2,333 1,868
Receivables from sale of land : 0: 1,023
Miscellaneous 11200 2,428

33,050 24,067
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Property, plant and equipment consist of the following:

Cost
Land, buildings and improvements
Equipment and machinery
Other factory and office equipment

Advances and construction
in process

Accumulated depreciation
Land, buildings and improvements
Equipment and machinery
Other factory and office equipment

Carrying amount
Land, buildings and improvements
Eqguipment and machinery
Other factory and office equipment

Advances and construction
in process

| 22,806 |
42,539 |

(8]
-
~l
N
~J

’

-
-d
~!
o
~
N

’

|

129,162 .
28,309
48,274 |

.

|

13,261 |
219,006
| {

Depreciation expense incurred is as follows:

Land, buildings and improvements
Equipment and machinery
Other factory and office equipment
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Year ended .

December 31, '
2002

€ '000 .

6,570 !

18,822 :

‘ 47,872

9. PRCPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

December 31,
2001
€ '000

152,498
94,995
104,449

7,231
359,173

16,375
53,238
55,074
124,687

136,123
41,757
49,375

7,231
234,486

Year ended
December 31,
2001

€ '000
6,518
23,006
24,554
54,078

Year ended
December 31,
2000

€ '000

7,198
22,354
26,338
55,890



10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets comprise of:

Intangible assets subject to amortization

Cost
Tradename
Software

Accumulated amortization
Tradename
Software

Carrying amount
Tradename
Software

intangible assets not subject
to amortization

Goodwill
Intangible pension asset

Total carrying amount
of intangible assets

December 31, |
2002
€ '000 |

290,269
290269
18,501

308,770

|
} 226,817
| 11,226

: 238,043

—_—

! 445,01
| 202

—

683,256 |

The carrying amount of goodwill changed as follows:

Balarice as of December 31, 2001

Eiffects of foreign currency
exchange rate changes

Baﬁar‘nce as of December 31, 2002

Germany
and direct
exports

€ 000
338,833

0
338,833

European
subsidiaries
€ '000

57,714

(47)
57,667

Becember 31,
2001
€ ‘000

290,115
15,060
305,175

44,11
8,080
52,191

246,004
6,980
252,984

452,555
286

705,825

|
Overseas |

subsidiaries

€000 | B

56,008

(7,497)
48,511

Total |
€000 :

e e
452,555

(7544) -

. 445011



Additions relating to software of € 8,222, € 4,451 and £ 3,387 were recognized in the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Additions relating to trade-
name of £ 154, € 148 and € 5,034 were recognized in the years ended December 31, 2002,
2001 and 2000, respectively. Software is amortized over 3 to 5 years and tradename is

amortized over 15 years.

Amortization expense incurred is as follows:

Year ended Year ended Year ended

December 31, December 31, Becember 31,

2002 2001 2000

€ ‘000 | € 000 € ‘000

Goodwill 0 35,758 35,397
Tradename 19,341 19,341 19,124
Software i 4,020 3,372 3,688
Aggregated amortization expense 23,361 | 58,471 58,109

Estimated aggregate amortization expenses related to intangible assets for the years
2003 to 2007 are as follows:

Year ended December 31,
expense
€000 |

22,776 |
22,497 |
21,328 °
21,105 |
20,223 |

i

i

o
Amortization ‘
|




T1.

OTHER NONCURRENT ASSETS

Other noncurrent assets consist of the following:

December 31, December 31,

2002 2001

‘ € '000 £ 080

Debt issuance cost 16,353 19,043
Receivable from sale of real property ,

to related parties 3,475 0

Deposits : 1,090 1,282

Miscellaneous o 1,4_03 1,519

22321 21,844

Cost related to the issuance of debt are capitalized and amortized to interest expense
over the lives of the related debt using the effective interest method. The various record-
ed debt issuance costs relate to long-term debt to banks, shareholders, related parties,
and to the bonds. Amortization charges of capitalized debt issuance costs were € 4,079,
€ 4,071 and € 4,384 for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respective-
ly. Estimated future amortization charges are as follows: 2003, € 3,209; 2004, € 2,820;
2005, € 2,389; 2006, € 2,009; 2007, € 1,130, and thereafter, € 4,796.

The receivable from the sale of real property to related parties (see Note 18) of nominally
£ 3,920 at December 31, 2002, which results from the sale of one of the Company’s form-
er production sites, is due in two installments of € 1,960 in June 2004 and June 2006,
respectively. As the receivable does not bear interest, interest has been imputed at a rate
of 5% resulting in a net carrying amount of € 3,475 at December 31, 2002.

12. SHORT-TERM DEBT

Short-term debt to banks

Short-term debt to banks is mainly comprised of two short-term loans denominated in
Japanese yen of Grohe Japan Ltd. The interest rates for these loans were 0.87% and
1.17% at December 31, 2002 and 0.89% and 1.12% at December 31, 2001. The weighted
average interest rate on short-term debt to banks was 0.93% and 0.94% at December 31,
2002 and 2001, respectively.

Credit facilities

Unused credit lines available to the Company at December 31, 2002 and 2001 amounted
to € 70,058 and € 30,051, respectively. Under the respective credit arrangements, the
Company has the option to borrow amounts for general purposes. An amount of
€ 51,129 of the credit lines as of December 31, 2002 represents senior bank loan facility E.
The interest rate for facility E as of December 31, 2002 was EURIBOR plus 2%. Regarding
the covenants relating to the senior credit facility we refer to Note 14.
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13.

OTHER ACCRUED EXPENSES AND CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other accrued expenses and current liabilities are comprised of the following:

Customer bonuses and rebates

Accrued payroll and personnel
related expenses

Accrued interest on long-term
debt and bonds

Other taxes

Warranty and service costs

Credit balances in receivables
Qutstanding invoices

Accrued fees for professional services
Liabilities to independent sales agents

Liabilities from currency
and interest rate derivatives

Environmental remediation liabilities
Other

December 31, :
2002
£ 000 |

45,448 |

38,767 |

O U

9,163
11,136 .
9,494 -
! 2,206
4,439
2,859
4,060 .

l

7,144

100 -
8,095

e

Decembar 31,
2001
€ ‘000

43,687

30,105

10,576
10,644
8,534
3,479
4,800
3,280
2,797

9,536
307
9,746
137,491

GROHE guarantees the performance of products delivered and services rendered gen-

erally for a period of up to two years in Germany and up to five years in other countries.

GROHE accrues a liability for expected warranty costs and similar obligations when a

product is sold. Estimates for accrued warranty costs are primarily based on historical

experience. Accruals for product warranties changed as follows:

Balance at beginning of period
Foreign currency changes
Utilizations

Additions for warranties issued
in respective year

Balance at end of period

m

Year ended |
December 31, .
2002 -

€ '000 .

8,534 .
! (57)
(7,006)

| 8,023
9,494

Year ended
Dacember 31,
2001

€ '000

8,157
(14)
(6,396)

6,787
8534

Year ended
December 31,
2000

£ '000

7,822
(m
{5,878}

6.224
8,157
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|.ONG-TERM DEBT

A) Long-term debt to banks

Long-term debt to banks is as follows:

Senior bank loan facility B maturing
December 30, 2006 with principal payments
each year and interest payable at 2.25%
above EURIBOR

Senior bank loan facility C maturing
December 30, 2006 with principal payments
each year and interest payable at 2.50%
above EURIBOR

Senior bank loan facility D maturing
December 30, 2006 with principal payments
each year and interest payable at 2.25%

and 2.00% above EURIBOR prior and
subsequent to October 29, 2001, respectively

Senior bank loan facility F maturing
December 30, 2008 with interest
payable at 3.00% above EURIBOR

Supplementary bank foan originally maturing
December 30, 2007 with interest payable

at 3.00% above EURIBOR

Bank loans of subsidiaries maturing between
2003 and 2018 with interest payable

at 4.95% to 7.25% at December 31,

2002 and 2001

Total iong-term debt to banks

Secured

Less current maturities of long-term debt to banks

Long-term debt to banks

December 31,
2002
€ '000

12,373 .

59,171

187,178

76,694

73184,
279,954

December 31,
2007
€ ‘000

64,028

59,171

208,096

76,694

23,912
431,908
52,707
379,201

In January 2002, GROHE repaid the supplementary facility with the proceeds of a new

facility under the senior facility, facility R

GROHE entered into swap and collar agreements during the year 2000 with a total vol-

ume of € 526,631. With the swap agreements, the Company exchanged the short-term

variable rate related to the bank debt for a long-term variable rate with a capped total

interest rate. The volume of the interest rate derivatives decreases with the amortization

of the related senior debt until the swaps and the collar mature on July 28, 2004 and July
29, 2004, respectively. At December 31, 2002 the total interest rate derivatives volume

was at € 347,167.




All of the above loans are denominated in euro except for the following. The bank loans

of Grohe Siam Ltd. included above in “bank loans of subsidiaries” in an amount of
€ 4,570 and € 7,324 at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, were payable in Thai-
tand baht.

Securitization

a)

First ranking secured by Grohe Beteiligungs GmbH & Co. KG's present or future
limited partnership interest in Friedrich Grohe AG & Co. KG with a carrying value
of € 649,689 and € 670,493, its 25% ownership interest in Grohe A/S with a carry-
ing value of € 175 and € 52, its shares in Friedrich Grohe Geschaftsfiihrungs AG
with a carrying value of € 55 and € 55, all claims from its interest rate derivatives
and its escrow account of € 31,274 and € 29,950 at December 31, 2002 and 2001,

respectively.

Secured by mortgages of € 12,541 and € 19,083 on properties of Friedrich Grohe
AG & Co. KG, mortgages of € 84,852 and € 91,931 on properties of domestic sub-
sidiaries of Friedrich Grohe AG & Co. KG, the assignment as security of movable
tangible assets of € 30,180 and € 24,735 and inventories of € 25,362 and € 24,647
of Friedrich Grohe AG & Co. KG, the blanket assignment of all receivables of
Friedrich Grohe AG & Co. KG and Grohe Deutschiand Vertriebs GmbH of
€ 181,701 and € 199,549, including receivables from group companies, the assign-
ment as security of all patents, brands and other industrial property rights of
Friedrich Grohe AG & Co. KG of € 226,817 and € 246,004, all shares in domestic
subsidiaries held directly by Friedrich Grohe AG & Co. KG with a carrying value of
€ 351,683 and £ 362,420 and almost all shares in the foreign subsidiaries held
directly by Grohe International GmbH with a carrying value of € 176,184 and
€ 174,517 at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Second ranking secured by Grohe Beteiligungs GmbH & Co. KG's present or
future limited partnership interest in Friedrich Grohe AG & Co. KG with a carrying
value of € 649,689 and € 670,493, its 25% ownership interest in Grohe A/S with a
carrying value of € 175 and £€ 52, its shares in Friedrich Grohe Geschéaftsfihrungs
AG with a carrying value of € 55 and € 55, all claims from its interest rate deri-
vatives and its escrow account of € 31,274 and € 29,950 at December 31, 2002 and
2001, respectively.

Mainly secured by mortgages on properties of subsidiaries of € 24,330 and
€ 25,788 at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.




Covenants

The senior credit facility contains customary operating and financial covenants, includ-

ing, without limitation:

[m}

]

requirement to maintain minimum ratios of Weighted Consolidated EBITDA to Con-
solidated Net Finance Charges, each as defined in the senior credit facility;

the requirement to maintain Minimum Consolidated EBITDA, as defined in the senior
credit facility;

maximum ratios of NetTotal Debt |, as defined in the senior credit facility, to Weight-
ed Consolidated EBITDA, and NetTotal Debt I, as defined in the senior credit facility,
to Weighted Consolidated EBITDA; and

limits on capital expenditures.

In addition, the senior credit facility includes covenants relating to limitations on

[

jm

a

]

]

sales and other disposals;
indebtedness;
acquisitions;
investments; and

hedging.

As of December 31, 2002 and 2001 the Company was in compliance with above covenants.

Contingent principal payments on the senior facilities

Mandatory prepayment in full is required if there is a material alteration of the corporate

structure of Grohe Holding, including:

[}

the shareholders of Grohe Holding cease to own or hold in the aggregate less than
51% of the capital or voting rights to Grohe Holding;

Grohe Holding ceases to own or hold all shares in Grohe Consult GmbH;

Grohe Beteiligungs GmbH & Co. KG ceases to own 99% of the capital or the voting
rights in Friedrich Grohe AG & Co. KG;

Grohe Holding ceases to be the sole general partner of Grohe Beteiligungs GmbH &
Co. KG or Grohe Consult GmbH ceases to be the sole limited partner of Grohe
Beteiligungs GmbH & Co. KG; or

Grohe Beteiligungs GmbH & Co. KG ceases to own or hold all shares in Friedrich
Grohe Geschaftsflihrungs AG.

Certain mandatory partial prepayments are required to be made, including:

[w]

100% of the Excess Cash Flow of Grohe Beteiligungs GmbH & Co. KG in any fiscal

vear, as defined in the senior credit facility;

75% of GROHE Group Excess Cash Flow of Friedrich Grohe AG & Co. KG and its con-

solidated subsidiaries in any fiscal year, as defined in the senior credit facility;
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o any amounts received by Grohe Beteiligungs GmbH & Co. KG or Friedrich Grohe AG

& Co. KG in connection with a refund of taxes other than amounts received by way
of an assignment of corporate tax refund claims from Grohe Holding to Grohe
Beteiligungs GmbH & Co. KG up to an amount of € 48,544; (on July 24, 2001 the
Company received a tax refund of € 49,340.This tax refund was used for a principal
payment on the senior bank loans of € 23,520 on July 30, 2001 and for a further prin-
cipal payment on the senior bank loans of € 25,820 on August 30, 2001);

o any amounts received by Grohe Beteiligungs GmbH & Co. KG or Friedrich Grohe AG
& Co. KG under an insurance policy, unless applied within three months against the
loss for which such amounts were received; or

o proceeds from asset sales by Grohe Beteiligungs GmbH & Co. KG or Friedrich Grohe
AG & Co. KG, other than in the ordinary course of business, not immediately rein-
vested in replacement assets.

B) Bonds

On November 13, 2000 Grohe Holding GmbH issued a debenture (“bonds”) totaling
€ 200,000.The bonds were issued at the nominal value of € 1 or in multiples of € 1 and
are due at par on November 15, 2010. The bonds bear 11.5% interest per year. Interest
payments are made on May 15 and November 15 of each year. Accrued interest of
€ 2,875 and € 3,250 as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, were included in
current liabilities.

The bonds are subordinated to any indebtedness incurred under the senior credit facility.
The indenture includes certain rules regarding the early redemption of the notes.

The indenture describes certain criteria that have to be met in order to avoid an event of
default. Certain deadlines regarding the timely provision of consolidated financial state-
ments in accordance with US GAAP for the year ended December 31, 2000 to the trustee
and the noteholders as well as the timely filing of a registration statement with the US
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) were not met by the Company. However, a
default under the related clause does not constitute an event of default prior to a notifi-
cation by the trustee and the failure to cure such default within the time specified in the

indenture agreement after receipt of such notice.

The bonds provide for penalty interest in the event that certain requirements have not
been met at the specified dates. The penalty interest rate starts at 0.5% and increases to
a maximum of 1.5%. As a consequence of the failure to meet above deadlines GROHE
had been subject to additional interest from May 14, 2001 to February 22, 2002.

GROHE's last remaining default was cured upon the effectiveness of its registration
statement with the SEC on February 22, 2002 and as of this date interest was reduced to
11.5% again.
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C) Long-term debt to shareholders and long-term debt to related parties

In July 1989 shareholders and related parties of Grohe Holding GmbH have provided the
Company with loans totaling € 259,225. This amount bears a nominal interest at a rate
of 5% per year. Originally, principal and interest payments were not due prior to the com-
plete settlement of all claims of the creditors under the senior and junior credit facility
in December 2008. In the course of the issuance of the bonds in November 2000, princi-
pal and interest payments were subordinated to the repayment of the bonds until
November 2010.

As the loans carry a rate of interest less than market rate, interest has been imputed
using a discount rate of 11.5% to arrive at the loans’ net present value of € 158,680 at
July 31, 1999. The cash provided of € 259,225 in excess of the imputed long-term debt to
shareholders and related parties balance (€ 158,680) has been recorded as a credit to
additional paid in capital (€ 48,865) and a credit to deferred taxes (€ 51,680).

Due to the subordination of these loans from shareholders and related parties to the
bonds, the debt instrument has substantially different terms such that the modification

has to be accounted for in a manner like an early extinguishment of debt.

The ditference in net present values of the original debt instrument (£ 183,015 at
November 15, 2000) and the debt instrument after the aforementioned modification
(€ 136,694 at November 15, 2000) has been recorded as a credit to additional paid in
capital (€ 28,626) and a credit to deferred taxes (€ 17,695).

In July 2001 Cornelius Geber and Dr. Hellmut K. Albrecht became shareholders of the
Company and provided the Company with additional shareholder loans of € 378. Prin-
cipal and interest payments are subordinated to the repayment of the bonds until
November 2010. As the loans bear a nominal interest at a rate of 5% per year, which is
less than the market rate, interest has been imputed using a discount rate of 11.5% to
arrive at the loans’ net present value of € 200. The difference of € 178 between the cash
provided of £ 378 and the net present value of the loans of € 200 has been recorded as
a credit to additional paid in capital (€ 110) and a credit to deferred taxes (€ 68).

Long-term debt to related parties at December 31, 2002 and 2001 is comprised as follows:

December 31, |  December 31,

2002 - 2001

£ '000 € '600

BC Funds, Channel Islands ‘ 67,569 ! 60,600

Teabar Capital Corp., Toronto, Canada ‘ 36,981 33,167
Capital d’Amerigue CDPQ, | ‘

Montreal, Canada { 28,362 25,436

Dr. Hellmut K. Albrecht, Munich, Germany 193 174

Cornelius Geber, Hamburg, Germany - 43 38

Total related parties 133,148 119,415



Long-term debt to shareholders at December 31, 2002 and 2001 is comprised as follows:

December 31, December 31,
2002 | 2001
£ '000 | € '000
BdW GmbH & Co. KG, Frankfurt, |
Germany 9,742 | 8,738
HVB-Offene |
Unternehmensbeteiligungs-AG,
Munich, Germany 9,742 8,738
South Light Investment Pte Limited,
Singapore 9,742 8,738
HarbourVest Ifl-Direct Fund L.P, l |
Delaware, USA ‘ 5,845 | 5,242
Crescat Equity 1 Beteiligung
GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg, Germany 2,269 2,035
Laranjedo Servicios e Gestao Lda., ‘

_ Madeira, Portugal 1,949 | 1,747
Michel Guillet, Paris, France { 115 103
Patrice Hoppenot, La Celle Saint Coud,

France 57 | 51

Raymond Svider, Paris, France 57 . 51

Celia Guillet, Paris, France | 3 2
Edouard Guillet, Paris, France [ 3 2
Vincent Festquet, Paris, France § 1] 1
RemiTerrail, Paris, France { o 1 1
Total shareholders \ 39,526 35,449

D) Capital leases

Office equipment includes computer hardware and telecommunication equipment under
capital lease agreements of € 3,132 and € 4,809 as of December 31, 2002 and 2001,
respectively. Accumulated depreciation includes depreciation of computer hardware and
telecommunication equipment under capital lease agreements of € 2,026 and £ 2,847 at
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Depreciation expense on assets under capi-
tal lease agreements were € 1,419, € 1,556 and € 1,647 for the years ended December 31,
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.



200
2004
200!
200¢|
2007
Theféafter

Total minimum lease payments under the above capital lease contracts are comprised

as follows:

2003

2004

2005

2006

2007

Thereafter

Total minimum lease payments
Less: amount representing interest

Present value of capital lease obligations .

Current portion
Long-term portion

Lease terms range from 36 to 63 months.

E)} Future maturities of iong-term debt

€ '000 |

Financial liabilities maturing during the next five years and thereafter are as follows:

Bank
cebt Bond
£ '000 € '00%
73,184 0
78,529 0
83,522 ]
113,701 0
701 0
3,501 200,000

Total long-term debt 353,138 200,000

il

Leng-term
deb? o related
narties and
shareholders

€ ‘0C0

O O O O O©

172,674
172,674

Capital
‘eases
£ '000

656

298
162

50 113,751

1.174

Total

€ '000
73,840
78,827 |
83,684

709 .
376,175

726,986
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Pension liabilities

15. PENSION AND SIVILAR OBLIGATIONS

The Company maintains a number of unfunded pension plans, covering substantially all

German employees. The plans provide for payment of retirement benefits and certain

disability and survivors benefits. After meeting certain qualifications, an employee

acquires a vested right for future benefits. In most cases, the benefits payable are deter-

mined on the basis of an employee’s length of service, earnings and ranking. The Ger-

man plans have been closed for new hires effective January 1, 2001. For its employees

in the United States the Company maintains a funded pension plan.

The Projected Benefit Obligation (PBO) developed as follows:

Projected benefit obligation
at beginning of year

Foreign currency exchange
rate changes

Service cost
Interest cost
Curtailments

Plan amendments
Actuarial losses
Benefits paid

Projected benefit obligation
at end of year

December 31,
2002
| € '000

|/ Siud e
e——————————{

| |

151,000

| 0]
} 314

| 7715 |

\ (5,093} !

'

167,309

December 31,
2001
€ '000

140,776

193
5,151
8,770

(5,358)

142

5,913
(4,587)

151,000

The Accumulated Benefit Obligation (ABO) totaled € 147,273 and £ 132,112 on Decem-

ber 31, 2002 and 2001.
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Changes in plan assets relate only to the funded US pension plan and were as follows:

Fair value of plan assets
at beginning of vear

Foreign currency exchange
rate changes

Actual return on plan assets
Employer contributions
Actual benefit payments

Fair value of plan assets at end of year

A reconciliation of the funded status to

balance sheets is as follows:

Funded status”
Unrecognized prior service cost
Unrecognized actuarial losses
Net amount recognized

*Difference between the projected benefit
obligation and the fair value of plan assets.

December 31, | December 31,
2002 | 2001
€ 000 . £ '000

2,508 | 2,410

{(415) . 130

(122) (227)

479 336

(35) (147)

i 2415 2,508

the amounts recognized in the consolidated

_—
:

December 31, | Decembar 31,

2002 ‘ 2001

€ '000 € '000
(164,894) (148,492)

: 993 . 878
S 6,091
- (150,172) {141,523)

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets consist of:

Accrued pension liability
Intangible assets

Accumulated other
comprehensive income

Net amount recognized

December 31, " December 31,

2002 2001

€ '000 | £ ‘000

i (151,155} | {142,176}
! 202 286
B 781 367
{141,523}




The assumptions used in

are as follows:

\
I
} Year ended r Year ended

‘ December 31, December 31,

| 2002 2001

% %

Discount rate 5.50 6.00
Rate of compensation increase j 2.75 3.00
Increase in social security ceiling ‘ 2.75 3.00
Cost of living 175" 2.00

calculating the actuarial values for the German pension plans

Year ended
December 31,
2000

%

6.25
3.00
3.00
2.00

The assumptions used in calculating the actuarial values for the US pension plan are as

follows:

Year ended Year ended

December 31, December 31,

| 2002 2004

Lo R . 2 % | %

Discount rate } 6.50 : 6.50
Rate of compensation increase 5.00 ’ 5.00
Expected return on assets ; 6.00 ! 8.00

Year ended
December 31,
2000

%

6.75

5.00

8.00

Net periodic pension cost for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 com-

prised the following:

} Year ended [ Year ended

| December 31, i December 31,

‘ 2002 | 2001

1 € '000 | £ '090
Service cost 4,975 5,151
Interest cost ! 9,096 | 8,770
Expected return on plan assets 1 (148) ! (187)
Amortization of unrecognized losses ; 115 58
Amortization of prior service cost | 168 109
Gain from curtailment ‘ 0 (5,358)
Net periodic pension cost 14,206 8,543

Year ended
December 31,
2000

€ ‘000
5,233
8,367
(247)

47

109

0

13,509




Other post-retirement benefits

GROHE provides certain post-retirement benefits to its employees in the US. The plan
covers medical, dental and life insurance premiums. The following tables set out infor-

mation in respect to this pian.

The projected post-retirement benefit obligation developed as follows:

December 31, Decemrber 31,
2002 | 2601
€ 000 £ 000
Projected post-retirement ‘
benefit obligation at beginning of year | 1,887 . 708
Foreign currency exchange ! f
rate changes 1 (497) 56
Service cost ! 99 48
Interest cost 131, 53
Actuarial losses 1,935 | 1,024
Benefits paid (67) 0
Projected post-retirement benefit -
obligation at end of year 3,488 1,887

A reconciliation of the funded status to

balance sheets is as follows:

the amounts recognized in the consolidated

December 31, .

December 31,

2002 2007
, £ 000 | € '000

Funded status ; (3,488) {1,887)
Unrecognized actuarial losses o 2,243 627
Net amount recognized — (1,245) ' (1,260)




The assumptions used in calculating the actuarial values for post-retirement benefits are

as follows:

‘ Year ended Year ended Year ended
| December 31, December 31, December 31,
2002 2001 2000
% % %
Discount rate * 7.00 | 7.00 6.75
First year health care cost trend rate 6.00 f 5.00 8.00
Ultimate health care cost trend rate 6.00 | 5.00 5.00
Years to reach ultimate cost trend rate n.a. n.a. 6

\

—_

Net periodic post-retirement benefit costs for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001
and 2000 comprised the following:

Year ended | Year ended Year ended

December 31, December 31, December 31,

2002 2601 20¢0

; € '000 £ /000 € '000

Service cost } 99 | 43 53

(nterest cost 131 47 58
Amortization of unrecognized

{(gains) losses 33 (23) 0

Net periodic post-retirement costs | 2@ 67 111

| |

The effects of a one-percentage point change in assumed health care cost trend rates are

presented in the following table:

i-percentage 1-percentage
point increase point decrease
£ '000 £ '000
Effect on total of service
and interest cost components 45 (41)
Effect on accumulated post-retirement
benefit obligation 600 (485)




16. SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

Share capital
As GROHE has heen established in the legal form of a GmbH according to the German

Limited Liability Companies Act (GmbH-Gesetz), its equity is not represented by a num-
ber of equal shares.

GROHE shareholders and their respective shares in nominal amounts and as percent-
ages at December 31, 2002 and 2001 are presented in the following table:

December 31, 2002 December 31, 2001

Shanholder € ‘000 % £ 'C00 %
Teabar Capital Corp., Toronto, Canada 10,723 20.87 10,723 21.02
Capital d’Amerique CDPQ, Montreal, : ;

Canada j 8,224 16.01 8,224 16.12
de*“/ GmbH & Co. KG, Frankfurt, Germany }ﬁ 2825 550 2,825 5.54
HVE-Offene Unternehmensbeteiligungs- AG, i j

Murnch Germany 2,825 5.50 2,825 5.54
South Light Investment Pte Limited, “_‘

Slnc;apore 2,825 5.50 2,825 5.64
BC E uropean Capital VI-1, Channel Islands 1,837 3.58 1,837 3.60
BC E uropean Capital VI-2, Channel Islands 1,837 3.58 - 1,837 3.60
BC E :uropean Capital VI-3, Channel Islands ‘ 1,837 3.58 1,837 3.60
BCE iuropean Capital VI-9, Channel Islands 1,812 3.53 - 1,812 3.56
BC E.uropean Capital Vi-4, Channel Islands ! 1,804 351 1,804 3.54
BC Eu ropean Capital VI-5, Channel Islands 1,791 3.49 1,791 3.52
BC Eiuropean Capital VI-6, Channel Islands 1,789 3.48 1,789 3.51
BC E%uropean Capital VI-10, Channel islands 1,787 3.48 1,787 3.50
BC Efuropean Capital VI-7, Channe! Islands 1,780 3.46 1,781 3.49
BC Buropean Capital ViI-8, Channel Islands 1,779 3.46 1,779 3.49
HarbourVest lll-Direct Fund L.P, | :

Delaware, USA 1 1,695 3.30 ¢ 1,695 3.32
Crescat Equity 1 Beteiligung GmbH & :

Co. KG, Hamburg, Germany 658 1.28 658 1.29
Laranjedo Servicios e Gestao Lda., f ‘

Madeira, Portugal ; 565 1.10 - 565 1.1
BC E‘{uropean Capital VI-12, Channel! Islands 368 0.71 | 368 0.72
Pete; Kérfer-Schiin, Cortmund, Germany 353 0.69 . 353 0.69
Dr. Rainer S. Simon, Isernhagen, Germany 353 0.69 353 0.69
Detle'f Spigiel, Gevelsberg, Germany ‘ 228 0.44 228 0.45
Michael Grimm, Dreieich-Buchschlag,

Gerruwany | 186 0.36 0 0.00

Stephan M. Heck, Miannheim, Germany | 186 0.36 0 0.00




| December 31, 2002 j December 31, 2001
|
\
f

Shareholider € '000 % | € ‘000 %
BC European Capital V-3, Channel islands 179 0.35 : 179 0.35
BC European Capital V-5, Channel Islands | 178 0.35 | 178 0.35
BC European Capital V-4, Channel Islands ! 176 0.34 | 176 0.34
BC European Capital V-1, Channel Islands ﬁ 164 0.32 164 0.32
BC European Capital V-2, Channel Islands ‘ 164 0.32 164 0.32
BC European Capital V-6, Channel Islands : 156 0.30 - 156 0.31
BC European Capital VI-11, Channel Isiands 134 0.26 134 0.27
Dr. Hellmut K. Albrecht, Munich, :
Germany i 60 0.12 | 60 0.12
Michel Guillet, Paris, France ! 33 0.07 33 0.07
BC European Capital VI-14, | :
Channel Islands } 17 0.03 17 0.03
Patrice Hoppenot, ;
La Celle Saint Coud, France | 17 0.03 | 17 0.03
Raymond Svider, Paris, France \ 17 0.03 | 17 0.03
Cornelius Geber, Hamburg, Germany i 10 0.02 ; 10 0.02
Celia Guillet, Paris, France ! 1 0.00 ! 1 0.00
Edouard Guillet, Paris, France | 1 0.00 | 1 0.00
Vincent Festquet, Paris, France ‘ 0 0.00 | 0 0.00
RemiTerrail, Paris, France 0 0.00 J 0 0.00
| 51,003 100.00

Total . 51,374 100.00

Peter Korfer-Schiin, Detlef Spigiel, Michael Grimm and Stephan M. Heck are officers of
the Company. Dr. Hellmut K. Albrecht, Cornelius Geber and Dr. Rainer S. Simon are

members of the supervisory board of Friedrich Grohe Geschéftsfihrungs AG.

Comprehensive income

The changes in the components of other comprehensive income are as follows:

1

Year ended | Year ended Year ended
‘ Dacember 31, 2002 ‘ December 31, 2001 December 31, 2000
! Pretax Tax effect MNet ' Pretax Tex effect Ne?t Pretax  Tax eMect Net
1__ € '000 € '000 £°000 | €000 € 000 £ ‘000 € 000 € 'C00 € ‘000
Foreign currency : 1
translation adjustment 1 {15,008} 0 (15,008} : 1,765 0 1,765 3,902 0 3,902
Additional minimum ! i
pension liability | _(413) 155 (258)_i (367) 142 (225) 0 0 0
Total other j
. 1,398 142 1,540 3,802 0 3,902

comprehensive income i (15,421) 155 (15,266)

124 125



Retained earnings

Under the German Limited Liability Companies Act (GmbH-Gesetz), the amount of divi-
dends available for distribution to shareholders is based on the earnings of Grohe
Holding GmbH {(parent company only) as reported in its statutory financial statements
determined in accordance with the German Commercial Code {Handelsgesetzbuch). In
addition, dividend payments are restricted under the indenture related to the issuance
of the bond. As a result of the above, no dividend distributions could be made as of
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000.

Share-based compensation

During 2002 and 2001 in accordance with a shareholders’ agreement certain manage-
ment executives were awarded shares of GROHE. The awards are subject to certain
restrictions stipulated in a management equity participation agreement between the
shareholders and the executives. In accordance with Accounting Principles Board
Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (APB No. 25), the awards
qualify for fix plan accounting treatment. Accordingly, compensation cost is measured
as the excess, if any, of the fair market value of the Company’s shares at the measure-
ment date over the exercise price. Compensation cost is recognized over the vesting
period of the awards.The awards vest over the related executives employment contracts
and are subject to accelerated vesting provisions when certain defined conditions are
met such as a change in control or an initial public offering. The Company determines
fair market value of the awards based on discounted cash flows when no other market
related information is available. Deferred compensation costs represent the portion of
unvested awards and are included as a component of shareholders’ eaquity. The Com-
pany has no other share-based compensation plans.

The employment contract of one of the managing directors was terminated in June 2001.
In connection with this termination, the shares of the managing director were trans-
ferred at € 905 to GROHE as of July 24, 2001. In July 2001, these shares were granted at
an exercise price of € 1,002 to a managing director of GROHE and two members of the
supervisory board of Friedrich Grohe Geschaftsflihrungs AG, a wholly owned subsidiary
of GROHE. The grant date aggregate fair value of the shares was € 2,442,

In August 2001, GROHE granted shares in the nominal value of € 110 to managing direc-
tors of the Company and a member of the advisory board. The aggregate exercise price
of the shares was € 370. The payment of € 259 in excess of the nominal value of the



granted shares is deferred until June 30, 2006.The deferred amounts bear interest at 6%
per annum and interest is due at maturity. The cumulative unpaid interest in arrears was
€ 24 and € 8 at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The aggregate grant date fair
value of the shares was € 900.

In July 2002, GROHE granted shares in the nominal value of € 371 to managing direc-
tors of the Company. The aggregate exercise price of the shares was € 1,534.The aggre-
gate grant date fair value of the shares was € 3,132.

Had the compensation cost for the Company’s share awards been determined based on
the fair value at the grant dates consistent with the method prescribed by SFAS No. 123,
the Company’s net income or loss on a pro forma basis would have been as follows for
the years ending December 31:

]
2002 2004 2000
£ ‘000 €000 £ 000
Net income {loss), as reported ‘ 23,551 (30,113) (21,940)
Add: Share-based compensation ;
expense included in reported \
net income (loss) { 1,781 0 0
—_—
Deduct: Total share-based ’ ‘
compensation expense determined :

under fair value method i 1,923 0 0
Pro forma net income (loss) 23,409 | {30,113) (21,940)

The preceding pro forma amounts were determined using the minimum value method

5

used for non-public companies and were based on the following weighted average
assumptions {results may vary depending on the assumptions applied within the model}:

2002 2004 2000

1 % | % %

Dividend yield 0.0 0.0 n.a.

Risk-free interest rate | 4.1 | 4.1 n.a.
Expected lives in years

[ 34 1.7 n.a.




17.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Purchase commitments

All purchase commitments are in the normal course of business and comprise the

following:
December 31, ! December 31,
2002 2001
o £ '000 € '000
Raw material and supplies ‘ 127,617 96,085
Fixed assets 1 6,699 1,841
; 134,316 97,926

Litigation

Concerning the conversion of Friedrich Grohe AG into Friedrich Grohe AG & Co. KG,
some minority shareholders have used various legal remedies to appeal against the con-
version into a limited partnership, the cash settlement offer and certain resolutions of
the shareholders meeting of Friedrich Grohe AG and Friedrich Grohe AG & Co. KG.

Some minority shareholders have requested that the entry of the conversion in the com-
mercial register be revoked. The Upper Regional Court of Hamm refused this request and
under German rules of procedure, the court's decision is final. Some minority share-
holders have filed an appeal to the Federal Constitutional Court (Bundesverfassungs-
gericht}, claiming that the Upper Regional Court’s decision has affected their fundamen-
tal rights under the German constitution. At the same time, these minority shareholders
have threatened to appeal to the European Court of Human Rights if the Federal
Constitutional Court does not decide in their favor. If the minority shareholders are suc-
cessful in any of these appeals, there is a risk that the courts may rule to annul the con-
version. However, we consider it to be remote that these claims will prevail.

Some minority shareholders have filed claims with German courts challenging the res-
olution approving the conversion. The Regional Court {Landgericht) of Hagen has dismiss-
ed the challenges to the conversion resolution. Each of the minority shareholders has
filed an appeal to the Upper Regional Court (Oberlandesgericht) of Hamm. The upper
regional court has decided to stay the matter until the Federal Constitutional Court has
made a decision regarding the challenge to the commercial register entry. Any decision
of the Upper Regional Court in this matter may be appealed to the Federal Supreme
Court (Bundesgerichtshof) and thereafter to the Federal Constitutional Court
(Bundesverfassungsgericht). If, after the conclusion of the foregoing appeals process,
the German courts declared the resolution invalid, which scenario we consider remote,
the following may be the result in case the minority shareholders initiate additional legal

proceedings:
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o The plaintiffs could be entitled to the damages that the court finds that they have
actually incurred. Damages might include compensation for, among other things,
certain tax disadvantages resulting from the conversion and the reduced tiquidity of
their investment.

o The partnership agreement that was adopted by the resolution could cease to be
effective as of the date that the resolution was declared null and void. A new part-
nership agreement that maintains the former minority shareholders’ legal position
would then be prepared. if any shareholder refused to execute the new partnership
agreement, the majority shareholder or Friedrich Grohe AG & Co. KG could then try
to force them to do so through legal actions. On the other hand, the minority share-
holders refusing to execute the new partnership agreement could try to initiate liquid-
ation proceedings with respect to Friedrich Grohe AG & Co. KG.

o A court could require that Friedrich Grohe AG & Co. KG and/or the majority share-
holder undertakes steps to convert Friedrich Grohe AG & Co. KG back into a stock
corporation and then apply for public listing. This might cause the tax benefits result-
ing from the conversion to be eliminated; on the other hand, the majority share-
holder then could squeeze out the minority shareholders, and a procedure to con-

vert back into a limited partnership could be commenced.

Moreover, it is not clear whether the Federal Constitutional Court will consider the com-
plaints of unconstitutionality.

Some minority shareholders are having the amount of the cash settlement offer of
£ 330.20 per share with a nominal value of DM 50 examined in the arbitration procedure
provided for by law. There is the risk that the court may determine a higher cash settle-
ment in the course of the arbitration procedure. Such higher cash settiement would
apply to 50,195 shares of minority shareholders of Friedrich Grohe AG who objected to
the resolution authorizing the conversion of Friedrich Grohe AG into Friedrich Grohe AG
& Co. KG. We cannot comment on the outcome of these proceedings and are not in the
position to estimate an additional redemption amount that may be determined by the
court. In case of a determination of a higher redemption amount by the court, the corre-
sponding cash outflow would lead to additional acquisition costs for the above men-
tioned shares of Friedrich Grohe AG and consequently to additional goodwill. Goodwill
is not amortized subsequent to January 1, 2002 and is subject to at least an annual
impairment test.

One minority shareholder has filed a claim with the Regional Court of Hagen objecting
to the adoption of the Friedrich Grohe AG & Co. KG financial statements of year 2000.
The Regional Court of Hagen has decided to stay the matter until the Federal Con-
stitutional Court has made a decision regarding the challenge to the commercial regis-
ter entry. If the claim is successful, the financial statements and withdrawals from
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Friedrich Grohe AG & Co. KG for year 2000 could be declared invalid. If the financial
statements are declared invalid, the minority shareholders could then try to initiate lig-

uidation proceedings with respect to Friedrich Grohe AG & Co. KG. However, we con-

sider it to be remote that they would be successful.

Other legal disputes currently are being pursued with regard to normal business activi-
ty. The Company’s management is of the opinion that these proceedings will not have
any substantial effect on the financial position or operating results of the Company.

Legal costs are expensed as incurred.

Environmental matters

In Germany and other jurisdictions where GROHE does business, the Company is sub-
ject to strict environmental faws and regulations. Violators of these and other laws and
regulations can be subject to substantial criminal and civil penalties, and temporary or
permanent plant closures. In 2000, GROHE completed environmental assessments for
each of its production facilities. These assessments, which included investigations into
soil and groundwater quality, revealed contamination at six of the Company’s current or
former properties. As a result of these assessments, GROHE estimated the total maxi-
mum remediation costs at € 3,375 as of December 31, 2000. GROHE has taken remedial
actions and conducted further evaluations of environmental remediation issues in the
years 2001 and 2002 and, as a result, by the end of 2002, at two sites, we had reduced
the contamination to the extent required. In addition, we sold one site in 2002, and, as a
condition to the sale, the purchaser assumed the costs for any further needed remedia-
tion measures related to the site. Although the purchaser has assumed the remediation
obligations as a condition to the sale, under German law, the environmental authorities
still have the ability to assert claims against us with respect to this site. At the remaining
three sites, we are continuing to conduct further investigation or remediation activities
as appropriate. The Company believes that the remediation activities in the years 2001
and 2002 significantly reduced identified environmental risks. However, we are not in a
position to estimate total maximum possible remediation costs as of the date of this
report due to factors beyond our control such as changes in environmental laws, uncer-
tainties surrounding the nature and application of environmental regulations, and the
discovery of previously unidentified contamination. GROHE establishes reserves for
environmental risks when a loss is probable and reasonably estimable. Probable reme-
diation costs provided for in the financial statements amount to € 100 and € 307 at
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Operating leases

Future minimum lease payments under the terms of noncancelable operating leases for
automobile fleet leases, IT equipment and other factory and office equipment as well as
for real estate in effect at December 31, 2002 are as follows:



2003

2004 3,801 |

2005 \ 2,693 |
2006 | 652
2007 i 357 |
Thereafter : 5,057 |
Total minimum rental payments T 17,380

Operating lease terms generally range from 3 to 60 months for automobile fleet leases,
IT equipment, and other factory and office equipment. Remaining lease terms for real
estate as of December 31, 2002 are 14 years for land and buiidings and up to 90 years
for hereditary leases of land.

Total rental expenses for all operating leases were € 7,802, € 6,988 and € 3,862 for the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Financial guarantees

As is customary in the industry, GROHE sells its products against bills of exchange to
some customers. A bill of exchange provides legal evidence of the debt and orders the
drawee, who can be the customer or, on its behalf, a financial institution, to pay a spe-
cified amount against the bill of exchange at maturity. If GROHE endorses these bills of
exchange to a bank, GROHE receives its value in cash after deduction of discount.
Should the drawee default upon maturity of the bill of exchange, GROHE is liable for the
debt. At December 31, 2002 the maximum possible recourse against GROHE upon

default of the drawee on these transactions amounted to € 4,300.

18. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

CIE Management Il Limited is the general partner of the 19 BC Funds limited partner-
ships, which if calculated together, own 38.1% of Grohe Holding as of December 31,
2002. CIE Management H Limited charged GROHE with fees of € 2,556 on January 26,
2000 for arranging the financing of GROHE’s acquisition of Friedrich Grohe AG.

Capital d’Amerique CDPQ Inc. is the pension fund of the public servants of the Province
of Quebec, Canada and has an interest of 16.0% in Grohe Holding as of December 31,
2002.The Caisse de Depot group, to which Capital dAmerigue CDPQ Inc. belongs, has an
interest in the BC Funds of approximately 6.4%. Capital d’/Amerique CDPQ charged
GROHE with fees of € 383 on February 7, 2000 in connection with the financing of
GROHE's acquisition of Friedrich Grohe AG.



Fees relating to financing of debt are capitalized and amortized over the respective lives
{Note 12).

Funds advised by BC Partners Limited collectively are the largest shareholders of the
company Sanitec International S.A., owning over a 77% indirect interest in Sanitec. In
additicn, Dr. Rainer S. Simon, a director of Sanitec, was one of GROHE's management
directors until March 2002 and currently is a member of the supervisory board of
GROHE's subsidiary, Friedrich Grohe Geschaftsfiihrungs AG. Also, GROHE’s managing
director Peter Korfer-Schiin is a member of the board of directors of a subsidiary of
Sanitec. In the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 GROHE sold to sub-
sidiaries of Sanitec various products for the approximate aggregate total amount of
€ 899, € 815 and £ 601, respectively.

Dr. Udo Simmat and Dr. Karsten Heider are members of the Company’s advisory board
and are also partners of the law firm CMS Hasche Sigle Eschenlohr Peltzer Schafer, coun-
sel to Grohe Holding. In addition, CMS Hasche Sigle Eschenlohr Peltzer Schéafer has rep-
resented, and continues to represent, BC Partners Limited, which is the advisor to the 19
BC Funds limited partnerships. Fees paid for above advisory services were € 1,145,
€ 1,007 and £ 2,453 for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Dr. Hanns Ostmeier and Jens Reidel are members of the supervisory board of Friedrich
Grohe Geschéftsfiihrungs AG, a subsidiary of Grohe Holding, and Jens Reidel also is,
and until December 9, 2002 Dr. Ostmeier was, a managing director of BC Partner
Beteiligungsberatung GmbH, which provides advisory services to Friedrich Grohe AG &
Co. KG, subsidiary of Grohe Holding, in connection with its intention to further grow the
business through internal growth as well as acquisitions. BC Partner Beteiligungs-
beratung GmbH committed to a minimum amount of annual consulting services for
which they receive a fixed fee of £ 128 per full calendar year. The total amounts paid to
BC Partner GmbH were € 128, € 146 and € 128 for the years ended December 31, 2002,
2001 and 2000, respectively.

Dr. Klaus Hovermann was a managing director of Grohe Holding until June 5, 2001. His
spouse, Beate HOovermann, has a 75% interest in a company called H. Lenberg GmbH.
H. Lenberg GmbH has been delivering springs, for use in various GROHE products, to
the Company and its predecessor used in the manufacturing of its products for over 40
years. Average sales to Grohe Holding and its predecessor for the five years ending
December 31, 2001 have been approximately € 281 per year. This represented approxi-
mately 5% of H. Lenberg GmbH’s annual sales and less than 1% of Grohe Holding’s

annual procurement.

Dr. Bernd Kortiim is a member of the supervisory board of Grohe Holding GmbH'’s sub-
sidiary Friedrich Grohe Geschaftsfihrungs AG and also a managing director of
Norddeutsche Vermdgen Holding GmbH & Co. Norddeutsche Vermogen Holding GmbH
& Co. is the parent company of Immobilienverwaltungsgesellschaft “Aqua-Carré Berlin”
mbH & Co. KG. In March 2002 GROHE’s subsidiary Friedrich Grohe AG & Co. KG and
Immobilienverwaltungsgeselischaft “Aqua-Carré Berlin” mbH & Co. KG concluded a pur-



chase contract under which GROHE sold one of its former production sites located in
Berlin, Germany, for € 5,880 to Immobilienverwaltungsgesellschaft “Aqua-Carré Berlin”
mbH & Co. KG. According to the purchase contract, the sale was consummated at the
time the first installment on the purchase price was paid in June 2002. This instaliment
amounted to € 1,960. The remaining purchase price of € 3,920 is due in two further
installments of € 1,960 in June 2004 and June 2006, respectively. As the receivable from
Immobilienverwaltungsgesellschaft “Aqua-Carré Berlin” mbH & Co. KG does not bear
interest, interest has been imputed at a rate of 5% resulting in a net present value of all
payments of € 5,350 as of the date the purchase contract was consummated.

19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair value of financial instruments

The amounts reported in the consolidated balance sheets for cash and cash equivalents,
trade receivables, accounts payable, accrued expenses and short term debt approximate
fair value based on the short-term maturity of these instruments. The amounts included
in the consolidated balance sheets relating to the Company's long-term debt to banks
generally approximates fair value since the various interest rates on such long-term debt
obligations either approximate the current market interest rates or are in fact variable
short-term intarest rates. Shareholder loans and loans due to related parties bear interest
lower than market; therefore, interest has been imputed at an appropriate rate and the

loans are recorded at fair value.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of the finan-
cial instruments held by the Company for which it is practicable to estimate fair value:

o receivables from sale of real property: The fair values of receivables from sale of real
property with a maturity of more than twelve months are estimated by discounting
future cash flows using interest rates currently available for debt with identical terms

and remaining maturities;
o bonds:The fair values of the bonds are based upon available quoted market prices;

o long-term bank loans: The carrying amounts of variable interest bearing debt
approximate fair value. Fair values of fixed interest rate bearing debt are estimated
by discounting future cash flows using interest rates currently available for debt with

identical terms and remaining maturities;

o long-term debt to shareholders and related parties: Because these loans carry a rate
of interest which is below market, interest has been imputed at an appropriate rate
and the debt has been recorded at its fair value;

o derivative financial instruments: Fair values of interest rate derivatives are deter-
mined by discounting estimated future cash flows using market interest rates over
the remaining terms of the instruments. The estimated fair values of foreign curren-
cy contracts represent the amounts to enter into similar contracts for the remaining
maturity of the foreign currency contracts.
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Considering the variability of value-determining drivers, the fair values presented may

not be those the Company could realize under the current market conditions.

Fair values of financial instruments, which are not derivative financial instruments,

appraximate carrying amounts except as follows:

December 31, 2002

Carrying Fair
amount value
\ £ 000 £ 000
Assets
Receivables from sale of real
property with a maturity of
more than twelve months 3,475 3,665
Liabilities
Bonds 200,000 227,000
Long-term debt to banks
17,722 18,197

with fixed interest rates

Fair values of derivative financial instruments are as follows:

December 31, 2002

il
Asssts

Foreign currency contracts

Liakilities

Foreign currency contracts

"Interest rate contracts

Carrying Fair
amount value
€ '000 € '000
15,485 15,485 .
0 0
7,144 7,144

Derivative financial instruments

December 37, 2307

Carrying Fair
amount vaile
€ 000 € 'GS0

0 0
200,000 217,000
23,919 23,977

December 31, 2001

Carrying Fair
amount value
€ ‘000 € 'CC0
1,435 1,435
4,396 4,396
5,140 5,140

GROHE conducts business on a worldwide basis in various international currencies and

is exposed to adverse movements in foreign currency exchange rates. Furthermore,

GROHE uses financial instruments such as bonds and long-term debt to banks. As a con-

sequence, GROHE might be exposed to risks from changes in interest and currency

exchange rates. GROHE uses derivative financial instruments to reduce such risks.

Therefore, in the course of day to day financial management, GROHE purchases financial

instruments such as forward exchange contracts and currency options. GROHE also uses

interest rate swaps and collars. Without the use of these instruments, GROHE would face

even higher market risks. GROHE does not enter into financial instruments for trading or

speculative purposes.The counterparties are international financial institutions.
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Currency contracts include foreign currency forward contracts, which are supposed to

reduce the exposure to risks from existing intercompany accounts receivable and
accounts receivable from third parties and anticipated transactions in foreign currency,
especially US dollar, British pounds and Japanese yen on an aggregated basis.
At inception date the contracts generally have a maturity of 1 to 18 months. Gains and
losses from derivative currency contracts are reported net as financial income from

derivatives.

As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company had arranged the following combined
interest rate swap and cap agreements and collar agreement for financial expenses of

debt which are settled quarterly and semiannually and mature in July 2004:

o combined interest rate swap and cap agreement with notional amounts of
€ 82,573 and € 145,718 at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, with a pay rate at
5-year swap rate for 6-months EURIBOR with a cap at 5.07% and a receive rate at
3-months EURIBOR;

o combined interest rate swap and cap agreement with a notional amount of
€ 63,912 at December 31, 2002 and 2001, with a pay rate at 5-year swap rate for
3-months EUROLIBOR with a cap at 4.99% and a receive rate at 3-months LIBOR; and

o interest rate collar agreement with notional amounts of € 200,682 and € 200,426 at
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, with the 6-months EURIBOR as the basic
pay and receive rate. The floor pay rate is 3.00% with an excess interest rate of 1.65%
in case the floor is effective. The cap pay rate is 5.20% if the basic rate is 8.00% or
lower and 8.00% if the basic rate is higher than 8.00%.

The notional amount and estimated fair values of the derivative financial instruments at

December 31, 2002 and 2001 are as follows:

J December 31,2002 December 31, 2001

: Notional Fair Notional Fair

3 amount value > amount value

‘ € '000 £'000 € 000 £ '000

Foreign currency contracts ! 165,460 15,485 171,710 (2,961)
(5,140)

Interest rate contracts } 347,167 (7,144) 410,055
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The Company may be exposed to credit-related losses in the event of nonperformance by

counterparties to financial instruments. Counterparties to the Company’s financial instru-
ments generally represent international financial institutions. The Company believes that

the overall credit risk related to derivatives is insignificant.

To minimize the risk of fluctuations in the market price of major raw material commodi-
ties, especiaily brass, GROHE may enter commodity purchase contracts over the counter

with suppliers instead of closing commodity forward contracts.

Accounting and reporting for financial instruments
The income or expense from financial instruments is recognized in financial income.

The carrying amounts of financial instruments other than derivative financial instruments
are recorded under the related caption. The interest rate derivative instruments entered
into by the Company do not qualify for hedge accounting. Interest differentials paid or
received under interest rate swaps and changes in fair market value of interest rate swaps

are accounted for as financial income from derivatives.

Foreign currency derivatives purchased to offset GROHE's exposure to currency risks for
anticipated cash flows are not designated as accounting hedges and, therefore, do not
meet the requirements for hedge accounting and are marked to market at each reporting
period with unrealized gains and losses classified in financial income and presented on a

net basis.

The financial income (loss) from derivative financial instruments amounting to € 23,696
and € (20,494) for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, includes
income (losses) from changes in fair market value of derivative financial instruments
without impact on cash of € 16,119 in 2002 and € (13,800} in 2001. Accordingly, net income
has been adjusted for such changes in fair market value of derivative financial instru-
ments in order to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities.
Changes in fair market value of derivative financial instruments without impact on cash

for the year ended December 31, 2000 were immaterial.
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20. BUSINESS SEGMENTS

The GROHE Group mainly produces sanitary fittings, including electronic and hydraulic
faucets, showers and shower systems, flushing valves, safety and self-closing faucets as
well as flushing cisterns and water management systems primarily for private and also
for public/commercial use. Most of these products are sold worldwide. Due to the diffe-
rent dynamics across the geographic areas, the business is managed by the chief operat-
ing decision maker on the basis of a segmentation into the following individual geo-
graphical regions:
0 Germany and direct exports. This segment comprises GROHE Group’s activities in
Germany and direct exports through Friedrich Grohe AG & Co. KG to foreign cus-
tomers.

o European subsidiaries. This segment covers operations in the most important
European markets outside Germany in which the GROHE Group is represented by for-

eign subsidiaries.

o Overseas subsidiaries. This segment comprises GROHE's activities outside Europe
where the Company has subsidiaries.

o Holding.This segment contains holding and managing companies.

GROHE group’s management reporting and controlling systems are generally based
upon group accounting principles, which are within the scope of German GAAP. GROHE
measures the performance of its operating segments through “EBIT” according to Ger-
man GAAP Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) is defined as income (loss) before
income taxes, minority interests and extraordinary items adjusted for interest. EBIT
reported for the segments does not represent actual earnings for the operating segments,
as margins included in transfer prices on products sourced from production plants in
Germany are included in EBIT of the segment “Germany and direct exports”. The transfer
prices between the segments are generally based on standard production costs plus a
reasonable profit markup. Margins generated in Germany for intercompany sales to other
segments are not identified on segment level in the internal reporting system. It would
therefore be impractical to provide such disclosure.

Revenues to third parties are allocated to the segments based on the location of the sales
generating subsidiary; direct exports primarily to customers located in the Middle East
and Eastern Europe are made and reported for directly from Germany. Assets are defined
as total assets according to the Group accounting standards; assets also include interests
in associated companies. Assets are allocated according to the location of the respective
legal entity. Debt as used in the management reporting is defined as total current and
noncurrent liabilities less pension liabilities.
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Segmental information for the year ended and as of December 31, 2002 is as follows:

Cermany
and
Year entled direct exports
Decemﬂ‘aer 31, 2002 € million
Sales
To third parties 348.5
To other segments 395.4
EBIT - 102.0
Of which:
Depreciation of
tangible assets 28.5

Arnortization of
goodwill and other
intangibles 4.1

Noncash items other
than depreciation and

amortization expense 9.3

income from equity

method investees 0.9
Interest income 3.3
Interest expense 12.5
Asset:é 4491

Investiments in equity
method investees 1.5

Capitéﬂ expenditures 378

Debt 307.2

European
subsidiaries
€ million

370.6
41.2

31.8

53

0.1

0.4

0.0

0.3

0.5

1313

0.0

3.0

84.4

Overseas
subsidiaries

€ mi'liocn

181.6
5.8

29.3

2.0

0.1

0.2

0.0

0.1

0.6

95.7

0.0

4.0

38.4

Holding
fevel
€ mitiion

0.0
0.0

(83.6)

12.4

65.9

0.0

0.0

1.2

518

665.8

0.0

0.0

697.4

Elimination
of inter-
segment
transactions
€ million

0.0
{442.4)

(16.9)

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

(1.6)

(1.8)

{126.5)

0.0

0.0

(27.0)

Us GAAP
Adjustments

€ milion

(3.4)
0.0

55.5

107.5

0.0

0.0

(83.3)

GROHE
Group

€ million

- 8983 .

0.0

C 11841

13229

1.5 .

44.8

1,017.1



Segmental information for the year ended and as of December 31, 2001 is as follows:

Germany
and
Year ended direct exports
December 31, 2001 € million
Sales
To third parties 354.3
To other segments 359.2
EBIT 90.7
Of which:
Depreciation of
tangible assets 272
Amortization of
goodwill and other
intangibles 3.0
Noncash items other
than depreciation and
amortization expense 8.2
Income from equity
method investees 0.2
Interest income 2.5
Interest expense 16.6
Assets 448.8
Investments in equity
method investees 1.0
Capital expenditures 275
Debt 306.9

138 139

European
subsidiaries
€ million

3572
40.8

272

5.2

0.2

0.2

0.0

0.4

0.4

133.0

0.0

3.6

873

Overseas
subsidiaries
€ million

167.3
4.2

238

25

0.1

0.6

0.0

0.2

0.7

106.1

0.0

4.8

54.5

Helding
level
€ million

0.0
0.0

{90.1)

17.7

66.3

0.4

0.0

1.6

576

743.1

0.0

0.0

736.4

Elimination
of inter-
segment
transactions

€ million

0.0
{404.2)

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

{32.9)

US GAAP
Adjustments
€ million

2.0
0.0

1.5

(1.1}

0.0

0.0

6.3

64.6

0.0

0.8

{84.1)

GROHE |
Group -
€ million

205 |

02!




Segmental information for the year ended and as of December 31, 2000 is as follows:

Elimination
Germany of inter-
and European Cversees Holding segment US GAAP " GROHE '
Year enided direct exports subsidiaries subsidiaries leval transactions Adjustments ' Group ‘
Decsmber 31, 2000 £ million £ million € million € mitlion € million £ miliion - € million
Sales
T third parties 356.7 340.3 153.9 0.0 0.0 4.6 855.5 -
To other segments 361.7 35.1 4.9 0.0 (401.7) 0.0 0.0 |
EBIT 89.9 17.2 14.7 (110.3) (6.1) 34.3 3 39.7
Of which: ‘ :
Depreciation of ;
tengible assets 28.1 5.1 25 18.7 0.0 1.5 559 .
Amortization of ‘

gbodwill and other ‘
irtangibles 2.4 0.3 0.1 68.3 0.0 {(13.0) ‘ 58.1 !

N‘oncash items other
than depreciation and ; ;
amortization expense 10.1 {0.4) 0.1 5.2 0.0 (22.8) ! {7.8) .

lrj;come from equity ‘

nuwethod investees 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 | 0.6 ,
Interest income 12.8 0.4 0.3 10.9 (19.5) 05 T aa
Interest expense 19.0 0.6 0.4 80.3 (19.5) 76 W;
Capital expenditures 27.1 5.4 4.0 0.0 0.0 31 . 396
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A reconciliation of consolidated segments’ earnings before interest and taxes to the group’s

consolidated income (loss) before taxes, minority interests and extraordinary items is

as follows:

Earnings before interest and
income taxes according
to German GAAP

Adjustments from German GAAP
to US GAAP

Debt issuance cost
Business combinations
Derivative financial instruments
Cost of computer software
and other intangible assets
Provisions and contingencies
Special reserves under
German GAAP
Pension and similar
obligations
Foreign currency translation
Other
Earnings before interest and income
taxes, minority interests

and extraordinary items
according to US GAAP

Interest income (expense),
net (US GAAP)

Income (ioss) before income taxes,
minority interests and extraordinary
items according to US GAAP
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Year ended

December 31,
2002

| € ’000

| 62,636
3,193
47,644

| 13,107

|
| (493) |
| EE————

687 |

118,142

T
{ (67,083)

51,059

Year ended
December 31,
2001

£ '000

43,370

2,374
12,799
{(14,868)

(96)
{(187)

{980)

1,726
{2,296)
101

41,943

(76,961)

(35,018)

Year ended
December 31,
2000

£ '000

5,470

15,645
12,654
7,180

1,022
1,630

{1,940)

(1,882)
(107)
133

39,705

(84,012)

{44,307)



A reconciliation of consolidated segments’ revenues to the group’s consolidated revenues

is as follows:

Year ended |
December 31,

2002
£ 1000
Total revenues according
to German GAAP 901,750
Adjustments from German GAAP
to US GAAP -
Derivative financial instruments (3,488)

Total revenues according to US GAAP 898,262

Year ended
Recember 31,
2007

€ '000

878,868

1,913
880,781

Year ended
December 31,
20CC

£ '03C

850,860

4,614
855,474

A reconciliation of consolidated segments’ assets to consolidated total assets is as follows:

December 31, |

2002 -
Total assets according to German GAAP 1,215,427
Adjustments from German GAAP
to US GAAP S
Debt issuance cost " 7,056
Business combinations ! 78,265
Derivative financial instruments : 16,801 .
Costs of computer software J |
and other intangibles 1,000
Provisions and contingencies : (2,503)
Special reserves under ;
German GAAP ‘ (5,378) |
Pension and similar } 1
obligations 16,936 |
Foreign currency translation ‘ (2,612) ;
Leasing i 1,131
Other : (3,226)

Total assets according to US GAAP ‘ 1,322,8977

Deceraber 31,
2001
€ ‘060

1,288,509

8,466
30,621
6,467

1,493
{2,335)

(5,366}

16,284
7515
2,041
(578)
1,353,117

On account of the largely homogeneous product range, product-based divisional organi-

zation and divisional accounting do not exist except for sales information by product

groups; instead, almost the entire sales range is marketed under the brand GROHE.
Under this brand name the Company sells the product ranges GROHEART, GROHETEC,
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SanitarySystems, Showers and Shower Systems and Kitchen Fittings. The target group

for GROHEART products is the consumer of high-end, design-oriented sanitary fittings
and related accessories. GROHETEC with its strategy value for money represents the
functional bathroom faucet line and its target market are brand-, quality- and value-con-
scious customers. SanitarySystems consists of flushing and installation systems. The
strategic product groups focus on the management of the product development and
innovation processes as well as the management of the product life cycle and supple-
ment our functional organizational structure,

Revenues from external customers for each group of similar products according to US
GAAP are as follows:

-

! Year ended Year enced Year enced
! December 31, ‘ December 31, December 31,
| 2002 | 2001 2000
' € '000 ! € '000 £ '000
GROHEART ‘1 77,713 | 65,180 55,835
GROHETEC | 369,287 | 373,951 367,960
SanijtarySystems ‘ 87901 | 88,622 89,063
Showers and Shower Systems | 141,664 | 130,236 119,313
Kitchen Fittings | 103,942 | 98,211 94,272
Other \ 117,786 | 124,581 129,031
| 898,262 | 880,781 855,474
Sales by geographical markets are as follows:
| 1
! Year ended Year ended Year ended
1 December 31, | December 31, December 31,
i 2002 | 2007 2600
| €000 | £'C00 €000
Germany ; 225,939 : 245,382 264,868
Rest of Europe | 433,047 : 410,615 380,675
Overseas ! 239,276 | 224,784 209,931
898,262 880,781 855,474

i
|

Direct exports included in the segment Germany and direct exports have been allocated
to the various regional markets. During the periods reported, there were no sales in which
a single customer achieved a sales volume of more than 10% of total sales.
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21.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Effective January 1, 2003 GROHE's subsidiary Aqua Butzke GmbH acquired the remaining
minority interests in the Company’s subsidiaries Rotter GmbH & Co. KG and Rotter
Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH for a total purchase price of € 2,200.

In March 2003 GROHE entered into an agreement with a syndicate of banks for a new
senior credit facility. The new senior credit facility consists of four facilities, three term
loan facilities A1, A2 and B in an aggregate amount of up to € 550,000, and the new
revolving facility, in an aggregate amount of up to € 50,000. Principal payments on facil-
ities A1 and A2 are due semi-annually with the final payment due on December 20, 2009.
The principal amount of facility B is due in one bullet payment on July 20, 2010. Interest
on all facifities is payable at EURIBOR or, in relation to any loan in a currency other than
euro, LIBOR plus margin at the end of each interest period or, if the interest period should
exceed six months, at the end of six months. The initial margin per vear is 2.25% for facil-
ities A1 and A2 and 2.75% for facility B.The margin will be reduced if the Company achie-
ves certain ratios of total net debt to EBITDA, as defined in the senior credit facility agree-
ment. Interest on outstanding amounts under the revolving credit facility is EURIBOR or,
in relation to any loan in a currency other than euro, LIBOR plus margin. The margin for
the revolving credit facility is the same as for facilities A1 and A2. In addition, the
Company pays a commitment fee of no more than 0.625% for the amount available under

the revolving credit facility.

GROHE used the new senior credit facilities to repay the old senior credit facilities and a
portion of the outstanding loans from related parties and shareholders. The loans from
related parties and shareholders are subordinated to GROHE’s 11.5% senior notes (also
referred to as bonds in the financial statements). The repayment of the loans from related
parties and shareholders required the consent of the noteholders. This consent was
obtained in March 2003 and the consenting noteholders received a fee of 7.25% of the
nominal value of the bonds in April 2003. The aggregate fee amounted to approximately
€12.9 million. The consent fee and any expenses related to the consent solicitation pro-
cess will be included in other expense in the consolidated statements of operations as

incurred.

Unamortized debt issuance cost related to the refinanced senior bank loans and the re-
paid portion of the loans from shareholders and related parties will be charged to interest
expense at the respective repayment dates. Debt issuance costs related to the issuance
of the new senior credit facility are capitalized and amortized to interest expense pursuant

to the effective interest method.
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As the contractual interest rate of 5% on the loans from related parties and shareholders

was below market rate at inception of the loans, interest had been imputed at a rate of
11.5% for accounting purposes. The difference between the loans’ net present value at
inception of the loans and the cash amount received from shareholders and related par-
ties was credited against additional paid in capital and deferred taxes at inception of the
loans. As of December 31, 2002, the total amount accrued in the balance sheet for these
loans amounted to € 172,674, which approximates fair market value.

The partial repayment of the loans from shareholders and related parties will be account-
ed for as a capital transaction.
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Grohe Holding GmbH

| Hemer
T
GROHE Beteiligungs GmbH & Co. KG
Hemer

T

Friedrich Grohe AG & Co. KG*
Hemer

| |

DAL GmbH & Co. KG
Porta Westfalica

]

L

GROHE International GmbH
Hemer

Grohe S.AR.L.
Issy-les-Moulineaux, France

GROHEDAL SanitarSysteme
GmbH & Z0. KG

Porta Westfalica

AQEROQ Vertriebs-GmbH
Ludwigsfzide

Grohe Nederland B.V.
Zoetermeer, the Netherlands

Grohe S.PA.
Cambiago, ftaly

Eggemann Armaturenfabrik
GmbH & Co. KG

Iserlohn
AQUA Brtzke GmbH Grohe Espafa, S.A.
Ludwigstelde Barcelona, Spain

Grohe N.V.
Winksele, Belgium

Carl Sancdmann GmbH
Iserlohn

Rotter GrnbH & Co. KG
Berlin

Grohe Gesellschaft m.b.H.
Vienna, Austria

Kurt Baege GmbH
Berlin

Grohe Hungary Kft.
Budadrs, Hungary

Grohe UK Ltd.
Barking, United Kingdom

Rotter Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH
Berlin

Grohe A/S,
Veerlgse, Denmark

Grohe Switzerland S.A.
Wallisellen, Switzerland

Grohe Polska Sp.zo.o.
Warsaw, Poland

Grohe America Inc.
Bfoomingdale, United States

Grohe Pacific Pte. Ltd.
Singapore

Grohe (Shanghai) Sanitary Products Co. Ltd.
Shanghai, China

Grohe Japan K.X,
Tokyo, Japan

Grohe Canada Inc.
Mississauga, Canada

Group Structure

Tempress Ltd.
Mississauga, Canada

Grohe Deutschland Vertriebs GmbH
Porta Westfalica

H.D. Eicheilberg & Co. GmbH
Iserlohn

Grohe Verwaltungs GmbH
Hemer

Schmole GmbH & Co.
Menden

Friedrich Grohe Portugal,
Componentes Sanitarios Lta.
Albergaria-a-Velha, Portugal

Grohe Siam Ltd.
Klaeng-Distrikt, Thailand

Grome Marketing (Cyprus) Lid.
Nikosia, Cyprus

Grome Ltd.
Istanbul, Turkey

* Unlimited Partner:
Friedrich Grohe Geschaftsfuhrungs AG
Hemer



Friedrich Grohe AG & Co. KG has a supervisory board consisting of an equal number of employer and

emplovee representatives. In fiscal year 2002, the members of the supervisory board were as follows:

Dr. Hellmut K. Albrecht, chairman

(63), Munich, business consultant
Other offices:

Pro Beam AG & Co. KGaA
(chairman of the supervisory board)
Kerr Inc.

Gustel Stockmayer”®, deputy chairman

(59}, Neuried, authorized agent and general
manager of IG Metall Offenburg

Cornelius Geber

(51), Hamburg, businessman
Other offices:

Neopost S.A.

Kiala S.A.

Paul Giinther Logistik AG
IFCO Systems N.V.

Jirgen Humpert”

(60), Hemer, executive employee

Dr. Bernd Kortiim
(60), Hamburg, shipowner

Peter Karschner™ (from January 25, 2002)

(61), Altena, authorized agent and general
manager of |G Metall Werdohl-Iserlohn
Other offices:

Plettac AG

{deputy chairman of the supervisory board)
Stadtwerke Altena

(deputy chairman of the supervisory board)

Dr. Hanns Ostmeier

(42), Hetlingen, business consultant
Other offices:
Sanitec International AG
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Peter Paulokat”

(46), Hemer, released from duties to serve on the
works council

Andreas Piloti”
(61), Kappel-Grafenhausen, released from duties
to serve on the works council

Jens Reidel

(51), Hamburg, business consultant
Other offices:

Cross Beteiligungsverwaltungs GmbH
{chairman of the supervisory board)
Sanitec Corporation

Wilfried Schmidtmann”

(54), Iserlohn, commercial employee

Dr. Rainer 8. Simon (from April 10, 2002)

{53), Isernhagen, businessman
Other offices:

Keramag AG

{chairman of the supervisory board)

Berndt Brunow (until April 10, 2002)

{53), Helsinki, B.Sc. {Econ.)
Other offices:

Sanitec Corporation
Hackman Qyj Abp
Lemminkainen Corporation
UPM-Kymmene Corporation
Oy Nautor Ab

Supervisory Board

" Employee representatives
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